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Blending together our peoples’ energy, focus 
and dedication to creating innovative high quality 
systems and products has delivered our growth

   Our strong core values empower us for  
a sustainable future to deliver amazing value to  

our staff, customers, shareholders & stakeholders.

developing
tastier products

de
ve

lo
pi

ng
ta

st
ie

r p
ro

du
ct

s

the
freshest
ingredients 

the
freshest

ingredients 

u
p

g
R

A
d

in
g

 
st

o
R

e
s

u
p

g
R

A
d

in
g

 
st

o
R

e
s

through...

listening to the customerlistening to the customer





AnnuAl RepoRt 2011
DOMinO’S PiZZa enTerPriSeS liMiTeD4

at the beginning of 
2010-11, Domino’s Pizza 

embarked on a journey 
to take the business  

to a new level of 
operational success.

Significant 
improvements in 

service, coupled with 
solid promotions 

and key digital 
developments,  

saw Domino’s Pizza 
achieve robust  

results for the  
twelve months to  

3 July 2011.

During 2010-11 Domino’s Pizza grew its store 
count across the five countries to 866, having 
added 53 new stores to the network, including 
28 stores in Australia and New Zealand, and 
25 stores in Europe.  This also allows for  
seven ‘A Pizza Company’ stores which were 
removed from the network in Belgium,  
a further two stores closed in France  
and one in The Netherlands.

The full year store count was made up 
of 469 stores in Australia, 81 in New 
Zealand, 189 in France, 20 in Belgium 
and 107 in The Netherlands. 

The Company achieved a Net Profit After Tax 
of $21.4 million, up 20.3% on the previous 
year, through strong performances across  
our Australian and New Zealand market  
and our European market.

The year’s profit was generated from Total 
Network Sales of $746.4 million. Strong Same 
Store Sales for the full year grew 11.0% over 
the corresponding period last year.

Australia and New Zealand achieved double 
digit Same Store Sales growth of 13.2%, with 
Australia achieving its strongest Same Store 
Sales in the last ten years.

The remarkable full year results and  
sales growth were the result of successful 
marketing for new product rollouts and key 
operational improvements across all  
levels of the business.

Our commitment to a greater online presence 
and focus on customer-service initiatives 
were key areas which helped Domino’s Pizza 
attract new consumers in all markets. 

The launch of our New Zealand iPhone 
App together with a Mobile Ordering Site in 
Australia and New Zealand further cemented 
Domino’s market-leading position as one of 
the biggest e-commerce companies in ANZ.

As a result of continued strong earnings we  
have a robust balance sheet with a surplus  
of cash and a positive Net Cash position  
of +$12.5 million.

The Company will pay shareholders a final  
fully-franked dividend of 11.5 cents per share,  
in addition to the interim dividend of 10.4 cents 
per share. This brings the full year dividend to 
21.9 cents which reflects a 70% payout ratio.

Looking forward, Domino’s Pizza will continue 
its journey of operational improvement 
while also thinking about the long-term 
environmental sustainability of the Company. 

Domino’s Pizza’s solid financial performance 
and growth would not be possible without the 
support and commitment of our shareholders, 
senior management, franchisees and our 
21,000 team members. On behalf of the 
directors, I thank you for your commitment  
and dedication. 

It is with great pleasure we present you with 
our seventh Annual Report.

Ross AdleR  CHAIRMAN
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ceo’s report
The past 12 months has been one of the most 
successful years in the history of Domino’s 
Pizza with solid results achieved across 
Australia, New Zealand, France, Belgium and 
The Netherlands. A focus on listening to our 
customers and exceeding their expectations 
with new product innovations, combined with 
our leadership in the digital world, ensured a 
solid group performance for 2010-11. 

Our determination to be the industry leader in 
all of our markets resulted in a Net Profit After 
Tax (NPAT) of $21.4 million, up 20.3% on the 
previous year. This took Domino’s Pizza’s NPAT 
annual growth rate from 2007 - 2011 financial 
years to a strong 23.9% (CAgR).

Domino’s Pizza achieved strong Same Store 
Sales growth of 11.0% over the corresponding 
period last year. 

Strong layering of the business along with 
successful promotions helped us achieve 
double digit sales growth of 13.2% 
in Australia and New Zealand. 
Australia was the stand out performer, 
reporting its strongest Same Store 
Sales result in the last decade. 

Europe continued to gain 
momentum in the second half of the 
year, to finish the 2011 full year with Same Store 
Sales growth of 5.9%. 

The year’s solid performance was the result of 
strong group Network Sales of $746.4 million, 
up 7.5% on the last year. Our European market 
contributed with 14.9% growth while the 
Australian and New Zealand market achieved 
Network Sales growth of 11.3%, despite both 
rolling over a 53-week prior year.

We also reported strong EBITDA of $39.1 
million, up 20.2% on full year 2010 despite  
currency movements throughout the year. 

As a result of continued strong earnings and 
a robust balance sheet with a surplus of cash 
and a positive Net Cash position of +$12.5 
million, we announced to shareholders a final 
fully-franked dividend of 11.5 cents per share, 
in addition to the interim dividend of 10.4 cents 
per share. This brings the full year dividend to 
21.9 cents which reflects a 70% payout ratio.

Other highlights for the 2010-11 year included 
our commitment to offering greater portability 
to our customers with the launch of our iPhone 
App in New Zealand and the introduction of a 
Mobile Ordering Site for all internet-enabled 
mobile devices in Australia and New Zealand. 
These two initiatives saw us achieve more 
than 40% of sales in the digital space.
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App in New Zealand in February 2011 has seen 
it reach over 35,000 downloads to date. Each 
week thousands of orders are placed through 
this App for pick up or delivery from every 
corner of Australia and New Zealand.

Consumers can now order pizza from any 
internet-enabled device using Domino’s Mobile 
Ordering Site. Within one week of the site’s 
launch we recorded more than $1million  
in mobile sales.

This year we also developed an Android App, 
which was released in September 2011.  
This App allows Android users to have a  
unique mobile ordering experience, taking 
advantage of the recent growth of the  
Android operating system. 

We have demonstrated that digital innovation 
is our future. With more than 40% of sales 
now online, Domino’s is fast becoming one of 
Australia’s top e-commerce companies. 

Whether it is through our Mobile Ordering Site, 
our dedicated Apps or our new flash online 
ordering site, Domino’s customers are able 
to place an order anytime, anywhere. These 
digital innovations mean Domino’s is always 
within arm’s reach. 

social media
As part of our digital strategy we are also 
committed to growing our presence and 
credibility in social media, particularly through 
Facebook. We recently passed 150,000 fans 
on Facebook in Australia but we know this is 
only the beginning for us in this space.

Our Facebook fans can now access exclusive 
offers, competitions and giveaways which will 
help us continually connect with our customers 
and build stronger brand loyalty. 

Our goal is to be one of the biggest Australian 
companies to have a meaningful social  
media presence.

Better ingredients,  
Healthier products
We recognise that improved ingredients and 
better quality means healthier products, 
and 2010-11 has seen us continue on our 
journey to create healthier products for our 
increasingly health-conscious customers. 

We have continued our journey for improved 
ingredients, using fresh, high-quality 
vegetables, meat and flour to ensure we offer 
customers the freshest pizza possible. In 
Australia and New Zealand, our dough is made 
fresh daily, every pizza is made to order and our 
Chocolate Lava Cake is baked fresh every time. 

Our search for healthier ingredients has 
resulted in significant reductions in the fat and 
salt content of almost half of our products. Our 
two staple ingredients, Pepperoni and Cheese, 
have seen meaningful reductions in fat without 
compromising on taste. 

We strive not only to provide customers 
with fresher and healthier ingredients, but 
to also provide them with reliable nutritional 
information about each and every ingredient, 
base and product we sell.  This is done 
through nutritional information, ingredients 
and allergen labelling.

pizza innovation 
In 2010-11 our journey to provide customers 
with innovative new pizzas continued, 
which saw us refocus on our core product, 
improve our most popular pizzas and give the 
customers more of what they wanted. This 
strategy saw us deliver some of our most 
successful promotions yet. 

The Better Meatlover’s recipe achieved the 
highest-ever score of any pizza in our sensory 
testing, including pizza from any competitor. 
Domino’s Meatlovers really is Australia’s 
favourite pizza. With better ingredients 
including tastier champagne ham, the addition 
of delicious rasher bacon and 100% Aussie 
ground beef, it delivered double digit sales 
growth during the promotion.

Our New Hawaiian now has sweeter, juicier 
late harvest pineapple, champagne ham and 
33% more mozzarella cheese, offering a 
superior taste sensation for our customers.

europe
Our European Market continued to grow during 
2010-11 with the addition of 25 new stores 
across the three countries, all with the new 
‘evolution’ image design.

Successful new product launches, a renewed 
focus on value promotions and increased 
media spend helped us achieve improved 
performance in the second half of the year. 

In The Netherlands our corporate stores achieved 
impressive Same Store Sales growth of +24.7% 
during the year. Their performance was well 
received by the franchise community and showed 
continued commitment to the market.

Our two Commissaries in gorinchem and 
vertou achieved their own success, both 
awarded a ‘Five Star’ audit rating.

We are confident of continuing the 
momentum in Europe through increased 
marketing, product development and store 
openings during the coming months.

driving the Future
We have set a very high benchmark over  
the past 12 months across many levels of our 
business, but I’m confident Domino’s Pizza  
can continue this momentum in 2011-12. 

Our journey of improving our quality and 
ingredients for our customers has never been 
more serious. Creating healthier products and 
challenging what people think about us will 
propel us further ahead of our competitors.

New product and store innovations during the 
next year will ensure we continue to lead the 
way. We will also step up our commitment to 
sustainability initiatives in the short term and 
for the future.

While the next twelve months will present 
some challenges we are confident of 
delivering a NPAT in the region of  
15% above 2010-11.

We plan to add 60 to 70 new stores to the 
network and I’m pleased to announce we 
have lifted our Australia and New Zealand 
market store growth guidance from 620 
stores to 750 stores.  Our goal is to achieve 
this over the next six years. 

In Australia and New Zealand Domino’s will 
have unprecedented levels of investment in 
its digital platform with the expectation of 
digital orders providing 60% of the business 
within the next three years.

Over the next six years, the Company is 
aiming to have 25% of the business in the 
Netherlands become corporate stores and 
for France to have a 5% corporate store mix. 
This will provide leadership structure and 
support to the entire system. 

Finally, I would like to thank our dedicated 
Leadership Team, franchisees, managers  
and team members. Their commitment  
to the Domino’s Pizza journey is pivotal  
to our success. 

don meIJ  CEO / MANAgINg DIRECTOR

customer value
Domino’s has always prided itself on offering 
great value to our customers and this year 
was no exception. Our solid performance is 
the result of continuous product innovation 
and a commitment to providing great 
service while still offering everyday great 
value prices to our loyal customers.

We were determined to take Domino’s to 
a new level of pizza delivery by constantly 
pushing the boundaries of what our 
customers expected from us and giving 
them new reasons to choose us. 

In an economic environment which presented 
many challenges, we decided to offer more 
to our customers – with new premium quality 
ingredients added to our most popular pizzas, 
removing our public holiday surcharges and 
reducing the cost of extra toppings to  
$1 instead of $2.95.

We also introduced value pricing in 
Australia for the launch of our Supreme, 
Meatlovers and Hawaiian pizza promotions. 
These ensured customers from all states 
and territories could get the same great 
value on our most popular pizzas.

We continued to attract new customers and 
achieve new heights in sales and customer 
counts, all while continuing to drive home value 
to our customers. Our strong brand momentum 
is testament to our commitment to putting the 
customer at the heart of everything we do.

sustainability
In recent years we have identified that 
our customers are clearly wanting a more 
sustainable future and for businesses to be 
doing their bit to contribute to this goal. In 
2010-11, we took our passion to do what’s 
right to the next level, focusing on creating a 
more sustainable future for our business.

Throughout 2010-11 we set the key areas of 
design for the new Domino’s sustainable store 
design which will be launched in early 2011-12. 
This store will set a positive benchmark by 
using environmentally-responsible materials 
and finishes, decreasing electricity consumption 
through improved design and equipment use, 
and reducing water consumption.  

Domino’s has also commissioned a gas-saving 
modification for our ovens which will reduce gas 
usage by as much as 20%, and will introduce 
training, policies and procedures to facilitate 
waste reduction and improve recycling.

As Australia’s largest delivery company, 
the introduction of electric scooters to our 
business is one of the biggest initiatives we 
will undertake. With a fleet of thousands of 
delivery vehicles, making smarter decisions 
with our choice of delivery method is the  
key to our future sustainability.

All stores will soon be able to use electric 
scooters that have been designed and modified 
for our delivery needs, allowing us to reduce 
carbon emissions and noise pollution whilst still 
delivering hot, fresh pizzas on time. 

Recently we improved our vegetable supplier 
model so that we are able to source more 
local ingredients. Domino’s uses more than 
1,500 tonnes of fresh Australian produce each 
year, and the new model means there’s a 
shorter journey from paddock to plate giving 
our customers fresher, higher quality pizzas. 
This will save many thousands of kilometres 
travelled in delivering the produce to the stores 
and will result in less carbon emission. 

All of the sustainability initiatives developed in 
2010-11 will allow us to continually reduce our 
carbon footprint in the years ahead, and create 
a more sustainable future for our business and 
for our customers.  

digital competitive  
Advantage

In 2010-11 Domino’s continued to be the 
forerunner in digital innovation in the pizza 
industry. This year saw us introduce our new 
flash online ordering site, accessible store, NZ 
iPhone App, Mobile Ordering Site and develop 
an Android App. With these digital innovations 
we are confident that we have the ability to 
keep up with what our customers expect from 
us in their busy lifestyles. 

The Australian iPhone app continues to impress 
with over 775,000 downloads since its launch in 
2009, and the successful launch of the iPhone 
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We are committed to reducing  our impact 
on the environment through sustainability 
initiatives. As the delivery experts we plan  
to introduce electric scooters which will 
reduce our carbon emission and pollution - 
now and in the future. 



domino’s new  
sustainable store design

Domino’s is about to launch its first ‘Sustainable 
Store’ design. This new store design will 
showcase our commitment to a sustainable 
future for the environment in which we operate. 

Our passion to do the right thing extends beyond 
our product innovation and people development; 
it reaches to the core of what’s important for 
the future – sustainability and ensuring we take 
steps now to make a positive difference.

We have focused on key areas of the store’s 
design and operations to ensure our new design 
sets a positive benchmark. These include:

electricity consumption
We have identified electricity consumption as a 
substantial contributor to our carbon footprint. 
As a result, we will implement improvements 
in the design and equipment use in the  
store to ensure we significantly reduce  
our carbon footprint.

Water consumption
Scarcity of potable water is an important 
consideration for many parts of the world. 
Through efficiency and water saving  
devices the store’s water consumption  
will be greatly reduced.

Gas consumption
Our cooking equipment and hot water units in 
stores use gas to heat. Through the new gas 
saving modification to our ovens, we expect to 
see significant reductions.

Waste reduction and recycling
Domino’s is committed to waste reduction 
strategies in store. Our pizza box is also 
recycled and 100% recyclable, which means it 
can live again in other recycled products.

materials and Finishes
We are working with our suppliers of 
construction materials to ensure they are 
environmentally responsible. New store 
materials that have low environmental  
impacts will be preferred.

equipment and lighting
The efficiency of our equipment and lighting 
in store will go a long way to meeting our 
sustainability goals. We will continue to work 
with equipment suppliers to ensure a high 
operational efficiency life span. 

Communicating our sustainability initiatives to 
our customers will also be a key element of our 
store design. We are proud of our commitment 
to setting a benchmark within the Quick 
Service Restaurant industry and it’s important 
we take our customers on this journey with us.

gas saving modification 

In addition to the sustainability developments 
in our Sustainable Store design, it’s important 
we look for ways to make a significant 
difference across all of our stores.

Our ovens are at the heart of every store and 
we know making significant improvements to 
them will help reduce our carbon footprint.

Domino’s has embarked on a program to 
modify existing ovens to reduce their gas 
consumption without affecting the cooking 
process. In early stages of testing we have 
seen a reduction of up to 20% in gas usage. 
Over the next six months we will continue 
to invest in this program as part of our 
commitment to being more sustainable now 
and in the future.

store Refurbishments

Providing the best for our customers is more 
than just providing great-tasting, high-
quality products, it’s also giving them a great 
experience when they walk into our stores.

Domino’s has embarked on a $24 million store 
refurbishment program for its stores across 
Australia and New Zealand, which will bring 
greater customer appeal to out-dated store 
layouts.

As well as Domino’s-owned stores undergoing 
an upgrade, the refurbishment program will 
include franchised stores undertaking their 
own upgrade to ensure they keep up with retail 
trends and customer demands while improving 
their business for the future. 

Our store refurbishment program is about 
bringing older stores back to life and giving 
them a new look and layout.  It’s about 
stepping into the future and delivering a 
greater overall customer experience.

Domino’s new store design incorporates 
softer tones and wood panelling to provide a 
more welcoming but contemporary feel for 
customers. Selected stores will also feature 
a seating area for customers and the pizza 
makeline at the front of the store so customers 
can see their pizzas being made. 
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sustainability
DOMinO’S iS COMMiTTeD  
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As Australia’s largest pizza delivery company we are 
committed to making significant changes in the way we 
look after our planet.

With a fleet of thousands of delivery vehicles and 
scooters, making smarter decisions with our choice of 
delivery method is the key to our future sustainability.

Introducing sustainability initiatives, such as electric 
scooters, will not only benefit the environment but help 
deliver cost savings.

electric scooters 

We have done extensive research and testing to ensure 
electric scooters can deliver long term benefits to our 
business and our environmental impact.

Our new electric scooters have been designed and 
modified for our delivery needs, ensuring we can  
still deliver piping hot pizzas while doing our bit  
for the environment.

Our New Farm store in Queensland is one of the first 
stores to use electric scooters and over the past eight 
months thousands of deliveries have been safely  
and successfully completed.  

As well as being friendlier on the environment, our 
electric scooter fleet offers a significant reduction in 
noise pollution compared to petrol scooters and  
reduced operating costs.

With limited parking spaces in inner city locations, 
electric scooters will be an important part of the 
solution to keeping up with an increasing demand  
for pizza delivery. Introducing more scooters to our 
business will improve the overall customer  
experience while also creating a greater  
community presence for our brand.

Over the next three years, Domino’s is committed to 
replacing current scooter models with environmentally-
friendly electric scooters. This will see Domino’s have 
the largest electric scooter fleet in Australia.

engaging with our  customers through environmentally conscious stores

Re-using  
mAteRiAls 

wHeRe possiBle

sharing  our  
sustainability 

 goals with our  
customers



We are proud to use fresh local vegetables to make our pizzas. 
our new vegetable distribution model means there is less  
time from paddock to plate, bringing our customers  
tastier and higher quality products. 



Domino’s is proud to use fresh 100% Australian 
vegetables, from baby spinach leaves, whole and 
cherry tomatoes and sliced mushrooms to diced 
onions and sliced capsicums.

With more than 50 million pizzas sold each year 
in Australia, it is vital that we find improved ways 
to get fresh produce direct from the farm to our 
stores faster and more effectively.

By having more intimate relationships  
with growers we will be better able to  
meet the growing needs of consumers  
for fresh new produce.

Our improved vegetable supplier model will 
see us use more distribution centres across 
Australia. We now have local processors in 
Townsville, Brisbane, Sydney, Melbourne, 
Tasmania, Adelaide, Perth and Darwin. With 
these centres located closer to our vegetable 
growers it means there is less time from the 
paddock to our customer’s plate.

With our vegetable growers being closer 

to these centres, fresh produce will travel 

significantly less to reach the pizzas our 

customers enjoy.

For our customers this means fresher 

vegetables on their pizzas, while also 

significantly reducing our carbon footprint.

In fact, food miles are expected to decrease 

by more than 120,000 kilometres annually. 

That’s the equivalent of removing 142 trucks 

from the Hume Highway between Sydney and 

Melbourne annually! 

This is a significant reduction in the carbon 

footprint of our supply chain as well as a 

positive impact on road safety through the 

removal of long haul vehicles.

improved ingredients  
and Better Quality means 
Healthier products  

Domino’s Pizza is committed to working within 
the new Food and Health Dialogue guidelines 
to continue to provide healthier products for 
our customers. As an ongoing commitment 
Domino’s will continue to focus on reducing 
the sodium and fat content of our protein, dairy 
and bakery ingredients.

In every Domino’s store in each of our five 
markets, we use fresh, high-quality vegetables, 
meats and flour to ensure we continue to offer 
customers the freshest pizza possible.

In Australia and New Zealand, our pizza dough, 
including thin’n’crispy, classic and deep pan 
dough, is made fresh in store daily. 

commitment

innovAtive pRoducts to Reduce sodium And sAtuRAted FAt

australia

Sodium

% Decrease 
of Sodium 

since 08/09 
to May 11

Ham 35.8

Chicken - Cajun 34.4

Base - Thin‘n’Crispy 30.5

Chicken - Kickers Mild 30.0

Pepperoni 29.3

Bacon Streaky/Strips 25.4

Chicken - Kickers Spicy 24.3

Liquid Cheddar 24.1

Bacon Shred/Diced 21.5

Base - Classic 11.5

Base - Deep Pan 11.5

Mozzarella 9.4

Chicken - Jumbo Wings 8.5

54% oF pizza inGredients  
have had a reduction in sodium

Saturated Fat

% Decrease 
of Sat Fat 

since 08/09 
to May 11

Base - Thin‘n’Crispy 66.7

Pepperoni 42.4

Liquid Cheddar 24.0

Chicken - Cajun 22.5

Bacon Shred/Diced 19.3

Chicken - Kickers Mild 18.2

Beef 14.6

Mozzarella 14.5

Italian Meatballs 9.0

Base - Tortilla 7.0

garlic Bread 3.3

Chicken - Jumbo Wings 2.2

45.8% oF inGredients have had a 
reduction in saturated Fat

neW zealand

Sodium

% Decrease 
of Sodium 

since 08/09 
to May 11

Bacon Streaky/Strips 63.7

Dipping Sauce - Chilli Sauce 63.0

BBQ Sauce 57.3

garlic Bread 53.3

Base - Puff 52.3

Bacon Shred/Diced 41.7

Dipping Sauce - Ranch 31.4

Pepperoni 29.3

Base - Tortilla 20.4

Base - Thin & Crispy 16.9

Chicken - Kickers Spicy 16.8

Liquid Cheddar 12.3

Italian Sausage 7.4

Base - gluten Free 5.6

Beef 4.8

Ham 1.4

58% oF inGredients  
have had a reduction in sodium

Not counting garlic bread or dipping sauces

Saturated Fat

% Decrease 
of Sat Fat 

since 08/09 
to May 11

garlic Bread 69.9

Base - Base - Thin‘n’Crispy 58.3

Cheesy garlic Bread 57.1

Base - Puff 51.0

Pepperoni 42.4

Feta 36.5

Chicken - Breast 26.0

Beef 24.3

Dipping Sauce - Ranch 23.3

Mozzarella 20.0

Ham 12.5

45.8% oF inGredients have had a 
reduction in saturated Fat

Not counting garlic bread or dipping sauces

At Domino’s we are committed to providing 
healthier product choices for our customers. 
We have already introduced significant 
changes across our menu with more than half 
of our ingredients reduced in saturated fat 
and more than a third of our ingredients now 
having lower levels of sodium. 

The biggest achievements in Australia include our 
Thin’n’Crispy which has seen a 66% saturated fat 
reduction while the saturated fat in our pepperoni 
has been reduced by more than 42%. 

In New Zealand we are proud to offer new and 
improved garlic bread which has 69% less 
saturated fat while the saturated fat in our feta 
has been reduced by more than 36%.

As well as reducing the saturated fat content 
in our ingredients we are also committed to 
lowering the sodium levels in our food. More 
than 54% of our pizza ingredients in Australia 
and New Zealand are now lower in sodium.

In Australia, sodium levels in our ham have 
been reduced by more than 35% while sodium 
in our seasoned chicken has reduced by 34%.

We believe in giving our customers’ choice! 
The good Choice Range offers nutritionally-
balanced, healthier options that taste great but 
are calorie-controlled.

As well as offering healthier product choices 
for our customers we are also committed 
to providing reliable information on the food 
we sell, including nutritional information, 
ingredients and allergen labelling.

This information is provided per slice and per 
100gm so customers can make informed choices.

In addition, from mid October 2011 energy 
values in KJ for all Domino’s products will 
be displayed on all menu boards and menu 
brochures across Australia.

Forward commitments
Domino’s remains committed to purchasing 
the highest quality ingredients for our pizzas.

The next step in our commitment to provide 
better quality and healthier ingredients is to 
reduce food additives, including colours and 
preservatives in our ingredients. 

We are continually looking at ways to make our 
products better for our customers and this includes 
working closely with our valued suppliers to ensure 
our goals to further reduce sodium and fat in our 
ingredients are achieved in the future.
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fresh
1,500 tonnes of fresh 
Australian produce 
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We are committed 
to helping out 

communities in tough 
times. Wherever 

possible we are the first 
to provide food relief to 
areas affected by flood, 

fire, earthquakes and 
other natural disasters.

We have stores right 
across australia and 
new Zealand which 

are locally-owned and 
operated, so we believe 

it’s crucial we support 
communities in need.

in the past 12 months 
we have donated more 

than 10,000 pizzas to 
communities, charities 
and relief organisations 

across australia and 
new Zealand.

starlight children’s 
Foundation doughraiser
Now in its third consecutive year Domino’s 
South-East Queensland stores have run 
a Doughraiser for the Starlight Children’s 
Foundation and raised almost $120,000  
for the foundation since 2009.

Starlight relies on the fantastic generosity of 
partners like Domino’s to help brighten the 
lives of the thousands of children impacted by 
serious illness and disability each week.

Money raised during our Doughraiser will 
ensure Starlight can continue to deliver 
programs such as the Starlight Express Room, 
Captain Starlights, Livewire and Starlight Wish 
granting to children in and out of hospitals 
around Australia.

triple m Rugby for 
christchurch
On 10 March, Domino’s showed our support 
for Triple M’s Classic Rugby for Christchurch, 
pitching Classic Wallabies against Classic  
NZ rugby stars in a game of international 
calibre to raise funds for the Christchurch 
Earthquake Appeal.

We donated 5,000 pizzas to be sold at the 
event for just $5 each, raising almost  
$25,000 for the Christchurch Earthquake 
Appeal to help rebuild the devastated city. 

Domino’s staff also volunteered at the  
event, selling the pizzas themselves  
to hungry rugby fans. 

national Floods  
doughraiser
On Australia Day 2011, all Domino’s stores 
across Australia raised almost $120,000 for 
the National Flood Disaster Relief Appeals 
which supported the Queensland, victoria and 
Western Australia flood relief appeals.

The floods had a devastating effect right 
across Australia and the aftermath they have 
left behind will long be a reminder to the 
Australian population and flood victims who 
have lost so much. 

We wanted to show our support for all 
of the communities of flooded areas by 
hosting a national Doughraiser, and we were 
overwhelmed with the outcome. We raised 
more than $120,000 in one day!

marymead doughraiser
This is the second consecutive year Domino’s 
Canberra stores have held a Doughraiser for 
Marymead, with more than $20,000 raised 
since 2010.

Marymead has a 44-year history of supporting 
vulnerable and disadvantaged children and 
families across the ACT, helping more than 
1,000 families annually.

$90,000 FoR QueenslAnd  
pRemieR’s disAsteR RelieF AppeAl

$52,000 for Starlight Children’s 
Foundation from our South east 
Queensland Doughraiser
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Better meatlovers
Meatlovers has always been a favourite of 
serious pizza lovers. However, we knew our 
Meatlovers could be better. With our continued 
focus on improving the quality of all of our 
products, we revitalised our best selling pizza 
and we couldn’t be happier.

We have made meaningful improvements to 
our Meatlovers, with higher quality and better 
for you ingredients:

meatlovers on thin’n’crispy

Quality  
improvements

Better For  
you innovations

Real Rasher Bacon Pepperoni with  
42% less saturated fat  
& 30% less sodium

New Mozzarella Mozzarella Cheese 
with 16% less fat

New Champagne Ham Thin’n’Crispy base 
with 67% less 
saturated fat and  
30% less sodium

New  
100% Hormone  
Free Beef

100% Hormone Free 
Beef with 14% less 
saturated fat

(% decrease in sodium and saturated fat from 2008/09 to May 2011)

During our product development process 
our Better Meatlovers recipe received the 
highest taste score during sensory taste 
and concept evaluation. This result was the 
highest for any Domino’s pizza ever tested 
but more importantly also scored higher than 
any competitor, making the Domino’s Better 
Meatlovers Australia’s favourite pizza.

Our Better Meatlovers promotion was once 
again about giving our customers amazing 
value while offering even better taste. New 
ingredients such as tastier champagne ham, 
the addition of delicious rasher bacon and 
100% Aussie ground beef helped deliver 
double digit sales growth during the promotion.

Domino’s Head Development Chef, Stefaan 
Codron, starred in the television campaign 
which highlighted our commitment to giving 
customers more of what they want for less.

new Hawaiian
Next in line for a makeover was our much 
loved Hawaiian Pizza. With the introduction of 
sweeter, juicer pineapple, champagne ham and 
33% more mozzarella cheese, the new pizza 
offers a superior taste sensation.

using a real Domino’s face, Domino’s largest 
Australian Franchisee, Nick Knight, for the 
New Hawaiian campaign helped us to show 
customers we were proud of our commitment 
to better tasting pizzas. 

square puff –  
a box full of pizza!
In late 2010 we tackled the large pizza debate 
head-on, with the launch of our Square Puff 
pizza, which gave customers a box full of pizza.

Square Puff pizza is unique to Domino’s and the 
launch focused on giving customers a premium 
quality product for a great price.

Offering our customers their favourite premium 
quality pizza on our most indulgent Square Puff 
pastry crust helped to set us apart from our 
competitors at a time when more people were 
choosing pizza delivery.

As part of the Square Puff promotion Domino’s 
also launched a new pizza, the Double Beef 
and Bacon with 100% Aussie ground beef, real 
rasher bacon and pepperoni finished off with 
American-style mustard and mozzarella cheese. 

prawn Range and popping 
chocolate ice cream
We kicked off summer with the launch of our 
Bigger Prawn Range of pizzas and a unique 
Popping Chocolate Ice Cream dessert.

The Bigger Prawn Range included three new 
pizzas – Prawn, Bacon and Feta; Prawn, Feta 
and Alfredo; and Satay Prawn.

The Popping Chocolate Ice Cream was 
specially developed for Domino’s with premium 
chocolate ice cream and crackling candy 
which popped when eaten.

no public Holiday surcharge
We take pride in listening to our customers 
and the introduction of ‘no public holiday 
surcharge’ was a huge step forward for our 
business in early 2011.

With more than 80% of our customers currently 
using discount vouchers to order their favourite 
pizza, we wanted to ensure they could still get 
the same deals even on Public Holidays.

Additional toppings
In July 2011 we made further nationwide 
reductions, reducing our additional topping and 
half/half pizza charges to only $1 down from 
$2.95, allowing customers to add and change 
their pizzas the way they want them. 

Offering better value is one of our key focus 
areas and gives our customers just another 
reason to choose Domino’s.

SWEETER LATE HARVEST PINEAPPLE

JUST

$6.95*

EACH PICK UP
*See conditions below

Tasty

Champagne

Ham

More  
Cheese

Pizza TrackerLive

cash and credit card payments accepted 1300 366 466 Local call cost

*$1 surcharge applies for each additional topping, half ‘n’ half pizzas. $2.95 surcharge applies for “Square Puff”, “Cheese Burst” & “Gluten Free” Pizzas. No half ‘n’ 
half or substitute toppings allowed on the Value Range Pizzas or Pizza Subs. Premium Range Pizzas $2.95 more than Traditional Range Pizzas. Premium Range 
Pizza Subs $1 more than Traditional Range Pizza Subs. Pizza Subs available 11am to 4pm. Minimum delivery order $20. Drivers only carry $20 in change. All offers 
not valid with any other coupon or offer. Only available at selected stores. Prices include GST. #Not valid on Good Choice Range™

New Late  
Harvest

Pineapple

PRAWN
 BACON&FETA

*$7.95
JUST

Delivering our customers  
innovative new pizzas was  

the focus of our promotions  
in the past 12 months.

refocusing on our core product, 
improving our most popular 
pizzas and giving customers 

more of what they wanted 
resulted in some of the most 

successful promotions  
ever for Domino’s.

promotions
australia & new zealand



We are serious about  
staying connected with 
our customers through 
new technology. That’s 
why you can now order 

Domino’s anywhere, 
anytime from the palm 

of your hand. it’s just like 
having a Domino’s store 

in your pocket!



social media
Over the past 12 months Domino’s has 
increased its presence in social media, 
particularly Facebook. As more people use 
social media to connect with friends, families 
and brands, we are committed to providing 
a platform where our customers can directly 
interact with Domino’s. 

In July 2011, we passed 150,000 Facebook 
fans in Australia, a huge milestone and one 
which we were very proud to achieve.

We now integrate social media into all of our 
campaigns and use it as a platform to launch 
competitions with our fans and respond to 
customer experiences. 

Our biggest social media campaign so far 
was for our new Hawaiian Pizza in July 2011. 
Kicking off with a Hawaiian dance flash mob 
viral campaign, we gave Facebook fans the 
chance to win a trip for two to Hawaii. 

During the four-week campaign our  
Facebook fans grew by more than  
22,000 to 117,026 and more than  
3,400 people entered the competition.

Australia – 150,000
New Zealand – 14,000
France – 160,000
The Netherlands - 650
Belgium – 407

mobile is here now!
More and more consumers are using online or 

mobile devices to order their favourite products. 

Ordering pizza shouldn’t be any different.

We know our customers lead busy lives, like 

to multitask and do things on the go. With 

our new flash online ordering site, accessible 

store, iPhone App, Mobile Ordering Site and 

Android App we are confident we have the 

ability to keep up to speed with what our 

customers expect from us.

With already more than 40% of sales online, 

Domino’s is fast becoming one of Australia’s 

top e-commerce companies with customers 

now able to place an order anywhere, anytime.

In Australia and New Zealand we will continue 

to invest in our digital platform with the 

expectation of digital orders providing 60% of 

the business within 3 years.

The Domino’s iPhone App continues to impress 

with more than 775,000 downloads since it 

launched in November 2009 and more than 

35,000 downloads in New Zealand since 

February 2011. Each week thousands of 

orders are placed through this App for 

pick up or delivery from every corner  

of Australia and New Zealand.

In June 2011, Domino’s launched a Mobile 

Ordering Site which can be used to order pizza 

from any internet-enabled mobile device. The 

launch pushed us even further ahead in our 

drive to offer customers more ways to order 

their favourite pizza.

This site is the most advanced Quick Service 

Restaurant (QSR) mobile ordering site  

in Australia.  

Within one week of the site’s launch more than 

$1 million in mobile sales was recorded. 

Another pillar in our mobile strategy is the 

recent launch of our Android App, further 

cementing our mobile competitive advantage 

and truly allowing our customers to order 

anywhere, anytime.

So now, no matter what internet-enabled 

mobile device you have, you can order your 

favourite Domino’s pizza, customise it and 

track it live from the palm of your hand.

We expect to see similar success for the Android 

App as we did with the launch of our iPhone App. 
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digital advantage
more than $1 million in 
sales in the first week 
on mobile devices
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store openings
During the 2010-11 Financial year our footprint 

in Europe grew with 25 stores added across 

France, Belgium and The Netherlands.

A new store design was also rolled out in The 

Netherlands with the makeline moved to the 

front of the store. After a successful launch 

of this store design in Australia last year, this 

store in Heerenveen was the first in Europe.

seating in more stores
A key feature of Domino’s new store design 

in Europe is the addition of more seating for 

customers to enjoy their pizzas in the store.

While delivery and pick up will always be 

popular, more customers are choosing to  

eat their pizzas away from home with  

friends or family. 

More seating in our new store designs means 

they can now eat their favourite pizza within 

minutes of it being made fresh to order and  

hot out of the oven.

european corporate stores
During the year Domino’s made a commitment 

to develop a strong corporate store network in 

France and The Netherlands.

The corporate store development program will 

enable us to provide a leadership and support 

structure to our franchisees while also keeping 

abreast of trends and challenges experienced 

in the pizza industry.

We finished the 2010-11 Financial year with 

eight corporate stores in The Netherlands  

and two in France. 

Three of the corporate stores in The 

Netherlands opened under the new 2020 

Evolution Image store design which includes 

softer tones and wood panelling.

Future investment in the corporate store 

development program will see more stores 

operated under this model in both countries.

Over the next couple of years approximately 

20% of the stores in The Netherlands will  

be owned and operated as Domino’s  

corporate stores. 

Investment in France will see our  

corporate stores grow to 5% within  

the next five years.

FRAnce/Belgium
Facebook France
Like their Australian counterparts Domino’s 

France is committed to using social media to 

launch new campaigns and connect with tech-

savvy customers.

To promote the launch of their new La 5 

Fromages, the French team launched a pizza-

making game on Facebook which ran from 6 

December 2010 to 6 January 2011.  

The aim of the game was for fans to make a 

pizza as quickly as possible to go into the running 

to win a winter ski holiday for five people and 10 

vouchers valued at 500 each. 

With more than 160,000 Facebook fans already 

the team is planning more in this space for 

upcoming promotions.

la 5 Fromages
For 50 years, the Domino’s brand has offered 

the best products, at the best prices with the 

best ingredients. 

To celebrate the 50th Anniversary of the brand 

the French team relaunched their most popular 

pizza, the La 5 Fromages, at a great value price 

of 6,99 pick up.

The tantalising recipe includes tomato sauce, 

mozzarella, goat cheese, Emmental, blue cheese 

and Reblochon cheese.

The limited-time only, single price point offer was 

successful in attracting both new and repeat 

customers across France whilst showcasing the 

French’s favourite pizza in a new light!

spice it up
In March 2011, Curry arrived  
at Domino’s France for a limited edition 
campaign. During the promotion the limited 
time offer price point was advertised nationally 
on bus shelters near Domino’s stores and was 
also supported successfully on radio. 

Meet the tantalizing new pizza and new 
sandwicho’s:

suBlim’ curry 
A spicy new pizza featuring light fresh cream, 
mozzarella, kebab seasoned chicken, roast 
chicken, onions, green peppers and curry 
sauce. Spicing up the pizza menu!

le curryeux 
A hot new sandwicho’s topped with kebab 
seasoned chicken, onions, green peppers, curry 
sauce, gouda cheese and light fresh cream.
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europeupdate
We are proud to be the number one pizza 
company  in France and The netherlands 
in sales and store count. 



tHe netHeRlAnds
pizza and football 
In late 2010, The Netherlands went football 
crazy! In a unique joint promotion with 
Holland’s biggest football league, The 
Eredivisie Cup, Domino’s gave all customers 
the chance to watch their favourite game on 
www.eredivisielive.nl free.

During the promotion, anyone who purchased 
a pizza at Domino’s received a free voucher 
(valued at 6) to watch football online.

In total, more than 500,000 free vouchers 
were given to customers! This unique 
promotion had never been done before in  
The Netherlands on a scale so big. 

Aloha
The popular Hawaiian pizza was also upgraded 
recently in The Netherlands. 

The new recipe now includes delicious ham, 
which has been upgraded in taste and quality. 
The new improved grilled ham strips are a real 
taste addition to the pizza. 

It is topped off with real Mozzarella balls and 
Emmenthal cheese on the crust, adding even 
more flavour. 

The campaign also focused on value with the 
Hawaiian Pizza promoted at 3,95 pick up  
and 5,95 delivery to pizza lovers. 

Geel leKKer! (That’s Dutch for delicious!)

perfect pepperoni pizza
The Netherlands went crazy for Pepperoni  
this year with a national promotion  
focusing on value.

The message was simple: the Perfect 
Pepperoni Pizza from Domino’s only costs  

3,95 carry-out. This deal was so perfect  
that anyone could sell it.

With this in mind, the Dutch team organised 
a huge casting call for people to have one 
chance to sell the pizza better than anyone 
else. This first take was broadcasted on 
national Tv. All the hilarious commercials were 
posted on www.dominos.nl. This creative 
approach to advertising created a huge amount 
of buzz on social media, with fans from across 
The Netherlands sharing their reactions. 

The Dutch team also asked all the fans to 
‘LIKE’ their favourite pizza sales person on 
Facebook and the one most ‘liked’ won a 
year’s worth of free pizza. 

The ‘one-take’ commercial for the  
Pepperoni pizza was a huge success  
in The Netherlands.

Quad bike trial
The Netherlands recently started trialling quad 
bikes for deliveries instead of two-wheel scooters. 

After increased snowfall during the winter 
months saw the delivery business reduce  
more than usual, Domino’s decided to  
look for alternatives. 

The new quad bikes will ensure customers  
can still rely on pizza delivery, even during 
difficult weather conditions.

The quad bikes have been modified to suit 
Domino’s delivery needs and can carry up  
to 14 pizzas with one driver. 

The trial has so far been successful and the 
goal is to have more quad bikes ready for the 
European winter. 
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overview
Corporate governance is an important matter to Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited (“DPE Limited” or the “Company”) and the Board of Directors  
(the “Board”). The Board endorses the 2nd edition of the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASx”) Corporate governance Council’s Corporate governance 
Principles and Recommendations with 2010 Amendments (“ASx Principles”) originally issued by the ASx Corporate governance Council in August 2007.

Set out below is a table describing the various ASx Principles and statements as to the Company’s compliance or otherwise 
with them. Terms used in the table have the meanings given to them in the ASx Principles unless otherwise defined.

principle no. Best practice recommendation compliance reason For non-compliance

principle 1 – lay solid foundations for management and oversight

1.1 Establish the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated 
to senior executives and disclose these functions.

Refer to page 33 Not applicable

1.2 Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior executives. Refer to page 40 Not applicable

1.3 Provide the information in the guide to reporting on Principle 1. Refer to pages 33 & 40 Not applicable

principle 2 – structure the Board to add value

2.1 A majority of the Board should be independent directors. Refer to page 33 Not applicable

2.2 The Chair should be an independent director. Refer to page 33 Not applicable

2.3 The roles of the Chair and Chief Executive Officer should 
not be exercised by the same individual.

Refer to page 33 Not applicable

2.4 The Board should establish a nomination committee. Refer to page 34 Not applicable

2.5 Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the 
Board, its committees and individual directors.

Refer to page 36 Not applicable

2.6 Provide the information in the guide to reporting on Principle 2. Refer to pages 
33, 34 & 36

Not applicable

principle 3 – promote ethical and responsible decision-making

3.1 Establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or summary of the code as to:
•	 the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity
•	 the practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations and the 

reasonable expectations of their stakeholders
•	 the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating 

reports of unethical practices.

Refer to page 34 Not applicable

3.2 Establish a policy concerning diversity and disclose 
the policy or a summary of that policy.

Refer to page 35 Not applicable

3.3 Disclose in each Annual Report the measurable objectives for 
achieving gender diversity set by the Board in accordance with 
the Diversity Policy and progress towards achieving them.

Refer to page 35 Not applicable*

3.4 Disclose in each Annual Report the proportion of women employees in the whole 
organisation, women in senior executive positions and women on the Board.

Refer to page 35 Not applicable*

3.5 Provide the information in the guide to reporting on Principle 3.
*The reporting requirements of the 2010 Amendments to the ASx Corporate governance Principles and 
Recommendations (2nd edition) apply in relation to the financial year ending 30 June 2012 and will be 
made in the Company’s 2012 annual report published by the end of October 2012.

Refer to page 34 & 35 Not applicable*

principle 4 – safeguard integrity in financial reporting

4.1 The Board should establish an audit committee. Refer to page 34 Not applicable

4.2 The audit committee should be structured so that it:

•	consists only of non-executive directors

•	consists of a majority of independent directors

•	 is chaired by an independent Chair, who is not Chair of the Board

•	has at least three members

Refer to page 34 Not applicable

4.3 The audit committee should have a formal Charter. Refer to page 34 Not applicable

4.4 Provide the information in the guide to reporting on Principle 4. Refer to page 34 Not applicable

principle 5 – make timely and balanced disclosure

5.1 Establish written procedures designed to ensure compliance 
with ASx Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure 
accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance and 
disclose those policies or a summary of those policies.

Refer to page 35 Not applicable

5.2 Provide the information in the guide to reporting on Principle 5. Refer to page 35 Not applicable

Key Financial indicators Corporate Governance Statement

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

netWorK sales 359.4 518.9 591.2 676.4 694.3 746.4

Revenue 172.9 230.1 229.6 239.0 236.1 246.7

eBitda 24.7 22.0 25.3 28.3 32.5 39.1

Depreciation and amortisation (6.0) (6.8) (6.2) (6.4) (8.0) (8.7)

eBit 18.7 15.2 19.1 21.8 24.5 30.4

Net interest expense (1.6) (2.9) (2.1) (1.6) (0.8) (0.7)

npBt 17.1 12.3 17.0 20.3 23.7 29.7

Income tax (4.1) (3.2) (5.2) (4.9) (5.9) (8.2)

pro Forma npat (pre share issue costs) 13.0 9.1 11.8 15.4 17.8 21.4

After tax share issue costs 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

npat 13.0 9.1 11.8 15.4 17.8 21.4

earninGs per share (Basic) 21.7 14.8 18.4 22.6 26.2 31.3

dividends per share 10.9 10.9 10.9 12.4 17.3 21.9

Key operatinG data

netWorK sales GroWth % 17.4% 44.4% 13.9% 14.4% 2.6% 7.5%

revenue GroWth % 29.6% 33.1% (0.2%) 4.1% (1.2%) 4.5%

eBitda GroWth % 38.8% (10.9%) 15.0% 11.5% 15.1% 20.2%

eBitda marGin % 14.3% 9.6% 11.0% 11.8% 13.8% 15.9%

eBit marGin % 10.8% 6.6% 8.3% 9.1% 10.4% 12.3%

Franchised stores 301 533 629 669 717 760

Corporate stores 137 130 112 107 106 106

total netWorK stores 438 663 741 776 823 866

Corporate stores % 31.3% 19.6% 15.1% 13.8% 12.9% 12.2%



33AnnuAl RepoRt 2011
DOMinO’S PiZZa enTerPriSeS liMiTeD

AnnuAl RepoRt 2011
Delivering value32

principle no. Best practice recommendation compliance reason For non-compliance

principle 6 – respect the rights of shareholders

6.1 Design a communication policy for promoting effective communication 
with shareholders and encouraging their participation at general 
meetings and disclose their policy or a summary of that policy.

Refer to page 35 Not applicable

6.2 Provide the information in the guide to reporting on Principle 6. Refer to page 35 Not applicable

principle 7 – recognise and manage risk

7.1 Establish policies for the oversight and management of material 
business risks and disclose a summary of those policies.

Refer to page 36 Not applicable

7.2 The Board should require management to design and implement the risk 
management and internal control system to manage the Company’s material 
business risks and report to it on whether those risks are being managed 
effectively. The Board should disclose that management has reported to it as to 
the effectiveness of the Company’s management of its material business risks.

Refer to page 36 Not applicable

7.3 The Board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the 
Chief Executive Officer (or equivalent) and the Chief Financial Officer 
(or equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance with section 
295A of the Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk 
management and internal control and that the system is operating 
effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.

The Board has received 
the declaration

Not applicable

7.4 Provide the information in the guide to reporting on Principle 7. Refer to page 36 Not applicable

principle 8 – remunerate fairly and responsibly

8.1 The Board should establish a remuneration committee. Refer to page 34 Not applicable

8.2 The remuneration committee should be structured so that it:
consists of a majority of independent directors
is chaired by an independent Chair
has at least three members

Refer to pages 40 Not applicable

8.3 Clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration 
from that of executive directors and senior executives.

Refer to pages 40 Not applicable

8.4 Provide the information in the guide to reporting on Principle 8. Refer to pages 34 & 40 Not applicable

Corporate Governance Statement continued

The Board has adopted a Corporate 
governance Charter, a Code of Conduct for 
Directors and Officers, a comprehensive set 
of Board policies regarding: Independence 
and Conflicts of Interest, Risk Management, 
Board Performance Evaluation, Chief Executive 
Officer Performance Evaluation, Continuous 
Disclosure, External Communications and 
Securities Trading and an Audit Committee 
Charter to assist in the discharge of its 
Corporate governance responsibilities. Copies 
are available from the Company’s registered 
office or may be downloaded from the 
Company’s website under the investor section.

The Board has in place Corporate governance 
practices that it considers to be the most 
appropriate for DPE Limited. The Board also 
recognises that Corporate governance is not 
a static matter, and needs reviewing regularly 
as DPE Limited evolves. This statement 
describes the main Corporate governance 
practices in place during the year. 

Role of the Board
The Board is responsible for guiding and 
monitoring DPE Limited on behalf of 
shareholders. While at all times the Board 
retains full responsibility, in discharging its 
stewardship it makes use of committees. 
Specialist committees are able to focus on a 
particular responsibility and provide informed 
feedback to the Board. The Board seeks to 
identify the expectations of shareholders, 
as well as other regulatory obligations. In 
addition, the Board is also responsible for 
identifying areas of significant business 
risk and ensuring arrangements are in 
place to adequately manage those risks. 

The Board is responsible, and primarily 
accountable to the shareholders, for the effective 
Corporate governance of the Company. The 
Board is responsible for directing management 
to optimise the Company’s performance 
and increase shareholder wealth by:
•	providing strategic direction and approving 

the annual operating budget;
•	appointing and appraising the Managing 

Director/Chief Executive Officer, ensuring 
that there are adequate plans and 
procedures for succession planning; 

•	ensuring a clear relationship between 
performance and executive directors’ 
and executives’ compensation;

•	ensuring that the performance of 
senior executive (including executive 
directors) is monitored and evaluated;

•	approving and monitoring major 
capital expenditure programs;

•	monitoring the operating and financial 
performance of the Company;

•	overseeing the Company and developing 
key Company policies, including its 
control and accountability systems;

•	ensuring compliance with laws, 
regulations, appropriate accounting 
standards and corporate policies 
(including the Code of Conduct);

•	ensuring that the market and shareholders are 
fully informed of material developments; and

•	 recognising the legitimate 
interests of stakeholders.

Those matters not specifically reserved 
for the Board are the responsibility of 
management, but are subject to oversight by 
the Board. The Corporate governance of the 
Company is carried out through delegation of 
appropriate authority to the Chief Executive 
Officer and, through the Chief Executive 
Officer, to management of the Company. 

letters of appointment
Directors receive formal letters of appointment 
setting out the key terms, conditions and 
expectations of their appointment. The 
Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer’s 
responsibilities and terms of employment, 
including termination entitlements, are also 
set out in an executive service agreement. 
Executive service agreements are also prepared 
for the key management personnel, covering 
duties, time commitments, induction and 
the Corporate governance Framework. 

Board meetings
The Board held 17 formal meetings during 
the year. Attendance at the 2011 Board 
and Committee meetings is detailed 
on page 39 of the Annual Report. 

criteria for Board membership
For directors appointed by the Board, the 
Board will consider the range of skills 
and experience required in light of:
•	 the strategic direction and 

progress of the Company;
•	 the current composition of the Board; and
•	 the need for independence.

A director appointed by the Board must stand 
for election at the next Annual general Meeting 
(“AgM”). Apart from the Managing Director, 
all directors are subject to re-election by 
rotation at least once every three years. 

structure oF the Board
At the date of this report the Board 
comprises five directors and includes: 
•	 four independent non-executive directors 

(including the Chairman of the Board),
•	one executive director.

Chairman of the Board is Mr Ross Adler. DPE 
Limited’s Managing Director/Chief Executive 
Officer is Mr Don Meij. Board members’ 
respective qualifications, skills, experience 
and dates of appointment are detailed on the 
Corporate Directory page of the Annual Report. 

The compensation paid to DPE Limited’s 
directors for the year ended 3 July 
2011 is set out in the Remuneration 
Report on pages 40 to 48. 

independence of directors 
The Board comprises a majority of 
independent non-executive directors who, 
together with the executive director, have 
extensive commercial experience and bring 
independence, accountability and judgement to 
the Board’s deliberations to ensure maximum 
benefit to shareholders and employees. 

At each Board meeting the Board requires 
each independent director to disclose any new 
information which could, or could reasonably be 
perceived to, impair the director’s independence. 
In devising its policy on independence, the 
Board’s emphasis is to encourage independent 
judgement amongst all directors, at all times, 
irrespective of their background. Nonetheless, 
the Board in its nominations capacity will 
assess annually the ‘independence’ of each 
director in light of the ASx Principles. 

independent advice
To enable DPE Limited’s Board and its 
committees to fulfil their roles, it is considered 
appropriate that independent experts’ advice 
may be obtained at DPE Limited’s expense, 
after first indicating to the Chairman the 
nature of the advice to be sought and the 
party from whom the advice is to be sought. 
The Chairman will ensure that the party from 
whom the advice is to be sought has no conflict 
with DPE Limited in providing that advice.

re-election of directors
In accordance with DPE Limited’s Constitution, 
at each AgM of DPE Limited, one third of the 
directors (excluding the Managing Director) 
must stand for re-election. If their number 
is not three or a multiple of three, then the 
number nearest but not exceeding one third 
must stand for re-election. The directors to 
retire in every year are those who have been 
longest in office since their last election and, 
as between directors appointed on the same 
day, must (unless otherwise agreed between 
themselves) be determined by lot. In addition, no 
director other than the Managing Director may 
hold office for more than three years without 
standing for re-election, and any director 
appointed by the Board since the last AgM 
must stand for re-election at the next AgM. All 
retiring directors are eligible for re-election. 
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Board committees
The Board has established a number of 
committees to assist in the execution of its 
responsibilities. The following committees 
were in place at the date of this report:

•	Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee; and

•	Audit Committee.

Details of these committees 
are discussed below. 

nomination and  
Remuneration committee
The Board has established the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee, which 
comprises the entire Board.

The principal responsibilities 
of the Committee are:

•	advising the Board on directorship 
appointments, with particular attention to the 
mix of skills, experience and independence;

•	ensuring fulfilment of the Board’s 
policies on Board composition;

•	developing Board succession plans; 

•	reviewing and making recommendations on 
the appropriate compensation of directors;

•	ensuring that equity-based executive 
compensation is paid in accordance 
with thresholds set in plans 
approved by shareholders; and

•	ensuring disclosure of the 
information required in each Annual 
Report of the Company. 

The Company’s compensation policy 
links the nature and amount of executive 
directors’ and key management personnel’s 
emoluments to the Company’s financial 
and operational performance.

Further details of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee are included in the 
Remuneration Report on pages 40 to 48. 

Membership of and attendance at the 
2011 Committee meetings are detailed 
in the Directors’ Report on page 39.

Audit committee
DPE Limited has a Board convened 
Audit Committee which: 

•	 is comprised entirely of non-executive 
directors of DPE Limited;

•	has a majority of independent directors; and

•	has a Chairman, who is not Chairman 
of the Board of DPE Limited.

committee charter
The Committee has a Charter to govern its 
operations. The Charter is reviewed every two 
years, and, if appropriate, updated by the Board 
on recommendation from the Audit Committee. 

membership of the committee
Committee members are appointed by the Board. 
under the Committee’s Charter, members will 
have a range of diverse and yet complementary 
skills and will be financially literate. 

purpose of the committee
The role of the Audit Committee is 
to assist the Board in discharging its 
obligations with respect to ensuring: 

•	accurate and reliable financial information 
prepared for use by the Board; and

•	 the integrity of the Company’s internal controls 
affecting the preparation and provision of that 
financial information in determining policies 
or for inclusion in the financial statements.

In carrying out these functions, the 
Committee maintains unobstructed lines of 
communication between the Committee, 
the internal auditors, the external auditors, 
and DPE Limited’s management. 

duties and responsibilities of  
the committee
The Committee advises the Board on all 
aspects of internal and external audit, the 
adequacy of accounting and risk management 
procedures, systems, control and financial 
reporting. Specific responsibilities include:

•	 recommending to the Board the 
appointment, re-appointment and 
removal of external auditors;

•	monitoring the independence 
of the external auditors; 

•	 recommending and supervising the 
engagement of the external auditors 
and monitoring auditor performance;

•	 reviewing the effectiveness of 
management information and other 
systems of internal control;

•	 reviewing all areas of significant financial 
risk and arrangements in place to 
contain those to acceptable levels;

•	 reviewing significant transactions that are not 
a normal part of the Company’s business; 

•	monitoring the internal controls and 
accounting compliance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, ASx Listing Rules, 
reviewing external audit reports and 
ensuring prompt remedial action; and

•	 reviewing the Company’s full year ASx 
Appendix 4E, Annual Report and half-year 
Appendix 4D, prior to submission to the Board.

rotation of the external audit  
engagement partners
The Corporations Act 2001 has introduced 
a five year rotation requirement for audit 
partners. DPE Limited’s external auditor, 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has an internal policy 
which is consistent with this requirement. 

independence of the external auditors
The Committee will consider annually any 
non-audit services provided by the external 
auditors to determine whether the provision 
of those non-audit services is compatible 
with the independence of the external 
auditors. Policies are in place to restrict 
the type of non-audit services which can 
be provided by the external auditors.

internal audit
Ernst and young has been engaged to undertake 
an independent and objective internal audit 
review function charged with evaluating, 
testing and reporting on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of management’s control of 
operational risk. The internal auditors will 
provide regular reports to the Audit Committee.

chief executive officer and chief Financial 
officer sign-off to the Board in respect of 
dpe limited’s financial statements
The sign-off required from the Chief Executive 
Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer 
(“CFO”) that DPE Limited’s financial statements 
present a true and fair view, in all material 
respects, of DPE Limited’s financial condition 
and operational results in accordance with the 
relevant Accounting Standards, is contained 
within the representations required as part of 
Recommendation 7.2 of the ASx Principles. 

The experience and qualifications of 
members of the Audit Committee are set out 
in Corporate Directory section of the Annual 
Report. Membership of and attendance 
at 2011 Committee meetings are detailed 
in the Directors’ Report on page 39.

code of conduct for  
dpe limited directors
The Board has a formal Directors’ Code of 
Conduct which sets the standards to which 
each director, the Company Secretary 
and all executives will adhere whilst 
conducting their duties. The Code requires 
a director, amongst other things, to:
•	act honestly, in good faith and in the best 

interests of the Company as a whole;
•	perform the functions of office and exercise 

the powers attached to that office with a 
degree of care and diligence that a reasonable 
person would exercise if they were a 
director in the same circumstances; and

•	consider matters before the Board having 
regard to any possible personal interests, 
the amount of information appropriate to 
properly consider the subject matter and 
what is in the best interests of the Company.

All directors and officers of the Company must, 
as far as possible, act with the utmost integrity 
and objectivity, striving at all times to enhance 
the reputation and performance of the Company, 
and where possible, to act in accordance with 
the interests of the shareholders, staff, clients 
and all other stakeholders in the Company.

securities trading policy
The Company has adopted a policy that imposes 
certain restrictions on officers, employees 
and franchisees trading in the securities of the 
Company. The restrictions have been imposed to 
prevent inadvertent contraventions of the insider 
trading provisions of the Corporations Act 2001.

The key aspects of the policy are:
•	 trading whilst in the possession of material 

price-sensitive information is prohibited;
•	 trading is permitted without approval in the 

three week period after the release to the 
ASx of the half-yearly and annual results, the 
end of the AgM or at any time the Company 
has a prospectus open, but only if they have 
no inside information and the trading is not 
for short-term or speculative gain; and

•	 trading in other circumstances is only 
permitted if the person is personally 
satisfied that they are not in possession of 
inside information and they have obtained 
approval. Permission will be given for 
such trading only if the approving person 
is satisfied that the transaction would not 
be contrary to law, for speculative gain or 
to take advantage of inside information.

DPE Limited’s price-sensitive information 
is information which a reasonable person 
would expect to have a material effect on the 
price or value of DPE Limited’s securities. 

continuous disclosure policy
The Company has adopted a Continuous 
Disclosure Policy so as to comply with its 
continuous disclosure obligations.  
The policy aims to:
•	assess new information and coordinate 

any disclosure or releases to the ASx, 
or any advice required in relation to that 
information, in a timely manner;

•	provide an audit trail of the decisions 
regarding disclosure to substantiate 
compliance with the Company’s 
continuous disclosure obligations; and

•	ensure that employees, consultants, 
associated entities and advisers of the 
Company understand the obligations 
to bring material information to the 
attention of the Company Secretary.

diversity policy
The Company has adopted a Diversity 
Policy which aims to ensure that:

•	employment decisions are 
transparent, equitable and fair;

•	a safe and supportive workplace is provided in 
which differences are valued and respected;

•	 recruitment decisions take account of 
the diversity of the community; and

•	employees have the ability to contribute 
and access opportunities based on merit.

accountabilities and responsibilities
For administrative convenience, DPE Limited 
has nominated the Company Secretary as the 
person responsible for communications with 
the ASx. In addition, the Company Secretary 
has responsibility for overseeing and co-
ordinating disclosure of information to the ASx 
and communicating with the CEO and CFO 
in relation to continuous disclosure matters. 
The Company Secretary and Chief Financial 
Officer are also responsible for overseeing 
and co-ordinating disclosure of information 
to the media and to analysts, brokers and 
shareholders and communicating with the Board 
in relation to continuous disclosure matters.

disclosure principle
In order to ensure DPE Limited meets 
its obligations of timely disclosure 
of such information, DPE Limited 
adheres to the following practice:

•	 immediate notification to the ASx of 
information concerning DPE Limited that 
a reasonable person would expect to have 
a material effect on the price or value of 
DPE Limited’s securities as prescribed 
under Listing Rule 3.1, except where 
such information is not required to be 
disclosed in accordance with the exception 
provisions of the ASx Listing Rules.

external communications
under this policy, only those DPE Limited 
employees who have been authorised 
by the Chairman or CEO can speak on 
behalf of the Company to the media, 
analysts or investors. DPE Limited will 
not disclose price-sensitive information 
to any investor or analyst before formally 
disclosing the information to the market. 

release of briefing materials/media 
releases
All draft DPE Limited media releases and 
external presentations are reviewed by senior 
management to determine if they are subject 
to the continuous disclosure requirements. 
The purpose of that review is to ensure: 

•	 the factual accuracy of any information; 

•	 there is no material omission 
of information; and

•	 that the information will be 
disclosed in a timely manner. 

As a result of that review, any written material 
containing price-sensitive information to 
be used in briefing media, institutional 
investors or analysts, must be lodged with 
the ASx prior to the brief commencing. As 
soon as practicable after confirmation of 
receipt by the ASx, the briefing material is 
posted to DPE Limited’s corporate website. 

communications policy
The Board aims to ensure that DPE 
Limited’s shareholders are informed of 
all major developments affecting the 
Company’s state of affairs. Information is 
communicated to shareholders through:
•	The full Annual Report. All shareholders 

have to elect to receive a copy of the full 
Annual Report, unless they have elected 
not to receive one, and a copy is available, 
on request. Current corporations legislation 
allows for the default option of receiving 
annual reports via the internet. Shareholders 
must be given notification of this change 
and be given the opportunity to elect to 
receive a hard copy of the Annual Report. 

•	Disclosures made to the ASx. DPE Limited 
endeavours to post announcements 
on its corporate website the same 
day they are released to the ASx. 

•	Notices and Explanatory Memoranda of each 
AgM or other meeting of shareholders. 

•	The AgM. DPE Limited encourages 
shareholders to attend DPE Limited’s AgM 
to canvass relevant issues of interest. If 
shareholders are unable to attend the AgM 
personally, they are encouraged to participate 
through the appointment of a proxy or proxies. 

The corporate website is located at  
http://www.dominos.com.au and contains:
•	 the full financial statements of DPE Limited;
•	all media releases made to the ASx 

by DPE Limited. Each media release 
posted to the website clearly shows the 
date it was released to the market;

•	a Company profile;
•	contact details for DPE Limited’s 

head office; and
•	copies of corporate governance policies.
This website has a dedicated investor 
information section which is intended to facilitate 
quick and easy access for shareholders.

attendance of the external auditor at  
the dpe limited aGm
It is both DPE Limited’s policy and the policy 
of the auditor for the lead engagement 
partner to be present at the AgM to 
answer questions about the conduct of the 
audit and the preparation and content of 
the Auditors’ Report. These policies are 
consistent with the Corporations Act 2001. 
Shareholders attending the AgM are made 
aware they can ask questions of the auditor 
concerning the conduct of the audit.

Corporate Governance Statement continued
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Risk management policy
The Board adopts an active approach to 
risk management which recognises that the 
Company is engaged in activities, which 
necessarily demand that the Company take 
certain usual business, entrepreneurial and 
operational risks. Accordingly, and in the 
interests of the enhanced performance of the 
Company, the Board embraces a responsible 
approach to risk management, as a risk-aware 
Company, but not necessarily a risk-averse one.

Specifically in managing risk, the Company and 
the Board adhere to the following principles:
•	When considering new strategies or 

projects, management analyse the 
major risks of those opportunities being 
secured or being lost and considers 
appropriate strategies for minimising 
those risks where they are identified.

•	The Company will, when thought prudent 
by the CEO or the Board, take appropriate 
external advice to determine the best 
way to manage a particular risk.

•	Financial risk will be managed by the whole 
of the Board working closely with the CEO 
and the CFO to ensure that the financial 
statements and other financial reporting are 
rigorously tested prior to submission to audit.

•	To complement risk management by the 
Company, appropriate insurances are put in 
place and advice taken from the Company’s 
brokers or insurers where necessary to 
cover the usual extraordinary risks which 
arise in the circumstances of the Company.

•	The Company’s approach to risk 
management, and the effectiveness 
of its implementation, is reported by 
exception to the Board at least annually.

Through the use of its internal review function, 
the management of the Company has reported 
to the Board that the risk management policies 
adopted by the Company are the best to 
manage the material business risks of each 
part of the Company’s business operations.

The Board has received assurance from 
the CEO and CFO that the declaration 
provided in accordance with section 295A 
of the Corporations Act is founded on a 
sound system of risk management and 
internal control and that the system is 
operating effectively in all material aspects 
in relation to the financial reporting risks.

Board and Board committee  
and senior executive 
performance evaluation
A formal review of Board and Committee 
performance is undertaken annually by the 
Chairman. All reviews include open discussions 
by the Board of the results of the evaluations. 

The performance of senior executives (except 
the Chief Executive Officer) is periodically 
evaluated and monitored by the Chief Executive 
Officer and measured against agreed key 
performance indicators. The performance of the 
Chief Executive Officer is periodically reviewed 
and monitored by the Chairman and measured 
against agreed key performance indicators.

Performance evaluations for the Board 
Committees and senior executives (including 
the Chief Executive Officer) have occurred 
in the reporting period in accordance 
with the procedures described above.

role of the company secretary and the 
Board’s access to information
All directors have unrestricted access to the 
Company Secretary. The Company Secretary 
is responsible for advising the Board on all 
Corporate governance matters, for co-ordinating 
the completion and despatch of the agenda and 
Board papers for each meeting, and ensuring 
the Board receives sufficient information and in 
a form and time frame to enable the Board to 
discharge its duties effectively. Directors may 
meet independently with management at any 
time to discuss areas of interest or concern.

Board agendas and minutes
Agendas for Board meetings include all matters 
operational, financial, strategic and compliance 
which are important to DPE Limited. Whilst 
most agenda items have a degree of detail 
and background information included in the 
pre-meeting papers, a few items may be listed 
on the agenda as discussion points. Papers 
are distributed to Board members in a timely 
manner prior to each meeting of the Board. 
The minutes of each meeting of the Board 
record the place, date, time of commencement 
and conclusion, along with the names of all 
attendees and any apologies. The Company 
Secretary prepares the minutes of each meeting 
of the Board and is expected to use language 
which is non-emotive and impartial. All draft 
minutes will be set down for review and approval 
at the next meeting of the Board. The Company 
Secretary maintains a file copy of all papers 
circulated to the Board prior to Board meetings, 
along with any documents tabled at meetings 
and a signed copy of all minutes. These records 
are held in a secure manner so as to prevent 
any unauthorised amendments or alterations.

asx corporate Governance 
recommendations
At the date of this report the Company 
considers that the above Corporate governance 
practices comply with the ASx Principles. 
The information required to be disclosed 
by those recommendations is found both in 
this Corporate governance Statement and in 
the Directors’ Report on pages 37 to 48. 

The directors of Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited (“DPE Limited” or the “Company”) submit herewith the annual financial report of the Company 
for the financial year ended 3 July 2011. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors Report as follows:

information about the directors and senior management
The names and particulars of the Directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year are:

name position

Ross Adler Non-Executive Chairman Appointed 23 March 2005

Barry Alty Non-Executive Director Appointed 23 March 2005

grant Bourke Non-Executive Director Appointed 24 August 2001 

Paul Cave Non-Executive Director Appointed 23 March 2005

Don Meij Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer Appointed 24 August 2001 

Particulars of directors’ qualifications, experience and any special responsibilities are detailed in Corporate Directory section of the Annual Report. 

directorships of other listed companies
There were no directorships of other listed companies held by Directors in the 3 years immediately before the end of the financial year.

directors’ shareholdings
The following table sets out each director’s relevant interest in shares, debentures, and rights or options in shares or debentures of the Company as at the 
date of this report.

domino’s pizza enterprises limited

directors

Fully paid  
ordinary shares

numBer
share options

numBer
convertiBle notes

numBer

Ross Adler  302,221  -  - 

Barry Alty  104,443  -  - 

grant Bourke  1,547,032  -  - 

Paul Cave  382,000  -  - 

Don Meij  2,516,802  710,000  - 

Remuneration of directors and senior management
Information about the remuneration of directors and senior management is set out in the Remuneration Report of this Directors’ Report on pages 40 to 48.

share options granted to directors and senior management
During and since the end of the financial year there were no share options granted to the following 
directors and senior management of the Company as part of their remuneration.

directors and senior manaGement
numBer oF 

options Granted issuinG entity
numBer oF ordinary
shares under option

Nil  Nil DPE Limited  Nil

 

company secretary
Craig Ryan 
general Counsel

Craig is a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Queensland, Australian Capital Territory 
and New South Wales and a Solicitor of the High Court of Australia with over 15 
years’ experience. Craig joined the Company as general Counsel on 8 August 
2006 and was appointed to the position of Company Secretary on 18 September 
2006. Craig holds a Bachelor of Arts and a Bachelor of Laws from the university 
of Queensland and a Master of Laws from the university of New South Wales. 
Craig is also a Chartered Secretary with Chartered Secretaries Australia.

principal activities
The Consolidated entity’s principal activities in the course of the financial year were the operation of retail food outlets and the 
operation of franchise services. During the financial year there were no significant changes in the nature of those activities.

Corporate Governance Statement continued Directors’ Report
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Review of operations
The result for the financial year ended 3 July 2011 was as follows:

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Profit before related income tax expense 29,668 23,722

Income tax expense (8,233) (5,908)

profit after related income tax expense 21,435 17,814

Key points:
•	 Increase in Net Profit After Tax of 20.3%
•	Same Store Sales (SSS) growth of +13.1% in Australia New Zealand, +5.84% in Europe.
•	Commenced $24 million store refurbishment program in Australia & New Zealand
•	Operating cash flow +51.7%
•	Cash and cash equivalents +72.9% to $28.1m

changes in state of affairs
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated entity that occurred during the financial year.

subsequent events
There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial year that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect, the operations of the Consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Consolidated entity in future financial years.

Future developments
Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the Consolidated entity and the expected results of those operations have 
not been included in this Directors’ Report because disclosure of the information could be unreasonably prejudicial to the Consolidated entity.

environmental regulations
The Consolidated entity, while not subject to any significant environmental regulation or mandatory emissions reporting, 
voluntarily measures its carbon emissions using the National greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007.

dividends
In respect of the financial year ended 4 July 2010, as detailed in the Directors’ Report for the financial year, a final dividend of 11.8 cents per 
share franked to 100% at 30% corporate income tax rate was paid to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares on 15 September 2010.

In respect of the financial year ended 3 July 2011, an interim dividend of 10.4 cents per share franked to 100% at 
30% corporate income tax rate was paid to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares on 14 March 2011.

In respect of the financial year ended 3 July 2011, the Company will be paying a final dividend of 11.5 cents per share franked 
to 100% at 30% corporate income tax rate to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares on 15 September 2011.

shares under option or issued on exercise of options
Details of unissued shares or interests under option as at the date of this report are:

issuinG entity
numBer oF

shares under option class oF shares
exercise price

oF option expiry date oF options

DPE Limited  815,000 Ordinary $3.88 31 August 2013

DPE Limited  500,000 Ordinary $3.50 31 August 2014

DPE Limited  1,222,000 Ordinary $3.50 31 August 2014

The holders of these options do not have the right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share issue or interest issue of the Company or of any other 
body corporate or registered scheme.

Details of shares or interests issued during or since the end of the financial year as a result of exercise of an option are:

issuinG entity
numBer oF

shares issued class oF shares
amount

paid For shares
amount

unpaid on shares

DPE Limited  127,500 Ordinary $2.20 $nil

indemnification of officers and auditors
The Company has entered into deeds of indemnity, insurance and access with each director. To the extent permitted by law and subject to the 
restrictions in s.199A of the Corporations Act 2001, the Company must continuously indemnify each director against liability (including liability 
for costs and expenses) for an act or omission in the capacity of director. However, this does not apply in respect of any of the following:

•	a liability to the Company or a related body corporate;
•	a liability to some other person that arises from conduct involving a lack of good faith;
•	a liability for costs and expenses incurred by the director in defending civil or criminal proceedings in which judgment is given against the officer or in 

which the officer is not acquitted; or
•	a liability for costs and expenses incurred by the director in connection with an unsuccessful application for relief under the Corporations Act 2001 in 

connection with the proceedings referred to above.
The Company has also agreed to provide the directors with access to Board documents circulated during the directors’ term in office.

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors of the Company, the 
Company Secretary and all senior management of the Company and of any related body corporate against a liability incurred 
as such a director, secretary or senior management to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Company or of any 
related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor. 

The directors have not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premium paid in respect of the directors’ and officers’ 
liability and legal expenses insurance contract as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the contract.

directors’ meetings
The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the financial year and the 
number of meetings attended by each director (while they were a director or committee member). During the financial year, seventeen board meetings, five 
nomination and remuneration committee meetings and five audit committee meetings were held.

directors

Board oF directors
nomination

& remuneration committee audit committee

held attended held attended held attended

Ross Adler 17 17 5 5 5 5

Barry Alty 17 14 5 4 5 4

grant Bourke 17 17 5 5 n/a n/a

Paul Cave 17 15 5 5 5 5

Don Meij 17 17 5 5 n/a n/a

non-audit services
Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the 
year by the auditor are outlined in note 41 to the financial statements.

The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services, during the year, by the auditor (or by another person or firm on the 
auditor’s behalf) is compatible with the general standard of independence of auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.

The directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements do not compromise the 
external auditor’s independence, based on the advice received from the Audit Committee, for the following reasons:
•	all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor, and
•	none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in Code of Conduct APES 110 Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board, including reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting 
in a management or decision-making capacity for the Company, acting as advocate for the Company or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards.

Auditor’s independence declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 49 of the Annual Report.

Rounding off of amounts
The Company is a Company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that Class Order 
amounts in the Directors’ Report and the Financial Report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.
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Remuneration Report
This Remuneration Report, which forms part of 
the Directors’ Report, sets out information about 
the remuneration of Domino’s Pizza Enterprises 
Limited’s directors and its senior management 
for the financial year ended 3 July 2011. 

The prescribed details for each person 
covered by this report are detailed 
below under the following headings:
•	director and senior management details
•	 remuneration policy
•	 relationship between the remuneration 

policy and Company performance
•	 remuneration of directors and 

senior management
•	key terms of employment contracts

director and senior  
management details
The following persons acted as directors of the 
Company during or since the end of the financial year:

name position

Ross Adler Non-Executive Chairman
Barry Alty Non-Executive Director
grant Bourke Non-Executive Director
Paul Cave Non-Executive Director
Don Meij Managing Director/ 

Chief Executive Officer

The term ‘senior management’ is used in 
this Remuneration Report to refer to the 
following persons. Except as noted, the 
named persons held their current position 
for the whole of the financial year and 
since the end of the financial year:
•	Richard Coney, group Chief 

Financial Officer (i) (ii)

•	John Harney, general Manager Supply Chain
•	Kerri Hayman, National Corporate Operations 

Manager – Corporate (resigned 31 July 2010) 
•	Craig Ryan, general Counsel 

and Company Secretary 
•	Allan Collins, Chief Marketing Officer (i) (ii) 
•	Andy Masood, Chief Development 

Officer (resigned 15 October 2010)
•	Andrew Megson, President 

– The Netherlands (ii) 
•	Melanie gigon, President – France 

(appointed 2 August 2010)
•	Andrew Rennie, Chief Operating Officer (i) (ii) 
•	Patrick McMichael, Australia / New Zealand 

Franchise Development Manager (i) (ii)

•	Chris O’Dwyer, National Franchise 
Operations Manager (i)

(i)  The five highest paid officers of the Company  
during the year ended 3 July 2011 (other than  
the Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer). 

(ii)  The five highest paid officers of the Consolidated 
entity during the year ended 3 July 2011 (other  
than the Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer).

Remuneration policy
The Board has a Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee. The Committee assists 
the Board by reviewing and approving 
remuneration policies and practices.

The Remuneration Committee, 
as delegated by the Board:
•	 reviews and approves the executive 

remuneration policy;
•	 reviews and makes recommendations to 

the Board on corporate goals and objectives 
relevant to the CEO, and the performance 
of the CEO in light of those objectives;

•	makes recommendations to the Board on the 
remuneration of non-executive directors; and

•	 reviews and makes recommendations 
to the Board on equity-based plans.

An independent remuneration consultant is 
engaged by the Remuneration Committee 
to ensure that the reward practices 
and levels for senior management are 
consistent with market practice.

The Board, in conjunction with its Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee, is responsible 
for approving the performance objectives and 
measures for the CEO and providing input into 
the evaluation of performance against them.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
is responsible for making recommendations 
to the Board on compensation policies and 
packages applicable to the Board members 
and the Chief Executive Officer. The Managing 
Director/Chief Executive Officer is responsible 
for making recommendations on compensation 
packages applicable to the other key 
management personnel of the Company. Where 
appropriate, the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee may receive expert independent 
advice regarding compensation levels required 
to attract and compensate directors and 
other key management personnel, given the 
nature of their work and responsibilities.

The performance of the Company depends upon 
the quality of its directors, and its secretaries and 
other key management personnel. To prosper, the 
Company must attract, motivate and retain highly 
skilled directors and other key management 
personnel. The compensation structure is 
designed to strike an appropriate balance 
between fixed and variable remuneration, 
rewarding capability and experience and 
providing recognition for contribution to the 
Company’s overall goals and objectives.

The Board Remuneration Policy is to ensure 
the compensation package properly reflects 
the person’s duties and responsibilities and 
level of performance; and that compensation 
is competitive in attracting, retaining and 
motivating people of the highest quality. 
Directors and other key management personnel 
may receive bonuses on the achievement of 
specific goals related to the performance of 
the Company (including operational results).

Relationship between the 
Remuneration policy and 
company performance

The compensation structures explained below 
are designed to attract suitably qualified 
candidates, reward the achievement of strategic 
objectives, and achieve the broader outcome 
of creation of value for shareholders. The 
compensation structures take into account:

•	 the capability and experience of the 
key management personnel;

•	 the key management personnel’s ability to 
control the relevant segments’ performance;

•	 the Consolidated entity’s 
performance including:

 - the Consolidated entity’s earnings;
 -  the growth in earnings per share and 

return on shareholder wealth; and
•	 the amount of incentives within each key 

management personnel’s compensation.
Compensation packages include a mix of 
fixed and variable compensation and short-
term and long-term performance-based 
incentives. The mix of these components is 
based on the role the individual performs. 

In addition to their salaries, the Consolidated 
entity also provides non-cash benefits 
to its key management personnel, 
and contributes to a post-employment 
superannuation plan on their behalf. 

Fixed compensation
Fixed compensation consists of base 
compensation (which is calculated on a total 
cost basis and includes any fringe benefits tax 
(“FBT”) charges related to employee benefits 
including motor vehicles), as well as employer 
contributions to superannuation funds.

Compensation levels are reviewed annually 
by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee and Managing Director/
Chief Executive Officer through a process 
that considers individual, segment and 
overall performance of the Consolidated 
entity. In addition, external consultants 
provide analysis and advice to ensure the 
directors and executives’ compensation is 
competitive in the marketplace. An executive’s 
compensation is also reviewed on promotion.

performance-linked compensation
Performance-linked compensation includes 
both short-term and long-term incentives and is 
designed to reward key management personnel 
for meeting or exceeding their financial and 
personal objectives. The short-term incentive 
(“STI”) is an ‘at risk’ bonus provided in the form 
of cash, while the long-term incentive (“LTI”) is 
provided as options over ordinary shares of the 
Company under the rules of the Domino’s Pizza 
Executive Share and Option Plan (“ESOP”). 

short-term incentive bonus
Each year the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee sets the key performance indicators 
(“KPI’s”) for the Managing Director/Chief 
Executive Officer and the Managing Director/
Chief Executive Officer sets the KPI’s for 
the other key management personnel. The 
KPI’s generally include measures relating 
to the Consolidated entity, the relevant 
segment, and the individual, and include 
financial, people, customer, strategy and 
risk measures. The measures are chosen as 
they directly align the individual’s reward to 
the KPI’s of the Consolidated entity and to 
its strategy and performance. The Company 
undertakes a rigorous and detailed annual 
forecasting and budget process. The Board 
believes achievement of the annual forecast 
and budget is therefore the most relevant 
short-term performance condition.

The financial performance objectives include 
but are not limited to “Earnings before Interest, 
Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation” (“EBITDA”), 
“Net Profit”, “Corporate store EBITDA”, 
“Franchise operations EBITDA” and Net Profit 
After Tax (“NPAT”), compared to budget and 
last year. The non-financial objectives vary 
with position and responsibility and include 
measures such as achieving strategic outcomes, 
percentage savings, customer satisfaction, 
hygiene and training and staff development.

At the end of the financial year the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee and Managing 
Director/Chief Executive Officer assess the 
actual performance of the Consolidated 
entity, the relevant segment and individual 
against the KPI’s set at the beginning of the 
financial year. No bonus is awarded where 
performance objectives are not achieved.

The Managing Director/Chief Executive 
Officer recommends to the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee the performance 
bonus amounts of individuals for approval by the 
Board. The method of assessment was chosen 
as it provides the Committee with an objective 
assessment of the individual’s performance.

long-term incentive
Options are issued under the ESOP (made 
in accordance with thresholds set in plans 
approved by the Board on 11 April 2005), and 
it provides for key management personnel to 
receive a number of options, as determined 
by the Board, over ordinary shares. The ability 
to exercise the options is conditional upon 
the Consolidated entity achieving earnings 
per share growth of 10% for options granted 
in May 2005 and some options granted in 
September 2007, budgeted net profit before 
tax for its European operations for options 
granted in December 2006, budget net profit 
before tax for group operations for options 
granted in August and September 2007 and 
annual compound earnings per share growth of 
between 10% and 12.5% for options granted 
in December 2008 and April 2009. A long-term 
bonus incentive has been established for two 
senior management personnel in Europe linked 
to the achievement of EBIT, store count and 
sales targets, as applicable, for the financial 
years 30 June 2007 to 30 June 2011.
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The Nomination and Remuneration Committee considers this equity performance-linked compensation structure to be appropriate as key management 
personnel only receive a benefit where there is a corresponding direct benefit to shareholders.

The tables below set out summary information about the Consolidated entity’s earnings and movements in shareholder wealth for the five years to 3 July 2011:

3 July 2011
$’000

4 July 2010
$’000

28 June 2009
$’000

29 June 2008
$’000

1 July 2007
$’000

Revenue  246,659  236,074  239,015  229,587  230,056 

Net profit before tax  29,668  23,722  20,263  17,018  12,346 

Net profit after tax  21,435  17,814  15,353  11,834  9,129 

3 July 2011
$’000

4 July 2010
$’000

28 June 2009
$’000

29 June 2008
$’000

1 July 2007
$’000

Share price at start of year  5.45  3.20  3.65  3.45  3.90 

Share price at end of year  6.22  5.45  3.20  3.65  3.45 

Interim dividend 1  7,114  4,095  2,977  2,639  2,542 

Final dividend 1, 2  7,867  8,073  5,443  4,435  4,098 

Basic earnings per share 31.3 cents 26.2 cents 22.6 cents 18.4 cents 14.8 cents

Diluted earnings per share 30.9 cents 25.9 cents 22.5 cents 18.3 cents 14.7 cents

1 Franked to 100% at 30% corporate income tax rate. 
2 Based on number of shares outstanding as at 3 July 2011.

Remuneration of directors and senior management

2011

short-term employee BeneFits

post- 
employ-

ment 
BeneFits other 

lonG-term 
employee 
BeneFits 

$

termi-
nation 

BeneFits 
$

share-
Based 

payment

total 
$

% oF 
compensa-

tion For 
the year 

consistinG 
oF options      

%

salary & 
Fees (ii) 

$
Bonus 

$

non- 
monetary 

$

superan-
nuation 

$

options & 
riGhts 

$

non-executive directors
Ross Adler 117,500  - 3,306 10,575  -  -  - 131,381  -  

Barry Alty 77,500  - 3,306 6,975  -  -  - 87,781  -  

grant Bourke 67,500  - 3,306 6,075  -  -  - 76,881  -  

Paul Cave 67,500  - 3,306 6,075  -  -  - 76,881  -  

executive director
Don Meij 571,822 200,000 3,306 15,285 21,422  - 44,657 856,492 5.21%

executive oFFicers
Richard Coney 252,462 96,000 37,744 15,233 5,013  - 43,723 450,175 9.71%

Andy Masood (iii) 52,803  - 3,498 4,107 8,293 33,161 7,442 109,304 6.81%

Andrew Megson (i) 270,123  - 94,334  -  -  - 35,118 399,575 8.79%

Andrew Rennie (i) 359,568 153,125 15,893 15,779  -  - 45,034 589,399 7.64%

Melanie gigon (iv) 205,954 2,204 4,254  -  -  - 12,770 225,182 5.67%

Kerri Hayman (v) 36,245  - 276 3,428 48 53,013 (14,509) 78,501 (18.48%)

Craig Ryan 175,548 37,059 3,306 15,209  -  - 7,442 238,564 3.12%

Allan Collins 296,269 105,000 3,306 15,805  -  - 11,163 431,543 2.59%

John Harney 172,743 65,585 3,306 15,209  -  - 7,442 264,285 2.82%

Chris O’Dwyer 189,108 60,000 3,306 14,821  -  - 15,442 282,677 5.46%

Patrick McMichael 142,129 190,000 13,549 16,639  -  -  - 362,317  -  

3,054,774 908,973 199,302 161,215 34,776 86,174 215,724 4,660,938 4.63%

(i) The short-term bonus and long-term bonus and the options are dependent on satisfaction of performance conditions. 
(ii) Salary & fees 2011 are for 52 weeks. 
(iii) Andy Masood resigned 15 October 2010 
(iv) Melanie gigon became a member of key management personnel on 2 August 2010 
(v) Kerri Hayman resigned 31 July 2010

2010

short-term employee BeneFits

post- 
employ-

ment 
BeneFits other 

lonG-term 
employee 
BeneFits 

$

termi-
nation 

BeneFits 
$

share-
Based 

payment

total 
$

% oF 
compensa-

tion For 
the year 

consistinG 
oF options      

%

salary & 
Fees (ii) 

$
Bonus 

$

non- 
monetary 

$

superan-
nuation 

$

options & 
riGhts 

$

non-executive directors

Ross Adler 119,760  - 2,560 10,575  -  -  - 132,895  -  

Barry Alty 78,990  - 2,560 6,958  -  -  - 88,508  -  

grant Bourke 68,798  - 2,560 6,075  -  -  - 77,433  -  

Paul Cave 68,798  - 2,560 6,075  -  -  - 77,433  -  

executive director

Don Meij 529,521 250,000 2,560 14,461 20,459  - 116,629 933,630 12.49%

executive oFFicers

Richard Coney 243,281 87,317 24,142 14,461 7,785  - 44,563 421,549 10.57%

Andy Masood 186,218 29,484 27,275 14,461 5,662  - 7,585 270,685 2.80%

Andrew Megson (i) 297,497  - 110,184  -  -  - 35,793 443,474 8.07%

Andrew Rennie (i) 355,737 34,629 147,962  -  -  - 45,900 584,228 7.86%

Kerri Hayman 237,462 25,500 2,560 14,461 6,018  - 11,275 297,276 3.79%

Craig Ryan 175,592 51,224 2,560 14,461  -  - 7,585 251,422 3.02%

Allan Collins 275,398 24,369 2,560 14,461  -  - 11,378 328,166 3.47%

John Harney 172,049 44,828 2,560 14,461  -  - 7,585 241,483 3.14%

Chris O’Dwyer 175,515 42,000 2,560 14,461  -  - 15,739 250,275 6.29%

Steve Klaassen 7,324  - 337  -  -  - 7,661  -  

Patrick McMichael 152,450 165,000 2,560 14,461  -  -  - 334,471  -  

3,144,390 754,351 337,723 160,169 39,924  - 304,032 4,740,589 6.41%

(i) The short-term bonus and long-term bonus and the options are dependent on satisfaction of performance conditions. 
(ii) Salary & fees 2010 are for 53 weeks.

No director or senior management person appointed during the period received a payment as part of his or her consideration for agreeing to hold the position.

Bonuses and share-based payments granted as compensation for the financial year
Bonuses
Don Meij, Richard Coney, Andrew Rennie, Melanie gigon, Craig Ryan, Allan Collins, John Harney and Chris O’Dwyer were granted on 9 August 2011  
a cash bonus for their performance during the year ended 3 July 2011. Patrick McMichael and Allan Collins received a bonus during the year on achieving 
their performance criteria. The amounts were determined and approved by the Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer and the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee.  

No other bonuses were granted during 2011.
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short-term incentive bonus

included in 
compensation

$ (i)

 percentaGe 
vested in year

 %

percentaGe 
ForFeited in 

year
% (ii)

directors

Don Meij 200,000 40 60 

Key manaGement personnel

Richard Coney 96,000 80 20 

Andrew Megson  -  - 100 

Andrew Rennie 153,125 73 27 

Melanie gigon 2,204 10 90 

Craig Ryan 37,059 65 35 

Allan Collins 105,000 100  - 

John Harney 65,585 100  - 

Chris O’Dwyer 60,000 100  - 

Patrick McMichael 190,000 100  - 

(i)  Amounts included in compensation for the financial year represent the amount that vested in the financial year based on achievement of personal goals and satisfaction of specified 
performance criteria. No amounts vest in future financial years in respect of the bonus schemes for the current financial year.

(ii) The amounts forfeited are due to the performance or service criteria not being met in relation to the current financial year.

long term bonuses
Long term bonuses payable to directors and senior management that are subject to performance and service criteria:

vested as at  
3 July 2011 

$

ForFeited as at  
3 July 2011 

$

Future Financial 
years minimum  

$

Future Financial 
years maximum (i) 

$ Grant date

executive oFFicers

Andrew Megson  - 1,850,000  -  -  - 

Andrew Rennie  - 1,060,000  -  -  - 

(i) The executive officers have not met the performance and service criteria for the bonus.

executive share and option plan
The Company established the ESOP to assist in the recruitment, reward, retention and motivation of directors and executives of the Company (“the participants”).

In accordance with the provisions of the scheme, executives within the Company, to be determined by the Board, are granted options for no consideration 
to purchase parcels of shares at various exercise prices. Each option confers an entitlement to subscribe for and be issued one share, credited as fully paid, 
at the exercise price.

Options issued under the ESOP may not be transferred unless the Board determines otherwise. The Company has no obligation to apply for quotation of the 
options on the ASx. However, the Company must apply to the ASx for official quotation of shares issued on the exercise of the options.

At any one time, the total number of options on issue under the ESOP that have neither been exercised nor lapsed will not exceed 5.0% of the total number 
of shares in the capital of the Company on issue prior to 30 April 2009. 

Effective 30 April 2009, the Company must not 
issue any shares or grant any option under this 
plan if, immediately after the issue or grant, 
the sum of the total number of unissued shares 
over which options, rights or other options 
(which remain outstanding) have been granted 
under this plan and any other group employee 
incentive scheme would exceed 7.5% of the total 
number of shares on issue on a Fully Diluted 
Basis at the time of the proposed issue or grant.

Fully Diluted Basis means the number of 
shares which would be on issue if all those 
securities of the Company which are capable 

of being converted into shares, were converted 
into shares. If the number of shares into 
which the securities are capable of being 
converted cannot be calculated at the relevant 
time, those shares will be disregarded.

The Company amended the ESOP Rules to 
allow favourable French income tax and social 
tax treatment to apply to income arising from 
the exercise of options and sale of underlying 
shares by personnel based in France. The 
amendments take effect through a specific 
French Addendum to the ESOP Rules which 
was formally adopted by the Board on 18 July 

2007. In accordance with the ESOP Rules, the 
Company obtained the consent of 75% of the 
option-holders affected by the amendment.

The French Addendum is applicable to all current 
and future options held by employees based in 
France, imposing a minimum holding period of 
at least one year from grant date before options 
may be exercised, subject to exercise conditions. 
In addition, a sale restriction to a maximum 3 
years is imposed thereby effectively restricting 
the ability to sell the underlying shares issued 
on exercise of options until at least the fourth 
anniversary of the grant date of the options.

At the date the French Addendum was adopted, the following options in issue were affected:

option 
series

numBer 
oF  

options
exercise 

price vestinG date expiry date exercise condition

marKet price oF un-
derlyinG share as at 

18 July 2007

(3) 112,500 $2.20 31 August 2006 31 August 2008 Company achieves Prospectus forecast 
EPS for the year ended 30 June 2006

$3.18

(4) 112,500 $2.20 31 August 2007 31 August 2009 Company achieves EPS growth  
pre-amortisation over the financial year 
to 30 June 2007 of at least 10%.

$3.18

(5) 112,500 $2.20 31 August 2008 31 August 2010 Company achieves EPS growth  
pre-amortisation over the financial year 
to 30 June 2008 of at least 10%.

$3.18

There was no significant difference between the total of the fair value of the options affected by the adoption of the French Addendum, immediately before 
the adoption and the total of the fair value of the options immediately after adoption.

During the financial year, the following share-based payment arrangements were in existence:

options series Grant date expiry date
Grant date  
Fair value exercise price vestinG date

(5) Issued 10 May 2005 10 May 2005 31 August 2010 $0.43 $2.20 31 August 2008

(6) Issued 8 December 2006** 8 December 2006 31 August 2013 $0.86 $3.88 31 August 2011

(7) Issued 22 August 2007 22 August 2007 31 August 2010 $0.10 $3.88 31 August 2008

(8) Issued 22 August 2007* 22 August 2007 31 August 2013 $0.37 (i) $3.88 31 August 2011

(9) Issued 10 September 2007* 10 September 2007 31 August 2013 $0.43 (ii) $3.88 31 August 2011

(10) Issued 3 December 2008** 3 December 2008 31 August 2014 $0.42 $3.50 31 August 2011

(11) Issued 30 April 2009* 30 April 2009 31 August 2014 $0.44 $3.50 31 August 2011

* It is a condition of exercise that the optionholder be an employee of the Company at 31 August 2011. 
** It is a condition of exercise that the optionholder be a director of the Company as at 31 August 2011. 
(i) Tranche 1 consisting of 158,000 options were valued at nil at grant date. 
(ii) Tranche 1 consisting of 40,000 options were valued at nil at grant date.

Other than the considerations noted above and as set out on page 40 – 41, there are no further service or performance criteria that need to be met in 
relation to options granted under series (3) – (5) and (7) before the beneficial interest vests in the recipient. under series (8), (9), and (11) there is an 
exercise condition that the optionholder must be an employee of the Company at 31 August 2011. under series (6) and (10) there is an exercise condition 
that the optionholder be a director of the Company at 31 August 2011.
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During the year, the following directors and senior management exercised options that were granted to them as part of their compensation. Each option 
converts into one ordinary share of DPE Limited.

name
no. oF

options exercised
no. oF ordinary shares 
oF dpe limited issued amount paid

amount
unpaid

Andrew Rennie  112,500  112,500 $247,500 $nil

Kerri Hayman  5,000  5,000 $11,000 $nil

The following table summarises the value of options granted, exercised or lapsed during the financial year to directors and senior management:

name

value oF options 
Granted at the  

Grant date (i)

$

value oF options  
exercised at the  

exercise date
$

value oF options 
lapsed at the  

date oF lapse (ii)

$

Andrew Rennie  -   247,500  - 

Kerri Hayman  -   11,000  465,600 

(i)  The value of options granted during the period is recognised in compensation over the vesting period of the grant, in accordance with Australian accounting standards.
(ii)  The value of options lapsing during the period due to the failure to satisfy a vesting condition is determined assuming the vesting condition had been satisfied. 

contracts for services of key management personnel
executive service contracts 

name
term oF 

contract
contract  

commencement

notice  
termination – 
By company

notice  
termination – 
By executive termination payment

Richard Coney Ongoing 16 May 2005 6 months 6 months Amount equal to 6 months compensation

Craig Ryan 3 yrs 8 August 2009 3 months 3 months Amount equal to 3 months compensation

Allan Collins 3 yrs 8 January 2010 3 months 3 months Amount equal to 3 months compensation

Andrew Megson 5 yrs 3 July 2006 6 months 6 months Amount equal to 6 months compensation

Don Meij Ongoing 11 April 2005 12 months 12 months Amount equal to 12 months compensation

Andrew Rennie 5 yrs 16 August 2010 6 months 6 months Amount equal to 6 months compensation

John Harney Ongoing 2 July 2010 3 months 3 months Amount equal to 3 months compensation

Chris O’Dwyer 3 yrs 22 September 2008 3 months 3 months Amount equal to 3 months compensation

Patrick McMichael 3 yrs 16 February 2009 3 months 3 months Amount equal to 3 months compensation

Melanie gigon 3 yrs 2 August 2010 6 months 6 months Amount equal to 6 months compensation
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Directors’ Report continued Auditor’s independent Declaration
Domino’s Pizza enterprises limited 

The directors believe that the compensation 
for each of the key management personnel is 
appropriate for the duties allocated to them, 
the size of the Company’s business and the 
industry in which the Company operates. The 
service contracts outline the components of 
compensation paid to the executive directors 
and key management personnel but do not 
prescribe how compensation levels are 
modified year to year. Compensation levels 
are reviewed each year to take into account 
cost-of-living changes, any change in the scope 
of the role performed by the key management 
personnel and any changes required to meet 
the principles of the Remuneration Policy.

Each of the key management personnel has 
agreed that during their employment and for a 
period of up to six months afterwards, they will 
not compete with the Company, canvass, solicit, 
induce or encourage any person who is or was 
an employee of the Company at any time during 
the employment period to leave the Company 
or interfere in any way with the relationship 
between the Company and its clients, 
customers, employees, consultants or suppliers. 

Don Meij, Managing Director/Chief Executive 
Officer, has a contract of employment with 
Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited dated 
11 April 2005. The contract specifies the 
duties and obligations to be fulfilled by the 
Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer 
and provides that the Board and Managing 
Director/Chief Executive Officer will, early 
in each financial year, consult and agree 
objectives for achievement during that year. 

Don Meij’s contract provides that he may 
terminate the agreement by giving twelve 
month’s written notice. He may also resign 
on one month’s notice if there is a change 
in control of the Company, and he forms the 
reasonable opinion that there has been material 
changes to the policies, strategies or future 
plans of the Board and, as a result, he will 
not be able to implement his strategy or plans 
for the development of the Company or its 
projects. If Don Meij, resigns for this reason, 
then in recognition of his past service to the 
Company, on the date of termination, in addition 
to any payment made to him during the notice 
period or by the Company in lieu of notice, 
the Company must pay him an amount equal 
to the salary component and superannuation 
that would have been paid to him in the 12 
months after the date of termination.

A change in control occurs when any 
shareholder (either alone or together with 
its associates) having a relevant interest 
in less than 50% of the issued shares in 
the Company acquires a relevant interest 
in 50% or more of the shares on issue at 
any time in the capital of the Company or 
the composition of a majority of the Board 
changes for a reason other than retirement 
in the normal course of business or death.

non-executive directors 
The Constitution of the Company provides that 
non-executive directors are entitled to receive 
compensation for their services as determined 
by the Company in a general meeting. The 
Company has resolved that the maximum 
aggregate amount of directors’ fees (which 
does not include compensation of executive 
directors and other non-director services 
provided by directors) is $400,000 per annum. 
The non-executive directors may divide that 
compensation among themselves as they 
decide. Non–executive directors are entitled to 
be reimbursed for their reasonable expenses 
incurred in connection with the affairs of the 
Company. A non-executive director may also be 
compensated as determined by the directors 
if that director performs additional or special 
duties for the Company. A former director 
may also receive a retirement benefit of an 
amount determined by the Board of Directors in 
recognition of past services, subject to the ASx 
Listing Rules and the Corporations Act 2001.

Non-executive directors do not receive 
performance-based compensation. Directors’ 
fees cover all main Board activities.

Fees for the current financial year for the 
non-executive directors were $67,500 
per director per annum (2010: $68,798 
for 53 weeks), $77,500 per annum for 
the Chairman of the Audit Committee 
(2010: $78,990 for 53 weeks) and for the 
Chairman of the Board was $117,500 per 
annum (2010: $119,760 for 53 weeks).

Signed in accordance with a resolution of 
the directors made pursuant to s.298(2) 
of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

ross adler
Chairman 
Sydney, 9 August 2011

don meij
Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer 
Sydney, 9 August 2011

9 August 2011

The Directors
Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited
Level 8, TAB Building
240 Sandgate Road
ALBION QLD 4010

Dear Directors,

domino’s pizza enterprises limited

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following declaration of independence to the directors of 
Dominos Pizza Enterprises Limited.

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Dominos Pizza Enterprises Limited for the financial year ended 3 July 2011, I declare that to 
the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.  

 

yours sincerely

deloitte touche tohmatsu

r d Wanstall
Partner 
Chartered Accountants

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060

Riverside Centre
Level 25
123 Eagle Street
Brisbane QLD 4000
gPO Box 1463
Brisbane QLD 4001 Australia

Dx 115
Tel:  +61 (0) 7 3308 7000
Fax:  +61 (0) 7 3308 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

Liability limited is a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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independent auditor’s report 
to the members of Domino’s Pizza enterprises limited

report on the Financial report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited, which comprises the statement of financial position as at  
3 July 2011, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of cash flows and the statement of changes in equity for the year ended on that date, 
notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of the Consolidated entity, 
comprising the Company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year as set out on pages 52 to 117.  

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 3, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting 
Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control, relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view, in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We confirm that the independence declaration 
required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the directors of Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited, would be in the same terms if given to 
the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report. 

Opinion

In our opinion: 

(a) the financial report of Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated entity’s financial position as at 3 July 2011 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; 
and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) the consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 3.

report on the remuneration report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 40 to 48 of the Directors’ Report for the year ended 3 July 2011. The directors of the Company 
are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Opinion

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited for the year ended 3 July 2011, complies with section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001.  

deloitte touche tohmatsu

r d Wanstall
Partner 
Chartered Accountants
Brisbane, 9 August 2011

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060

Riverside Centre
Level 25
123 Eagle Street
Brisbane QLD 4000
gPO Box 1463
Brisbane QLD 4001 Australia

Dx 115
Tel:  +61 (0) 7 3308 7000
Fax:  +61 (0) 7 3308 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

Liability limited is a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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The directors declare that:
(a)  in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be 

able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable;
(b)  in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements are in compliance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards, as stated in note 3.1 to the financial statements;
(c)  in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including 

compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the Consolidated entity; and

(d) the directors have been given the declarations required by s.295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

don meij
Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer 
Sydney,  9 August 2011
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note
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Revenue 5 162,151 158,280 

Other revenue 7 84,508 77,794 

Other gains and losses 8 1,148 2,166 

Food and paper expenses (76,463) (75,538)

Employee benefits expense 11 (62,760) (59,657)

Plant and equipment costs (6,923) (6,601)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 11 (8,698) (8,004)

Occupancy expenses (7,157) (7,295)

Finance costs 9 (734) (797)

Marketing expenses (11,555) (12,407)

Store related expenses (5,770) (6,338)

Communication expenses (5,193) (4,222)

Other expenses (32,886) (33,659)

profit before tax 29,668 23,722 

Income tax expense 10 (8,233) (5,908)

profit for the year from continuing operations 11 21,435 17,814 

discontinued operations

Profit for the year from discontinued operations  -   -  

profit for the year 21,435 17,814 

other comprehensive income

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations (3,358) (6,014)

gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges taken to equity 467 255 

gain/(loss) on net investment hedge taken to equity 1,159 2,467 

Other  -  444 

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income (488) (817)

other comprehensive income for the period (net of tax) (2,220) (3,665)

total comprehensive income for the year 19,215 14,149 

earnings per share:

From continuing operations

Basic (cents per share) 12 31.3 cents 26.2 cents

Diluted (cents per share) 12 30.9 cents 25.9 cents

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 58 to 117. 

note
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

assets  
current assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 37 28,085 16,241 

Trade and other receivables 13 18,615 21,724 

Other financial assets 14 1,361 2,168 

Inventories 15 4,191 3,537 

Other 21 4,384 4,446 

56,636 48,116 

Assets classified as held for sale 16 772 843 

total current assets 57,408 48,959 

non-current assets

Other financial assets 14 10,515 14,750 

Property, plant & equipment 18 34,378 30,812 

Deferred tax assets 10 1,383 1,767 

goodwill 19 47,485 45,548 

Other intangible assets 20 8,944 6,777 

Other 21 41 61 

total non-current assets 102,746 99,715 

total assets 160,154 148,674 

liaBilities
current liabilities

Trade and other payables 22 30,528 25,282 

Borrowings 23 15,076 40 

Other financial liabilities 24 203 604 

Current tax liabilities 10 3,111 3,004 

Provisions 25 2,164 2,171 

total current liabilities 51,082 31,101 

non-current liabilities

Borrowings 23 468 13,914 

Other financial liabilities 24 566 1,192 

Provisions 25 414 476 

Deferred tax liabilities 10 2,051  -  

Other 26 657 1,644 

total non-current liabilities 4,156 17,226 

total liabilities 55,238 48,327 

net assets 104,916 100,347 

eQuity
capital and reserves

Issued capital 28 64,523 64,243 

Reserves 29 (5,442) (3,483)

Retained earnings 30 45,835 39,587 

total equity 104,916 100,347

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 58 to 117. 

Consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income for the year ended 3 July 2011

Consolidated statement 
of financial position as at 3 July 2011
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issued  
capital

$’000

hedGinG 
reserve

$’000

ForeiGn 
currency 

translation 
reserve

$’000

other  
reserve

$’000

retained 
earninGs

$’000
total
$’000

Balance at 29 June 2009 63,411 (999) 308 873 31,312 94,905 

Profit for the period  -   -   -   -  17,814 17,814 

Other comprehensive income  -  1,905 (6,014) 444  -  (3,665)

Total comprehensive income for the period  -  1,905 (6,014) 444 17,814 14,149 

Shares issued 832  -   -   -   -  832 

Payment of dividends  -   -   -   -  (9,539) (9,539)

Balance at 4 July 2010 64,243 906 (5,706) 1,317 39,587 100,347 

Balance at 5 July 2010 64,243 906 (5,706) 1,317 39,587 100,347 

Profit for the period  -   -   -   -  21,435 21,435 

Other comprehensive income  -  1,138 (3,358)  -   -  (2,220)

Total comprehensive income for the period  -  1,138 (3,358)  -  21,435 19,215 

Shares issued 280  -   -   -   -  280 

Recognition of share based payments  -   -   -  261  -  261 

Payment of dividends  -   -   -   -  (15,187) (15,187)

Balance at 3 July 2011 64,523 2,044 (9,064) 1,578 45,835 104,916

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 58 to 117. 

note
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

cash flows from operating activities   

Receipts from customers 279,329 262,650 

Payments to suppliers and employees (238,226) (235,795)

Interest received 1,367 1,414 

Interest and other costs of finance paid (734) (797)

Income taxes paid (5,699) (3,720)

Net cash generated by operating activities 37 36,037 23,752 

cash flows from investing activities

Payments for investments and business operations, net of cash acquired 37 (7,447) (9,176)

Loans repaid from third parties and franchisees 4,202 3,159 

Payment for property, plant & equipment (12,760) (10,440)

Proceeds from sale of businesses and other non-current assets 8,729 9,530 

Payments for intangible assets (4,283) (4,103)

Other investments (12)  -  

Net cash used in investing activities (11,571) (11,030)

cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 2,601 11 

Repayment of borrowings (165) (4,588)

Dividends paid (15,187) (9,539)

Proceeds from issue of equity securities 280 832 

Net cash used in financing activities (12,471) (13,284)

net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 11,995 (562)

cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 16,241 17,426 

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies (151) (623)

cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 37 28,085 16,241

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 58 to 117. 

 

Consolidated statement 
of changes in equity for the year ended 3 July 2011

Consolidated statement 
of cash flows for the year ended 3 July 2011
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1.  general information
Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited is a 
public company listed on the Australian Stock 
Exchange (trading under the symbol ‘DMP’), 
incorporated and operating in Australia, New 
Zealand, France, Belgium and The Netherlands. 

Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited’s 
registered office and its principal 
place of business are as follows:

 

registered office
8th Floor, TAB Building 
240 Sandgate Road 
Albion 
Brisbane 
Queensland 4010 
Tel: +61 (0) 7 3633 3333

principal place of business
8th Floor, TAB Building 
240 Sandgate Road 
Albion 
Brisbane 
Queensland 4010 
Tel: +61 (0) 7 3633 3333

AASB 2010-4 ‘Further Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from the Annual Improvements Project’

Except for the amendments to AASB 7 and AASB 101 described earlier this section, the application 
of AASB 2010-4 has not had any material effect on amounts reported in the financial statements.

Interpretation 19 ‘Extinguishing Financial 
Liabilities with Equity Instruments’

This Interpretation provides guidance regarding the accounting for the extinguishment of a financial 
liability by the issue of equity instruments. In particular, the equity instruments issued under such 
arrangements will be measured at their fair value, and any difference between the carrying amount 
of the financial liability extinguished and the fair value of equity instruments issued will be recognised 
in profit or loss. To date, the Consolidated entity has not entered into transactions of this nature.

2.3 standards and interpretations in issue not yet adopted
At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the Standards and Interpretations listed below were in issue but not yet effective.

standard/interpretation
effective for annual reporting  
periods beginning on or after

expected to be initially applied  
in the financial year ending

AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures  
(revised December 2009), AASB 2009-12 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards

1 January 2011 30 June 2012

AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
and AASB2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010)

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2009-14 Amendments to Australian Interpretation  
– Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement

1 January 2011 30 June 2012

AASB 2010-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 1 January 2011 30 June 2012

AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets

1 July 2011 30 June 2012

AASB 2010-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Deferred Tax: Recovery of underlying Assets

1 January 2012 30 June 2013

The following IASB Standards and IFRIC Interpretations are also in issue but not yet effective, although Australian equivalent Standards/Interpretations 
have not yet been issued.

standard/interpretation
effective for annual reporting  
periods beginning on or after

expected to be initially applied  
in the financial year ending

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

IFRS 13 Fair value Measurement 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (2011) 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

IAS 19 Employee Benefits (2011) 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

Comprehensive Income (Amendments to IAS 1) 1 July 2012 30 June 2013

notes to the Financial Statements

2.  Adoption of new and revised Accounting standards
2.1  standards and interpretations affecting amounts reported in the current period (and/or prior periods)
The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in the current period and have affected the amounts reported in these 
financial statements. Details of other Standards and Interpretations adopted in these financial statements that have had no effect on the amounts reported 
are set out in section 2.2.

Standards affecting presentation and disclosure
Amendments to AASB 5 Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

Disclosures in these financial statements have been modified to reflect the clarification in AASB 
2009-5 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project that the disclosure requirements in Standards other than AASB 5 do not 
generally apply to noncurrent assets classified as held for sale and discontinued operations.

Amendments to AASB 107 Statement of  
Cash Flows

The amendments (part of AASB 2009-5 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Annual Improvements Project) specify that only expenditures that result in a 
recognised asset in the statement of financial position can be classified as investing activities 
in the statement of cash flows. Consequently, cash flows in respect of development costs that 
do not meet the criteria in AASB 138 Intangible Assets for capitalisation as part of an internally 
generated intangible asset (and, therefore, are recognised in profit or loss as incurred) have 
been reclassified from investing to operating activities in the statement of cash flows.

Standards and Interpretations affecting the reported results or financial position
The impact of the changes described in this section on basic and diluted earnings per share is disclosed in note 12.

There are no new and revised Standards and Interpretations adopted in these financial statements affecting the reporting results or financial position.

2.2 standards and interpretations adopted with no effect on financial statements
The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have also been adopted in these financial statements. Their adoption has not had any 
significant impact on the amounts reported in these financial statements but may affect the accounting for future transactions or arrangements.

AASB 2009-5 ‘Further Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from the Annual Improvements Project’

Except for the amendments to AASB 5 and AASB 107 described earlier this section, the application 
of AASB 2009-5 has not had any material effect on amounts reported in the financial statements.

AASB 2009-8 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – group Cash-Settled 
Share-based Payment Transactions’

The application of AASB 2009-8 makes amendments to AASB 2 ‘Share-based Payment’ to clarify 
the scope of AASB 2, as well as the accounting for group cash-settled share-based payment 
transactions in the separate (or individual) financial statements of an entity receiving the goods 
or services when another group entity or shareholder has the obligation to settle the award.

AASB 2009-10 ‘Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – 
Classification of Rights Issues’

The application of AASB 2009-10 makes amendments to AASB 132 ‘Financial Instruments: 
Presentation’ to address the classification of certain rights issues denominated in a foreign 
currency as either an equity instrument or as a financial liability. To date, the group has not 
entered into any arrangements that would fall within the scope of the amendments.

AASB 2010-3 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the 
Annual Improvements Project’

The application of AASB 2010-3 makes amendments to AASB 3 (2008) ‘Business Combinations’ 
to clarify that the measurement choice regarding non-controlling interests at the date of 
acquisition is only available in respect of non-controlling interests that are present ownership 
interests and that entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in 
the event of liquidation. All other types of non-controlling interests are measured at their 
acquisition-date fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by other Standards.

In addition, the application of AASB 2010-3 makes amendments to AASB 3 (2008) to give 
more guidance regarding the accounting for share-based payment awards held by the 
acquiree’s employees. Specifically, the amendments specify that share-based payment 
transactions of the acquiree that are not replaced should be measured in accordance with 
AASB 2 ‘Share-based Payment’ at the acquisition date (‘market-based measure’).

The entity’s principal activities are the operation of retail food outlets and operation of franchise services.
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notes to the Financial Statements continued

3.  significant  
accounting policies

3.1 statement of compliance
These financial statements are general purpose 
financial statements which have been prepared 
in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and 
comply with other requirements of the law.

The financial statements comprise  
the consolidated financial statements of  
the Consolidated entity for the  
52-week period ended 3 July 2011.

Accounting Standards include Australian 
equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (‘A-IFRS’). Compliance 
with A-IFRS ensures that the financial 
statements and notes of the Company and the 
Consolidated entity comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’).

The financial statements were authorised for 
issue by the directors on 9 August 2011.

3.2 Basis of preparation
The financial report has been prepared on 
the basis of historical cost, except for the 
revaluation of certain financial instruments. 
Historical cost is based on the fair values 
of the consideration given in exchange 
for assets. All amounts are presented in 
Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted.

The Company is a company of the kind 
referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, 
dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with 
that Class Order amounts in the financial 
report are rounded off to the nearest thousand 
dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

The following significant accounting policies 
have been adopted in the preparation and 
presentation of the financial report:

3.3 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the financial statements of the 
Company and entities controlled by the Company 
(its subsidiaries) (referred to as ‘the Consolidated 
entity’ in these financial statements). Control is 
achieved where the Company has the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
from the effective date of acquisition or up to 
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the 
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies into line with those used 
by other members of the Consolidated entity.

All intra-group transactions, balances, 
income and expenses are eliminated 
in full on consolidation. 

3.4 Business combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are 
accounted for using the acquisition method. The 
consideration for each acquisition is measured 
at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date 
of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred 
or assumed, and equity instruments issued by 
the Consolidated entity in exchange for control 
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Where applicable, the consideration for the 
acquisition includes any asset or liability 
resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement, measured at its acquisition-
date fair value. Subsequent changes in 
such fair values are adjusted against the 
cost of acquisition where they qualify as 
measurement period adjustments (see 
below). All other subsequent changes in 
such fair values are adjusted against the 
cost of acquisition where they qualify as 
contingent consideration classified as 
an asset or liability are accounted for in 
accordance with relevant Standards. Changes 
in the fair value of contingent consideration 
classified as equity are not recognised.

Where a business combination is achieved in 
stages, the Consolidated entity previously held 
interests in the acquired entity are remeasured 
to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date 
the Consolidated entity attains control) and the 
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in 
profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests 
in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date 
that have previously been recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to 
profit or loss, where such treatment would be 
appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities that meet the 
conditions for recognition under AASB 
3(2008) are recognised at their fair value 
at the acquisition date, except that:
•	deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities 

or assets related to employee benefit 
arrangements are recognised and measured 
in accordance with AASB 112 Income Taxes 
and AASB 119 Employee Benefits respectively;

•	 liabilities or equity instruments related to 
the replacement by the Consolidated entity 
of an acquiree’s share-based payment 
awards are measured in accordance with 
AASB 2 Share-based Payment; and

•	assets (or disposal groups) that are classified 
as held for sale in accordance with AASB 
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations are measured 
in accordance with that Standard.

If the initial accounting for a business 
combination is incomplete by the end of the 
reporting period in which the combination 
occurs, the Consolidated entity reports 
provisional amounts for the items for 
which the accounting is incomplete. Those 
provisional amounts are adjusted during the 
measurement period (see below), or additional 
assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect 
new information obtained about facts and 
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition 
date that, if known, would have affected 
the amounts recognised as of that date.

The measurement period is the period 
from the date of acquisition to the date 
the Consolidated entity obtains complete 
information about facts and circumstances 
that existed as of the acquisition date – and 
is subject to a maximum of one year.

3.5 investments in associates
An associate is an entity over which the 
Consolidated entity has significant influence and 
that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a 
joint venture. Significant influence is the power 
to participate in the financial and operating 
policy decisions of the investee but has no 
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of 
associates are incorporated in these financial 
statements using the equity method of 
accounting, except when the investment is 
classified as held for sale, in which case it 
is accounted for in accordance with AASB 
5 ‘Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations’. under the equity 
method, investments in associates are carried 
in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as 
adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the 
Consolidated entity’s share of the net assets 
of the associate, less any impairment in the 
value of individual investments. Losses of an 
associate in excess of the Consolidated entity’s 
interest in that associate (which includes 
any long-term interests that, in substance, 
form part of the Consolidated entity’s net 
investment in the associate) are recognised 
only to the extent that the Consolidated entity 
has incurred legal or constructive obligations 
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over 
the Consolidated entity’s share of the net 
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities of the associate 
recognised at the date of the acquisition 
is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is 
included within the carrying amount of the 
investment and is assessed for impairment 
as part of that investment. Any excess of 
the Consolidated entity’s share of the net 
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities over the cost of 
the acquisition, after reassessment, is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

Where a group entity transacts with an associate 
of the Consolidated entity, profits and losses 
are eliminated to the extent of the Consolidated 
entity’s interest in the relevant associate.

3.6 Foreign currencies
The individual financial statements of each 
group entity are presented in its functional 
currency being the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity 
operates (its functional currency). For 
the purpose of the consolidated financial 
statements, the results and financial position 
of each entity are expressed in Australian 
dollars (‘$’), which is the functional 
currency of Domino’s Pizza Enterprises 
Limited and the presentation currency for 
the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the 
individual entities, transactions in currencies 
other than the entity’s functional currency 
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the 
rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of 
the transactions. At the end of each reporting 
period, monetary items denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items 
carried at fair value that are denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
rates prevailing on the date when the fair 
value was determined. Non-monetary items 
that are measured in terms of historical cost 
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
Exchange differences are recognised in profit or 
loss in the period in which they arise except for:
•	exchange differences on foreign currency 

borrowings relating to assets under 
construction for future productive use, which 
are included in the cost of those assets when 
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest 
costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

•	exchange differences on transactions 
entered into in order to hedge certain 
foreign currency risks (see 3.24 below 
for hedge accounting policies); and

•	exchange differences on monetary items 
receivable from or payable to a foreign 
operation for which settlement is neither 
planned or likely to occur, (therefore forming 
part of the net investment in a foreign 
operation), which are recognised initially in 
other comprehensive income and reclassified 
from equity to profit and loss on disposal 
or partial disposal of the net investment.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated 
financial statements, the assets and liabilities 
of the Consolidated entity’s foreign operations 
are expressed in Australian dollars using 
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the 
reporting period. Income and expense items 
are translated at the average exchange rates 
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated 

significantly during the period, in which case the 
exchange rates at the date of the transactions 
are used. Exchange differences arising, if 
any, are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity (attributed 
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal 
of the Consolidated entity’s entire interest in 
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving 
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes 
a foreign operation, loss of joint control over a 
jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign 
operation, or loss of significant influence over 
an associate that includes a foreign operation), 
all of the accumulated exchange differences 
in respect of that operation attributable to 
the Consolidated entity are reclassified to 
profit or loss. Any exchange differences that 
have previously been attributed to non-
controlling interests are derecognised, but 
they are not reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal (i.e. no loss 
of control) of a subsidiary that includes a 
foreign operation, the proportionate share 
of accumulated exchange differences are 
re-attributed to non-controlling interests 
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For 
all other partial disposals (i.e. of associates 
or jointly controlled entities not involving a 
change of accounting basis), the proportionate 
share of the accumulated exchange 
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

goodwill and fair value adjustments arising 
on the acquisition of a foreign operation are 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
operation and translated at the closing rate.

3.7 Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are 
recognised net of the amount of goods 
and services tax (“gST”), except:

(i)   where the amount of gST incurred 
is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, it is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of an asset or 
as part of an item of expense; or

(ii)  for receivables and payables which 
are recognised inclusive of gST.

The net amount of gST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority is included 
as part of receivables or payables.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow 
statement on a gross basis. The gST component 
of cash flows arising from investing and 
financing activities which is recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority 
is classified within operating cash flows.

3.8 revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received or receivable. 

3.8.1 Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised 
when the Consolidated entity has transferred 
to the buyer the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the goods.

3.8.2 Franchise income
Franchise income is recognised on an 
accrual basis in accordance with the 
substance of the relevant agreement.

3.8.3 Rendering of services
Service revenue relates primarily to store 
building services and is recognised by reference 
to the stage of completion of the contract.

3.8.4 Royalties
Royalty revenue is recognised on an accrual 
basis in accordance with the substance of the 
relevant agreement (provided that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Consolidated entity and the amount of revenue 
can be measured reliably). Royalties determined 
on a time basis are recognised on a straight-
line basis over the period of the agreement. 
Royalty arrangements that are based on 
sales and other measures are recognised by 
reference to the underlying arrangement.

3.8.5 Dividend and interest revenue
Dividend revenue from investments is 
recognised when the shareholder’s right to 
receive payment has been established (provided 
that it is probable that the economic benefits 
will flow to the Consolidated entity and the 
amount of revenue can be reliably measured).

Interest revenue is recognised when it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow 
to the Consolidated entity and the amount of 
revenue can be measured reliably. Interest 
revenue is accrued on a time basis with 
reference to the principal outstanding and at 
the effective interest rate applicable, which 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts through the expected 
life of the financial asset to that asset’s net 
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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3.9 share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to 
employees and others providing similar 
services are measured at the fair value of 
the equity instrument at the grant date. The 
fair value is measured by use of a binomial 
model. The expected life used in the model 
has been adjusted, based on management’s 
best estimate, for the effects of non-
transferability, exercise restrictions, and 
behavioural considerations. Details regarding the 
determination of the fair value of equity-settled 
share-based transactions are set out in note 33. 

The fair value determined at the grant date 
of the equity-settled share-based payments 
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the 
vesting period, based on the Consolidated 
entity’s estimate of equity instruments that 
will eventually vest. At each reporting period, 
the Consolidated entity revises its estimate of 
the number of equity instruments expected 
to vest. The impact of the revision of the 
original estimates, if any, is recognised in 
profit or loss over the remaining vesting 
period, with corresponding adjustment to the 
equity-settled employee benefits reserve.

The policy described above is applied to 
all equity-settled share-based payments 
that were granted after 7 November 
2002 that vested after 1 January 2005. 
No amount has been recognised in the 
financial statements in respect of the other 
equity-settled share-based payments.

Equity-settled share-based payment 
transactions with other parties are measured at 
the fair value of the goods and services received, 
except where the fair value cannot be estimated 
reliably, in which case they are measured at 
the fair value of the equity instruments granted, 
measured at the date the entity obtains the 
goods or the counterparty renders the service. 

3.10 taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of 
the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

3.10.1 Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable 
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from 
profit as reported in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income because of items of 
income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years and items that are never taxable 
or deductible. The Consolidated entity’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using tax 
rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of this reporting period.

3.10.2 Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the financial statements 
and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 
are generally for all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profits will be available against 
which those deductible temporary differences 
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from goodwill or from the 
initial recognition of goodwill (other than in 
a business combination) or other assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither 
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for 
taxable temporary differences associated with 
investments in subsidiaries and associates 
and interests in joint ventures except where 
the Consolidated entity is able to control the 
reversal of the temporary differences and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred 
tax assets arising from deductible temporary 
differences associated with these investments 
and interests are only recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that there will be sufficient 
taxable profits against which to utilise the 
benefits of the temporary differences they are 
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 
is reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profits will be available to allow 
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in 
the period in which the liability is settled or the 
asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities 
and assets reflects the tax consequences 
that would follow from the manner in which 
the Consolidated entity expects, at the end of 
the reporting period, to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset 
when there is a legally enforceable right to 
set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when they related to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Consolidated entity intends to settle its current 
tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

3.10.3 Current and deferred tax for the period
Current and deferred tax is recognised as an 
expense or income in the profit or loss, except 
when they relate to items that are recognised 
outside the profit or loss (whether in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity), 
in which case the tax is also recognised 
outside the profit or loss, or where they arise 
from the initial accounting for a business 
combination. In the case of a business 
combination, the tax effect is included in the 
accounting for the business combination.

3.10.4 Tax consolidation
The Company and all its wholly-owned 
Australian resident entities are part of a tax 
consolidated group under Australian taxation 
law. Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited 
is the head entity in the tax-consolidated 
group. Tax expense/income, deferred tax 
liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from 
temporary differences of the members of the 
tax-consolidated group are recognised in the 
separate financial statements of the members of 
the tax-consolidated group using the ‘separate 
taxpayer within group approach’ by reference to 
the carrying amounts in the separate financial 
statements of each entity and the tax values 
applying under tax consolidation. Current tax 
liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets 
arising from unused tax losses and relevant tax 
credits of the members of the tax-consolidated 
group are recognised by the Company (as 
head entity in the tax-consolidated group).

The entities in the tax-consolidated group have 
not entered into a tax sharing agreement or 
tax funding agreement. Income tax liabilities 
payable to the tax authorities in respect of the 
tax-consolidated group are recognised in the 
financial statements of the parent entity.

3.11 cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand 
deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, 
highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash, 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value and have a maturity of three 
months or less at the date of acquisition.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings 
in current liabilities in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.

3.12 Financial assets
All financial assets are recognised and 
derecognised on trade date where the purchase 
or sale of a financial asset is under a contract 
whose terms require delivery of the financial 
asset within the time frame established 
by the market concerned, and are initially 
measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, 
except for those financial assets classified 
as at fair value through profit or loss, which 
are initially measured at fair value.

Financial assets are classified into the following 
specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair 
value through profit or loss’ (FvTPL), ‘held-to-
maturity investments’, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) 
‘financial assets’, and ‘loans and receivables’. 
The classification depends on the nature 
and purpose of the financial assets and is 
determined at the time of initial recognition.

3.12.1 Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method 
of calculating the amortised cost of a debt 
instrument and of allocating interest income 
over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees on points 
paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or 
(where appropriate) a shorter period, to the 
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest 
rate basis for debt instruments other than 
those financial assets as at FvTPL.

3.12.2 Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets are classified as at FvTPL 
when the financial asset is either held for 
trading or it is designated as at FvTPL.

A financial asset is classified 
as held for trading if:
•	 It has been acquired principally for the 

purpose of selling it in the near term; or
•	on initial recognition it is a part of an 

identified portfolio of financial instruments 
that the Consolidated entity manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern 
of short-term profit-taking; or

•	 it is a derivative that is not designated 
and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial 
asset held for trading may be designated 
as at FvTPL upon initial recognition if:
•	such designation eliminates or significantly 

reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

•	 the financial asset forms part of a group of 
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, 
which is managed and its performance is 
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance 
with the Consolidated entity’s documented 
risk management or investment strategy, 
and information about the grouping is 
provided internally on that basis; or

•	 it forms part of a contract containing 
one or more embedded derivatives, 
and AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement permits 
the entire combined contract (asset or 
liability) to be designated as at FvTPL.

Financial assets at FvTPL are stated at fair 
value, with any gains or losses arising on 
re-measurement recognised in profit or loss. 
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss 
incorporates any dividend or interest earned on 
the financial asset and is included in the ‘other 
gains and losses’ line item in the statement 
of comprehensive income. Fair value is 
determined in the manner described in note 32.

3.12.3 Held-to-maturity investments
Bills of exchange and debentures with fixed 
or determinable payments and fixed maturity 
dates where the Consolidated entity has the 
positive intent and ability to hold to maturity 
are classified as held-to-maturity investments. 
Held-to-maturity investments are recorded 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method less impairment, with revenue 
recognised on an effective yield basis.

3.12.4 Available-for-sale financial assets
Financial assets held by the Consolidated 
entity are classified as being AFS and are 
stated at fair value. Fair value is determined 
in the manner described in note 32. gains and 
losses arising from changes in fair value are 
recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the investments 
revaluation reserve, with the exception of 
impairment losses, interest calculated using the 
effective interest method, and foreign exchange 
gains and losses on monetary assets, which 
are recognised in profit or loss. Where the 
investment is disposed of or is determined to be 
impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
accumulated in the investments revaluation 
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on AFS equity instruments 
are recognised in profit and loss when 
the Consolidated entity’s right to receive 
the dividends is established.

The fair value of AFS monetary assets 
denominated in a foreign currency is determined 
in that foreign currency and translated at the 
spot rate at the end of the reporting period. 
The foreign exchange gains and losses that 
are recognised in profit or loss are determined 
based on the amortised cost of the monetary 
asset. Other foreign exchange gains and losses 
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

3.12.5 Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables 
that have fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market are 
classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans 
and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method less 
impairment. Interest income is recognised 
by applying the effective interest rate, 
except for short-term receivables when the 
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

3.12.6 Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at FvTPL, 
are assessed for indicators of impairment at 
the end of each reporting period. Financial 
assets are considered to be impaired 
where there is objective evidence that, as a 
result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the financial 
asset, the estimated future cash flows of 
the investment have been affected.

For certain categories of financial asset, such 
as trade receivables, assets that are assessed 
not to be impaired individually are, in addition, 
assessed for impairment on a collective basis. 
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio 
of receivables could include the Consolidated 
entity’s past experience of collecting payments, 
an increase in the number of delayed payments 
in the portfolio past the average credit period 
of 30 days, as well as observable changes 
in national or local economic conditions that 
correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, 
the amount of the impairment recognised 
is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted 
at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of financial assets is 
reduced by the impairment loss directly for all 
financial assets with the exception of trade 
receivables, where the carrying amount is 
reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. When a trade receivable is considered 
uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited 
against the allowance account. Changes 
in the carrying amount of the allowance 
account are recognised in profit or loss.

notes to the Financial Statements continued
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notes to the Financial Statements continued

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be 
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income 
are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

With the exception of AFS equity instruments, 
if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed through profit or loss to the extent the 
carrying amount of the investment at the date 
the impairment is reversed does not exceed 
what the amortised cost would have been 
had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment 
losses previously recognised in profit or loss are 
not reversed through profit or loss. Any increase 
in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss 
is recognised in other comprehensive income.

3.12.7 Derecognition of financial assets
The Consolidated entity derecognises a financial 
asset only when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers 
the financial asset and substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
to another entity. If the Consolidated entity 
neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and 
continues to control the transferred asset, the 
Consolidated entity recognises its retained 
interest in the asset and an associated 
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If 
the Consolidated entity retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of a 
transferred financial asset, the Consolidated 
entity continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised 
borrowing for the proceeds received.

3.13 inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. Costs, including 
an appropriate portion of fixed and variable 
overhead expenses, are assigned to 
inventories by the method most appropriate 
to each particular class of inventory, with 
the majority being valued on a first in first 
out basis. Net realisable value represents 
the estimated selling price for inventories 
less all estimated costs of completion 
and costs necessary to make the sale.

3.14 non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets and disposal groups are 
classified as held for sale if their carrying 
amount will be recovered principally through a 
sale transaction rather than through continuing 
use. This condition is regarded as met only when 
the sale is highly probable and the asset (or 
disposal group) is available for immediate sale 
in its present condition. Management must be 
committed to the sale, which should be expected 
to qualify for recognition as a completed sale 
within one year from the date of classification.

When the Consolidated entity is committed 
to a sale plan involving the loss of control of 
a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities 
of that subsidiary are classified as held for 
sale when the criteria described above are 
met, regardless of whether the Consolidated 
entity will retain a non-controlling interest 
in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) 
classified as held for sale are measured 
at the lower of their previous carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

3.15 property, plant and equipment
Plant and equipment, leasehold improvements 
and equipment under finance leases are 
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment. Cost includes expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of an item. In the event that settlement of 
all or part of the purchase consideration is 
deferred, cost is determined by discounting 
the amounts payable in the future to their 
present value as at the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is provided on property, plant 
and equipment excluding land. Depreciation 
is calculated on a straight-line basis so as 
to write off the cost of each asset over its 
expected useful life to its estimated residual 
value. Leasehold improvements are depreciated 
over the period of the lease or estimated 
useful life, whichever is the shorter, using 
the straight-line method. The estimated 
useful lives, residual values and depreciation 
method are reviewed at the end of each 
annual reporting period, with the effect of any 
changes recognised on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are 
depreciated over their expected useful lives 
on the same basis as owned assets or, where 
shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement 
of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of 
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

The following useful lives are used in 
the calculation of depreciation:

•	Plant and equipment 1 – 5 years
•	Equipment under finance leases 3 – 10 years

3.16 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets, which are assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time 
to get ready for their intended use or sale, 
are added to the cost of those assets, until 
such time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale. 

Investment income earned on the temporary 
investment of specific borrowings 
pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowing 
costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit 
or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

3.17 leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever 
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
of the leased asset to the lessee. All other 
leases are classified as operating leases.

3.17.1 Consolidated entity as lessee
Assets held under finance leases are initially 
recognised as assets of the Consolidated entity 
at their fair value at the inception date of the 
lease or, if lower, at the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. The corresponding 
liability to the lessor is included in the statement 
of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between 
finance expenses and reduction of the lease 
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate 
of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance expenses are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss, unless they are 
directly attributable to qualifying assets, in 
which case they are capitalised in accordance 
with the Consolidated entity’s general policy on 
borrowing costs (see 3.16 above). Contingent 
rentals are recognised as an expense in 
the periods in which they are incurred.

Finance leased assets are amortised 
on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the asset.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term, except where another systematic basis 
is more representative of the time pattern in 
which economic benefits from the leased asset 
are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under 
operating leases are recognised as an expense 
in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are 
received to enter into operating leases, 
such incentives are recognised as a liability. 
The aggregate benefits of incentives are 
recognised as a reduction of rental expense 
on a straight-line basis, except where another 
systematic basis is more representative of 
the time pattern in which economic benefits 
from the leased asset are consumed.

3.18 Goodwill

Policy for goodwill acquired  
prior to 1 July 2009:
goodwill acquired in a business combination 
is initially measured at its cost, being the 
excess of the cost of the business combination 
over the Consolidated entity’s interest in 
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised 
at the date of the acquisition. goodwill is 
subsequently measured at its cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses. 

Policy effective from 1 July 2009:
goodwill arising in a business combination 
is recognised as an asset at the date that 
the control is acquired (the acquisition date). 
goodwill is measured as the excess of the 
sum of the consolidation transferred, the 
amount of any non-controlling interests 
in the acquiree, and the fair value of the 
acquirer’s previously held equity interest 
in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the 
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable 
assets acquired and the liabilities incurred.

If, after reassessment, the Consolidated entity’s 
interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of 
the consideration transferred, the amount of 
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree 
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), 
the excess is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain. 
On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable 
amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Review of potential impairment:
goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for 
impairment at least annually. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each 
of the Consolidated entity’s cash-generating 
units expected to benefit from the synergies 
of the combination. Cash-generating units to 
which goodwill has been allocated are tested 
for impairment annually or more frequently 
when there is an indication that the unit may 
be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying 
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first 
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the unit and then to the other 
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the 
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. 
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill 
is not reversed in a subsequent period. 

3.19 intangible assets

3.19.1 Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets acquired separately are carried 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation 
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful 
life and amortisation method are reviewed 
at the end of each annual reporting period, 
with the effect of any changes in estimates 
being accounted for on a prospective basis.

3.19.2  Internally-generated intangible  
assets – research and  
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities 
is recognised as an expense in the 
period in which it is incurred. 

An internally-generated intangible asset 
arising from development (or from the 
development phase of an internal project) 
is recognised if, and only if, all of the 
following have been demonstrated:
•	 the technical feasibility of completing 

the intangible asset so that it will 
be available for use or sale;

•	 the intention to complete the 
intangible asset and use or sell it;

•	 the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
•	how the intangible asset will generate 

probable future economic benefits;
•	 the availability of adequate technical, 

financial and other resources to 
complete the development and to use 
or sell the intangible asset; and

•	 the ability to measure reliably the 
expenditure attributable to the intangible 
asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-
generated intangible assets is the sum of the 
expenditure incurred from the date when the 
intangible asset first meets the recognition 
criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, 
development expenditure is recognised in profit 
or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-
generated intangible assets are reported 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses, on the same 
basis as intangible assets acquired separately.

The following useful lives are used in 
the calculation of amortisation:

•	 Intangibles  2 – 4 years

3.19.3  Intangible assets acquired in a 
business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination are identified and recognised 
separately from goodwill and are initially 
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition 
date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, 
intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination are reported at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses, on the same basis as 
intangible assets acquired separately.

3.20  impairment of tangible and intangible 
assets excluding goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the 
Consolidated entity reviews the carrying 
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that 
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. 
If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if 
any). Where it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 
Consolidated entity estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and 
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, 
corporate assets are also allocated to individual 
cash-generating units, or otherwise they 
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and 
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives and intangible assets not yet available 
for use are tested for impairment annually 
and whenever there is an indication 
that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. In 
assessing the value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset for which the estimates 
of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or 
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be 
less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) 
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset 
is carried at the revalued amount, in which 
case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease (see 3.15 above).
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Where an impairment loss subsequently 
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset 
(cash-generating unit) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but 
so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset (cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of 
an impairment loss is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset 
is carried at fair value, in which case the 
reversal of the impairment loss is treated as 
a revaluation increase (see 3.15 above).

3.21 employee benefits
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing 
to employees in respect of wages and 
salaries, annual leave, long service leave, 
and sick leave when it is probable that 
settlement will be required and they are 
capable of being measured reliably.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term 
employee benefits, are measured at their 
nominal values using the remuneration rate 
expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Liabilities recognised in respect of long term 
employee benefits are measured as the 
present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made by the Consolidated 
entity in respect of services provided 
by employees up to reporting date.

Contributions to defined contribution 
superannuation plans are expensed 
when employees have rendered service 
entitling them to the contributions.

3.22 provisions
Provisions are recognised when the 
Consolidated entity has a present obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Consolidated 
entity will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the 
best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at reporting date, 
taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision 
is measured using the cash flows estimated 
to settle the present obligation, its carrying 
amount is the present value of those cash flows. 

When some or all of the economic benefits 
required to settle a provision are expected 
to be recovered from a third party, the 
receivable is recognised as an asset if it 
is virtually certain that reimbursement 
will be received and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably.

3.22.1 Onerous contracts
Present obligations arising under onerous 
contracts are recognised and measured 
as a provision. An onerous contract is 
considered to exist where the Consolidated 
entity has a contract under which the 
unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations 
under the contract exceed the economic 
benefits expected to be received under it.

3.22.2 Make good obligations
A provision is recognised for the make 
good obligations in respect of restoring 
sites to their original condition when the 
premises are vacated. Management has 
estimated the provision based on historical 
data in relation to store closure numbers 
and costs, as well as future trends that 
could differ from historical amounts. 

3.22.3  Contingent liabilities acquired in a 
business combination

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business 
combination are initially measured at fair 
value at the date of acquisition. At subsequent 
reporting periods, such contingent liabilities are 
measured at the higher of the amount that would 
be recognised in accordance with AASB 137 
‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets’ and the amount initially recognised 
less cumulative amortisation recognised in 
accordance with AASB 118 ‘Revenue’.

3.23  Financial liability and  
equity instruments

3.23.1 Classification as debt and equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as 
either liabilities or as equity in accordance with 
the substance of the contractual arrangement. 

3.23.2 Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract 
that evidences a residual interest in the 
assets of an entity after deducting all of 
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by 
the Consolidated entity are recorded at the 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

3.23.3 Financial guarantee contract liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities 
are measured initially at their fair values 
and, if not designated as at FvTPL, 
are subsequently at the higher of:
•	 the amount of the obligation under the 

contract, as determined in accordance 
with AASB 137 ‘Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets’; and

•	 the amount initially recognised less, where 
appropriate, cumulative amortisation in 
accordance with the revenue recognition 
policies set out in 3.8 above.

3.23.4 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as 
either financial liabilities ‘at FvTPL’ 
or ‘other financial liabilities’.

3.23.5 Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FvTPL 
when the financial liability is either held for 
trading or it is designated as at FvTPL.

A financial liability is classified 
as held for trading if:
•	 it has been acquired principally for the 

purpose of repurchasing in the near term; or 
•	on initial recognition it is a part of an 

identified portfolio of financial instruments 
that the Consolidated entity manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern 
of short-term profit-taking; or

•	 it is a derivative that is not designated 
and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial 
liability held for trading is designated as 
at FvTPL upon initial recognition if:
•	such designation eliminates or significantly 

reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

•	 the financial liability forms part of a group 
of financial assets or financial liabilities or 
both, which is managed and its performance 
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance 
with the Consolidated entity’s documented 
risk management or investment strategy, 
and information about the grouping is 
provided internally on that basis; or

•	 it forms part of a contract containing 
one or more embedded derivatives, 
and AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement’ permits 
the entire combined contract (asset or 
liability) to be designated as at FvTPL.

Financial liabilities at FvTPL are stated at 
fair value, with any gains or losses arising 
on re-measurement recognised in profit or 
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit 
or loss incorporates any interest paid on the 
financial liability and is included in the ‘other 
gains and losses’ line item in the statement 
of comprehensive income. Fair value is 
determined in the manner described in note 32.

3.23.6 Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including 
borrowings, are initially measured at 
fair value, net of transaction costs.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, with interest expense 
recognised on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense 
over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments through 
the expected life of the financial liability, 
or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

3.23.7 Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Consolidated entity derecognises 
financial liabilities when, and only when, 
the Consolidated entity’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire.

3.24  derivative financial instruments
The Consolidated entity enters into a 
variety of derivative financial instruments 
to manage its exposure to interest rate and 
foreign exchange rate risk, including foreign 
exchange forward contracts and interest rate 
swaps. Further details of derivative financial 
instruments are disclosed in note 32.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value 
at the date a derivative contract is entered into 
and are subsequently remeasured to their fair 
value at each reporting period. The resulting 
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately unless the derivative is designated 
and effective as a hedging instrument, in which 
event, the timing of the recognition in profit 
or loss depends on the nature of the hedge 
relationship. The Consolidated entity designates 
certain derivatives as either hedges of the 
fair value of recognised assets or liabilities 
or firm commitments (fair value hedges), 
hedges of highly probable forecast transactions 
or hedges of foreign currency risk of firm 
commitments (cash flow hedges), or hedges 
of net investments in foreign operations.

A derivative with a positive fair value is 
recognised as a financial asset; a derivative 
with a negative fair value is recognised as 
a financial liability. A derivative is presented 
as a non-current asset or a non-current 
liability if the remaining maturity of the 
instrument is more than 12 months and it is 
not expected to be realised or settled within 
12 months. Other derivatives are presented 
as current assets or current liabilities.

3.24.1 Hedge accounting
The Consolidated entity designates certain 
hedging instruments, which include derivatives, 
embedded derivatives and non-derivatives, in 
respect of foreign currency risk, as either fair 
value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of 
net investments in foreign operations. Hedges 
of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments 
are accounted for as cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the 
entity documents the relationship between the 
hedging instrument and hedged item, along with 
its risk management objectives and its strategy 
for undertaking various hedge transactions. 
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and 
on an ongoing basis, the Consolidated entity 
documents whether the hedging instrument 
that is used in a hedging relationship is 
highly effective in offsetting changes in fair 
values or cash flows of the hedged item.

Note 32 sets out details of the fair 
values of the derivative instruments 
used for hedging purposes. 

3.24.2 Fair value hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are 
designated and qualify as fair value hedges 
are recognised in profit or loss immediately, 
together with any changes in the fair value of the 
hedged item that is attributable to the hedged 
risk. The change in the fair value of the hedging 
instrument and the change in the hedged item 
attributable to the hedged risk are recognised 
in the line of the statement of comprehensive 
income relating to the hedged item.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the 
Consolidated entity revokes the hedging 
relationship, when the hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or 
when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. 
The fair value adjustment to the carrying amount 
of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk 
is amortised to profit or loss from that date.

3.24.3 Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair 
value of derivatives that are designated and 
qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in 
other comprehensive income. The gain or loss 
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss, and is included 
in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item. 

Amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in 
equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the 
periods when the hedged item is recognised 
in profit or loss in the same line of the 
statement of comprehensive income as the 
recognised hedged item. However, when the 
forecast transaction that is hedged results 
in the recognition of a non-financial asset or 
a non-financial liability, the gains and losses 
previously deferred in equity are transferred 
from equity and included in the initial 
measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the 
Consolidated entity revokes the hedging 
relationship, when the hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or 
no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any 
gains or losses accumulated in equity at that 
time remains in equity and is recognised when 
the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised 
in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction 
is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative 
gain or loss that was deferred in equity is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3.24.4  Hedges in net investments in  
foreign operations

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations 
are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. 
Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
relating to the effective portion of the hedge 
is recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in the foreign currency 
translation reserve. The gain or loss relating 
to the ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss and included 
in the ’other gains and losses’ line item.

gains and losses on hedging instrument 
relating to the effective portion of the hedge 
accumulated in the foreign currency translation 
reserve are reclassified to profit or loss in the 
same way as exchange differences relating to 
the foreign operation as described at 3.6 above.
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4.  critical accounting 
judgements and key sources 
of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Consolidated entity’s 
accounting policies, which are described in 
note 3, the directors are required to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions about 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimates are revised if 
the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

4.1  critical judgements in applying the 
entity’s accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, 
apart from those involving estimations (see 
4.2 below), that directors have made in 
the process of applying the Consolidated 
entity’s accounting policies and that have 
the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements:

4.1.1 Employee benefits
Management judgement is applied 
in determining the following key 
assumptions used in the calculation of 
long service leave at balance date:
•	 future increases in wages and salaries;
•	 future on-cost rates; and
•	experience of employee departures 

and period of service.

Refer to note 25 for further details on the 
key management judgements used in 
the calculation of long service leave.

4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions 
concerning the future, and other key sources 
of estimation of uncertainty at the end of 
the reporting period, that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year:

4.2.1 Impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired 
requires an estimation of the value in use 
of the cash-generating units to which 
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use 
calculation requires the entity to estimate the 
future cash flows expected to arise from the 
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount 
rate in order to calculate present value.

The carrying amount of goodwill at the 
end of the reporting period was $47,485 
thousand (2010: $45,548 thousand).

4.2.2  Fair value of derivatives and other 
financial instruments

As described in note 32, management uses 
their judgement in selecting an appropriate 
valuation technique for financial instruments not 
quoted in an active market. valuation techniques 
commonly used by market practitioners are 
applied. For derivative financial instruments, 
assumptions are made based on quoted market 
rates adjusted for specific features of the 
instrument. Other financial instruments are 
valued using a discounted cash flow analysis 
based on assumptions supported, where 
possible, by observable market prices or rates. 
Details of assumptions are provided in note 32.

5. Revenue
The following is an analysis of the 
Consolidated entity’s revenue for the year, 
from continuing operations (excluding 
other revenue – see note 7).

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Revenue from the 
sale of goods 159,596 156,105

Revenue from 
rendering of services 2,555 2,175

162,151 158,280

6. segment information
6.1  products and services from  

which reportable segments 
derive their revenues

The group has identified its operating 
segments on the basis of internal reports about 
components of the Consolidated entity that 
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating 
decision maker in order to allocate resources to 
the segment and to assess its performance.

Information reported to the Consolidated 
entity’s Chief Executive Officer for the 
purpose of resource allocation and 
assessment of performance is specifically 
focused on the geographical location 
the Consolidated entity operates in. The 
Consolidated entity’s reportable segments 
under AASB 8 are therefore as follows:
•	Australia / New Zealand
•	Europe

6.2 segment revenues and results
The following is an analysis of the Consolidated entity’s revenue and results from continuing operations by reportable segment.

Full year ended 3 July 2011 Full year ended 4 July 2010
australia / 

neW zealand
$’000

europe
$’000

consolidated
$’000

australia / 
neW zealand

$’000
europe
$’000

consolidated
$’000

continuing operations
Revenue 161,126 85,533 246,659 150,778 85,296 236,074 

EBITDA 35,362 3,738 39,100 28,378 4,145 32,523 

Depreciation and amortisation (6,011) (2,687) (8,698) (5,708) (2,296) (8,004)

eBit 29,351 1,051 30,402 22,670 1,849 24,519 

Interest (734) (797)

net profit before tax 29,668 23,722 

Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers and franchisees. There were no inter-segment sales during the period 
(2010: Nil).

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Consolidated entity’s policies described in note 3. Segment net profit before tax 
represents the profit earned by each segment using the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of resource allocation and 
assessment of segment performance.

6.3 segment assets and liabilities

Segment assets

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Australia / New Zealand 111,859 98,668 
Europe 48,295 50,006 

total segment assets 160,154 148,674 

unallocated assets  -   -  

consolidated assets 160,154 148,674

Segment liabilities

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Australia / New Zealand (42,243) (33,305)
Europe (12,995) (15,022)

total segment liabilities (55,238) (48,327)

unallocated liabilities  -   -  

consolidated liabilities (55,238) (48,327)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:

•	all assets are allocated to reportable segments. goodwill is allocated to reportable segments as described in note 19.1. Assets used jointly by reportable 
segments are allocated on the basis of the revenue earned by individual reportable segments; and

•	all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments. Liabilities for which reportable segments are jointly liable are allocated in proportion to segment assets.
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6.4 other segment information

depreciation and
amortisation

additions to 
non-current assets

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Australia / New Zealand  6,011  5,708 19,241  12,481 

Europe  2,687  2,296  6,719  11,238 

 8,698  8,004 25,960  23,719 

6.5 Geographical information
The Consolidated entity operates in two principal geographical areas – Australia (country of domicile)/New Zealand and Europe.

The Consolidated entity’s revenue from continuing operations from external customers and franchisees can be found in note 6.2. The non-current assets by 
geographical location are detailed below.

non-current assets

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Australia / New Zealand  80,418  74,685 

Europe  22,328  25,030 

 102,746  99,715

6.6 information about major customers
There are no major customers that contribute an amount that is 10% or greater of total revenue.

7. other Revenue

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Interest revenue:

     Bank deposits 433 102 

     Other loans and receivables 936 1,312 

1,369 1,414 

Rental revenue:

     Store asset rental revenue 2,118 1,696 

Royalties 41,890 38,353 

Sale of store builds 240 992 

Franchise services 13,433 12,589 

Other revenue 25,458 22,750 

84,508 77,794 

The following is an analysis of other revenue earned on assets by category of asset:

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Loans and receivables (including cash and bank balances) 1,369 1,414 

Other income earned on non-financial assets 83,139 76,380 

84,508 77,794
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8. other gains and losses
continuing operations

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment, goodwill and other non-current assets 1,160 2,112

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) (12) 54

1,148 2,166

No other gains or losses have been recognised in respect of loans and receivables other than as disclosed in note 7 and impairment losses  
recognised/reversed in respect of trade and other receivables (see note 11 and 13).

9. Finance costs
continuing operations

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Interest on commercial bill and loans 714 792 

Interest on obligations under finance leases 5 4 

Other interest expense 15 1 

734 797 

The weighted average interest rate on funds borrowed generally is 5.2% per annum (2010: 4.9%).

10.  income taxes
10.1 income tax recognised in profit or loss

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Tax expense/(income) comprises:

Current tax expense in respect of the current year 7,374 6,475 

Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the current tax of prior years (87) (57)

7,287 6,418 

Deferred tax expense/(income) relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences 1,159 395 

Previously unrecognised and unused tax losses used to reduce current tax expense (247) (905)

Effect of deferred tax balances in The Netherlands due to the change in 
income tax rate from 25.5% to 25% (effective 4 July 2011) 34  -  

Total tax expense relating to continuing operations 8,233 5,908 

The expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Profit from continuing operations 29,668 23,722 

Income tax expense calculated at 30% 8,900 7,117 

Effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit 126 199 

Other assessable/(deductible) amounts (191) (192)

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions 18 39 

Previously unrecognised and unused tax losses used to reduce current tax expense (247) (905)

Effect of tax concessions (research and development and other allowances) (260) (202)

Effect of deferred tax balances in The Netherlands due to the change in 
income tax rate from 25.5% to 25% (effective 4 July 2011) 34  -  

Other (60) (91)

8,320 5,965 

Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the current tax of prior years (87) (57)

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 8,233 5,908

The tax rate used for the 2011 and 2010 reconciliation above is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by Australian corporate entities on taxable profits 
under Australian tax law.
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10.2  income tax recognised in equity

Deferred tax  

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Arising on income and expenses in other comprehensive income:

     gain on cashflow hedge taken to equity (140) (77)

     gain on net investment hedge taken to equity (348) (740)

(488) (817)

10.3  current tax assets and liabilities 

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

current tax assets

Income tax refund receivable  -   -  

 -   -  

current tax liabilities

Income tax payable (3,111) (3,004)

(3,111) (3,004)

10.4  deferred tax balances

2011

openinG  
Balance 

$’000 

reclassiFi-
cation / loss 
utilisation 

$’000 

charGed to 
income 

$’000 

charGed to 
eQuity 
$’000 

acQuisi-
tions/ 

disposals 
$’000 

exchanGe 
diFFerence 

$’000 

closinG  
Balance 

$’000 

temporary diFFerences

Cash flow hedge 181  -   -  (140)  -   -  41 

Carry forward surplus 
foreign revenue losses 293  -  (98)  -   -   -  195 

Property, plant & equipment (761)  -  (10)  -   -   -  (771)

Intangible assets (221)  -  (841)  -   -  10 (1,052)

Other non-current assets (14)  -  5  -   -   -  (9)

Provision for employee 
entitlements 697 (21) 38  -   -  1 715 

Other provisions 98  -  (38)  -   -   -  60 

Doubtful debts 215  -  (249)  -   -   -  (34)

Other financial liabilities (570)  -   -  (348)  -   -  (918)

Other (309) 21 34  -   -  (2) (256)

(391)  -  (1,159) (488)  -  9 (2,029)

unused tax losses  
and credits

Tax losses 2,158 (575)  -   -   -  (222) 1,361 

1,767 (575) (1,159) (488)  -  (213) (668)
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2010

openinG  
Balance 

$’000 

reclassiFi-
cation / loss 
utilisation 

$’000 

charGed to 
income 

$’000 

charGed to 
eQuity 
$’000 

acQuisi-
tions/ 

disposals 
$’000 

exchanGe 
diFFerence 

$’000 

closinG  
Balance 

$’000 

temporary diFFerences

Cash flow hedge 258  -   -  (77)  -   -  181 

Carry forward surplus 
foreign revenue losses 391  -  (98)  -   -   -  293 

Property, plant & equipment (710)  -  (51)  -   -   -  (761)

Intangible assets (93)  -  (132)  -   -  4 (221)

Other non-current assets (51)  -  37  -   -   -  (14)

Provision for employee 
entitlements 617  -  81  -   -  (1) 697 

Other provisions 72  -  26  -   -   -  98 

Doubtful debts 327  -  (114)  -   -  2 215 

Other financial liabilities 170  -   -  (740)  -   -  (570)

Other (165)  -  (144)  -   -   -  (309)

816  -  (395) (817)  -  5 (391)

unused tax losses  
and credits

Tax losses 1,291  -  1,063  -   -  (196) 2,158 

2,107  -  668 (817)  -  (191) 1,767

Deferred tax balances are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Deferred tax assets 1,383 1,767

Deferred tax liabilities (2,051) -

(668) 1,767
  
10.5 unrecognised deferred tax assets
The taxation benefits of tax losses and timing differences not brought to account will only be obtained if:

(a)  assessable income is derived of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the deductions to be realised;

(b)  conditions for deductibility imposed by the law are compiled with; and

(c)  no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the realisation of the benefit from the deductions.

10.7 tax consolidation

Relevance of tax consolidation to the Group
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities formed a tax-consolidated group with effect from 1 July 
2003 and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head entity within the tax-consolidated group is 
Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited. The members of the tax-consolidated group are identified at note 17.

Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing arrangements
The entities in the tax-consolidated group have not entered into a tax sharing agreement or tax funding agreement. Income tax liabilities 
payable to the taxation authorities in respect of the tax-consolidated group are recognised in the financial statements of the parent entity.

11. profit for the year from continuing operations
Profit for the year from continuing operations is attributable to:

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Owners of Company 21,435 17,814

Profit for the year from continuing operations was arrived at after charging (crediting):

11.1 impairment losses on financial assets

Impairment of trade receivables (793) (434)

11.2 depreciation and amortisation expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (6,614) (6,507)

Amortisation of intangible assets (2,084) (1,497)

(8,698) (8,004)

11.3 employee benefits expense

Employee benefit expense:

     Post employment benefits:

        Defined contribution plans (3,377) (3,140)

     Share-based payments (see note 33):

        Equity settled share-based payments (222) (444)

     Other employee benefits (59,161) (56,073)

Total employee benefits expense (62,760) (59,657)

notes to the Financial Statements continued

At the end of the financial year, an aggregate 
deferred tax asset of $31,694 (2010: $34,610) 
was not recognised in relation to the revenue 
losses acquired on acquisition of The 
Netherlands subsidiary where 50% of this will 
be transferred to Domino’s Pizza International 
Inc.. It is not considered probable that there 
will be sufficient taxable profits against which 
the tax losses may be utilised before they 
expire. The revenue losses were incurred in 
the financial years 30 June 2002 and 30 June 
2003 and are due to expire in the financial 
years ended 30 June 2011 and 30 June 2012.

10.6  unrecognised taxable temporary 
differences associated with 
investments and interests

At the end of the financial year, an aggregate 
deferred tax liability of $4,285,274 (2010: 
$4,242,939) was not recognised in relation 
to investments in subsidiaries as the parent 
Company is able to control the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary differences and it 
is not probable that the temporary difference 
will reverse in the foreseeable future.
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12. earnings per share

2011
cents per 

share

2010
cents per 

share

Basic earnings per share 31.3 26.2 

Diluted earnings per share 30.9 25.9 

12.1 Basic earnings per share
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows:

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 21,435 17,814 

Earnings used in the calculation of basic EPS from continuing operations 21,435 17,814 

2011 
no. ’000

2010 
no. ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of  
basic earnings per share (all measures) 68,388 67,975 

12.2 diluted earnings per share
The earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share are as follows:

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 21,435 17,814 

Earnings used in the calculation of diluted EPS from continuing operations 21,435 17,814 

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share reconciles to the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share as follows:

2011 
no. ’000

2010 
no. ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic EPS 68,388 67,975

Shares deemed to be issued for no consideration in respect of:      

     Options on issue 1,044 750 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted EPS (all measures) 69,432 68,725

 

13. trade and other receivables

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Trade receivables 22,189 22,362 

Allowance for doubtful debts (4,958) (5,018)

17,231 17,344 

Other receivables 1,384 4,380 

18,615 21,724

13.1 trade receivables
Trade receivables disclosed above are classified as loans and receivables and are therefore measured at amortised cost.

The average credit period on sales of goods and rendering of services is 30 days. No interest is charged on the outstanding balance. An allowance has 
been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the past sale of goods and rendering of services, determined by reference to past default experience. 
Trade receivables 60 days and over are provided for based on the estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods and rendering of services, 
determined by reference to past default experience.

Before accepting any new franchisees and business partners, the Consolidated entity uses a system to assess the potential franchisee’s and business 
partner’s credit quality and defines credit limits. Limits attributed to franchisees and business partners are reviewed twice a year. 

Included in the Consolidated entity’s trade receivables balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $1,498 thousand (2010: $1,107 thousand), which 
are past due at the reporting date for which the Consolidated entity has not provided as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the 
amounts are still considered recoverable. The Consolidated entity does not hold any collateral over these balances. 

ageing of past due but not impaired

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

30 - 60 days 527 22 

60 - 90 days 304 568 

90 days and over 667 517 

Total 1,498 1,107

movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 5,018 6,308 

Impairment losses recognised on receivables 2,132 2,040 

Amounts written off as uncollectible (836) (967)

Impairment losses reversed (963) (1,510)

Effect of foreign currency (393) (853)

Balance at the end of the year 4,958 5,018

notes to the Financial Statements continued
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In determining the recoverability of a trade 
receivable, the Consolidated entity considers 
any change in the credit quality of the 
trade receivable from the date credit was 
initially granted up to the reporting date. The 
concentration of credit risk is limited due to 
the customer base being large and unrelated. 

Accordingly, the directors believe that there is 
no further allowance required in excess of the 
allowance for doubtful debts.

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts 
are individually impaired trade receivables 
with a balance of $4,958 thousand (2010: 
$5,018 thousand) for the Consolidated entity. 

The impairment recognised represents the 
difference between the carrying amount of 
these trade receivables and the present value 
of the expected recoverable proceeds. The 
Consolidated entity does not hold any collateral 
over these balances.

14. other financial assets

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

investments carried at Fair value:

non-current

Other 12  -  

12  -  

loans carried at amortised cost:

current

Loans to franchisees (i) 1,361 2,168 

1,361 2,168 

non-current

Loans to franchisees (i) 9,996 13,795 

Allowance for doubtful loans (59) (237)

9,937 13,558 

Financial Guarantee contracts:

non-current

Financial guarantee receivable 566 1,192 

566 1,192

11,876 16,918 

Current 1,361 2,168 

Non-current 10,515 14,750 

11,876 16,918

(i)   Before accepting any new loans to franchisees, the Consolidated entity reviews the potential franchisee’s credit quality, which is determined by reviewing a business plan and the 
projected future cash flows for that store, to ensure the franchisee is able to meet its interest repayments on the loan. On average the interest charged is based on the Westpac 
Interest Loan Rate (‘WILR’) plus 3% margin in Australia and New Zealand and the average interest charged in France is 3.6% and in The Netherlands is 7.6%. 

  Included in the Consolidated entity’s balance are loans to franchisees with a carrying amount of $59 thousand (2010: $237 thousand), which are past due at reporting date of which 
the Consolidated entity has provided for these amounts. The Consolidated entity holds the store assets as collateral over these balances.

ageing of loans to franchisees

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Franchisee Loans 11,357 13,795 

Allowance for doubtful loans (59) (237)

11,298 13,558 

ageing of impaired trade receivables

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

0 - 30 days 2 15 

30 - 60 days 12  -  

60 - 90 days 19 53 

90 days and over 4,925 4,950 

Total 4,958 5,018
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In determining the recoverability of the loans to franchisees, the Consolidated entity considers any amount that has been outstanding at reporting date. 
Accordingly, management believe that there is no further allowance required in excess of the allowances for doubtful loans.

Included in the allowance for the loans are individually impaired loans to franchisees with a balance of $59 thousand (2010: $237 thousand) for the 
Consolidated entity. The impairment recognised represents the difference between the carrying amount of these loan balances and the present value of the 
expected recoverable proceeds. The Consolidated entity holds collateral of the stores assets over these balances. 

ageing of loans to franchisees

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Amounts not yet due 11,298 13,558 

11,298 13,558

movement in allowance for doubtful loans

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 237 418 

Impairment losses recognised on loans  -  80 

Amounts written off as uncollectible (85)  -  

Impairment losses reversed (93) (261)

Effect of foreign currency  -   -  

Balance at the end of the year 59 237

15. inventories

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Raw materials 549 726 

Finished goods 3,642 2,811 

4,191 3,537

There are no inventories (2010: $nil) expected to be recovered after more than 12 months.

16. non-current assets classified as held for sale

assets held for sale

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Commissary Property – The Netherlands 772 843 

772 843 

17. subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 3 July 2011 are as follows:

name oF entity

place oF  
incorporation 
and operation

portion oF oWnership 
interest and  

votinG poWer held

2011
%

2010
%

Ashbourke Pty Ltd (i) Australia 100% 100%

Domino’s Development Fund Pty Ltd (i) Australia 100% 100%

Hot Cell Pty Ltd (i) Australia 100% 100%

MFT – DPA Jv Nominee Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

Reel (NT) Pty Ltd (i) Australia 100% 100%

Shear Pizza Pty Ltd (i) Australia 100% 100%

Silvio’s Dial-a-Pizza Pty Ltd (i) Australia 100% 100%

Twenty/Twenty Pizza Pty Ltd (i) Australia 100% 100%

Twenty/Twenty Pizza Pty Ltd & Domino’s Pizza Australia Pty Ltd Partnership (i) Australia 100% 100%

Domino’s Pizza New Zealand Limited New Zealand 100% 100%

DPH NZ Holdings Limited New Zealand 100% 100%

DPEu Holdings S.A.S. France 100% 100%

Domino’s Pizza France S.A.S. France 100% 100%

DPFC S.A.R.L. France 100% 100%

HvM Pizza S.A.R.L. France 100% 100%

Domino’s Pizza Europe B.v. The Netherlands 100% 100%

Domino’s Pizza Netherlands B.v. The Netherlands 100% 100%

DOPI vastgoed B.v. The Netherlands 100% 100%

Domino’s Pizza Corporate Stores B.v. The Netherlands 100% 100%

Domino’s Pizza Distributie B.v. The Netherlands 100% 100%

Domino’s Pizza Belgium S.P.R.L. Belgium 100% 100%

Catering Service & Supply Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

Eximus S.A.R.L. France 100%  - 

Bacalan S.A.R.L. France 100%  - 

(i) This entity is a member of the tax-consolidated group where Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited is the head entity within the tax-consolidated group.
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18. property, plant and equipment

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Cost 59,048 52,487 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (24,670) (21,675)

34,378 30,812 

Plant and equipment 34,250 30,792 

Equipment under finance lease 128 20 

34,378 30,812

plant & 
eQuipment 

at cost
$’000

eQuipment 
under  

Finance 
lease at 

cost
$’000

total
$’000

cost

Balance at 28 June 2009 49,512 158 49,670 

Additions 10,440 11 10,451 

Disposals (7,321) (124) (7,445)

Acquisitions through business combinations (note 36) 3,333  -  3,333 

Reclassification (1,225)  -  (1,225)

Net foreign currency exchange differences (2,297)  -  (2,297)

Balance at 4 July 2010 52,442 45 52,487 

Additions 12,760 144 12,904 

Disposals (8,469) (11) (8,480)

Acquisitions through business combinations (note 36) 3,141  -  3,141 

Reclassification 17 (36) (19)

Net foreign currency exchange differences (985)  -  (985)

Balance at 3 July 2011 58,906 142 59,048 

accumulated depreciation and impairment

Balance at 28 June 2009 (19,071) (94) (19,165)

Disposals 2,681 90 2,771 

Depreciation expense (6,486) (21) (6,507)

Reclassification 377  -  377 

Net foreign currency exchange differences 857  -  857 

Other expensed items (8)  -  (8)

Balance at 4 July 2010 (21,650) (25) (21,675)

Disposals 3,424 9 3,433 

Depreciation expense (6,597) (17) (6,614)

Reclassification  -  19 19 

Net foreign currency exchange differences 167  -  167 

Other expensed items  -   -   -  

Balance at 3 July 2011 (24,656) (14) (24,670)

There was no depreciation during the period that was capitalised as part of the cost of other assets.

18.1 assets pledged as security
In accordance with the security arrangements of liabilities, as disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements, all non-current assets of the Consolidated 
entity, except goodwill and deferred tax assets, have been pledged as security. The holder of the security does not have the right to sell or re-pledge the 
assets other than in an event of default.

The Consolidated entity does not hold title to the equipment under finance lease pledged as security.

19. goodwill

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Cost 47,485 45,548 

Accumulated impairment losses - -

47,485 45,548 

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

cost

Balance at beginning of financial year 45,548 43,803 

Additional amounts recognised from business combinations occurring during the period (note 36) 5,149 5,281 

Amounts disposed of during the period (2,604) (2,453)

Effects of foreign currency exchange differences (816) (1,270)

Reclassification  -  13 

Other 208 174 

Balance at end of financial year 47,485 45,548

accumulated impairment loss

Balance at beginning of financial year  -   -  

Impairment losses for the year  -   -  

Disposals  -   -  

Balance at end of financial year  -   -  

19.1 allocation of goodwill to cash-generating units

goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the following cash-generating units:
•	Australian Capital Territory (ACT);
•	New South Wales (NSW);
•	Queensland & Northern Territory (QLD & NT);
•	South Australia, Western Australia and Tasmania (SA, WA & TAS);
•	victoria (vIC); 
•	New Zealand (NZ);
•	France & Belgium (FR); and
•	The Netherlands & Belgium (NL).

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the NSW, QLD & NT, SA, WA & TAS, vIC, ACT, NZ, FR and NL markets is significant in comparison to the total 
carrying amount of goodwill. 
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Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying amount of goodwill (other than goodwill classified as held for sale) was allocated to the following 
cash-generating units:

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

australia & new zealand

QLD & NT 14,396 15,062 

NSW 5,824 6,221 

SA, WA & TAS 8,480 10,195 

vIC 7,624 3,041 

ACT 434 237 

NZ 1,795 2,402 

europe

FR 5,609 5,201 

NL 3,323 3,189 

47,485 45,548

20. other intangible assets

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Cost 13,445 9,311

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (4,501) (2,534)

8,944 6,777

capitalised 
development

$’000
licences

$’000
total
$’000

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 28 June 2009 2,322 2,963 5,285 

Additions  -  2,400 2,400 

Acquisitions through business combinations (note 36) 562  -  562 

Additions from internal developments 1,529  -  1,529 

Net foreign currency exchange differences (20) (445) (465)

Balance at 4 July 2010 4,393 4,918 9,311 

Additions  -  1,087 1,087

Acquisitions through business combinations (note 36)  -  483 483 

Additions from internal developments 2,988  -  2,988

Disposals  -   -   -  

Reclassification  -   -   -  

Net foreign currency exchange differences (32) (392) (424)

Balance at 3 July 2011 7,349 6,096 13,445

accumulated amortisation and impairment

Balance at 28 June 2009 (571) (473) (1,044)

Amortisation expense (i) (717) (757) (1,474)

Disposals  -   -   -  

Reclassification  -   -   -  

Net foreign currency exchange differences  -   -   -  

Other expense (16)  -  (16)

Balance at 4 July 2010 (1,304) (1,230) (2,534)

Amortisation expense (i) (1,782) (287) (2,069)

Disposals  -   -   -  

Reclassification  -   -   -  

Net foreign currency exchange differences 99 3 102 

Other expense  -   -   -  

Balance at 3 July 2011 (2,987) (1,514) (4,501)

(i) Amortisation expense is included in the line item ‘depreciation and amortisation expense’ in the statement of comprehensive income.

nsW, Qld & nt, sa, Wa & tas, vic  
and act markets
The operations in the NSW, QLD & NT, SA, 
WA & TAS, vIC and ACT markets are similar, 
and their recoverable amounts are based on 
similar assumptions. The recoverable amounts 
of the five markets are based primarily on 
a value in use calculation which uses cash 
flow projections based on the financial 
budget approved by the Board for the 2012 
financial year as the year one cash flow. 

The cash flows for years one to five are based 
on the expected average percentage growth 
across corporate and franchise markets, which 
has been estimated at 5.0% nationally (2010: 
5.0% nationally). These figures are based on 
management’s estimate of forecast cash flow 
by store after considering the 2011 financial 
year with the 2012 budget year. Management 
believes that these growth percentages are 
reasonable considering forecast sales growth 
and economies of scale. A pre-tax discount 
rate of 16.50% has been applied to years 
one to five. An indefinite terminal cash flow 
calculation has been applied for cash flows 
beyond year five, using the year five cash 
flow as a base. The growth rate of 3.0% has 
been used in determining the terminal value.

Management believes that any reasonable 
change in the key assumptions on which 
the recoverable amounts are based would 
not cause the market’s carrying amount 
to exceed its recoverable amount. 

nz market
The goodwill amount allocated to this 
market relates to the acquisition of the Pizza 
Haven New Zealand operations in 2005. 
The recoverable amount of the market is 
based primarily on a value in use calculation 
which uses cash flow projections based on 
the financial budget approved by the Board 
for the 2012 financial year as the year one 
cash flow for the NZ franchise stores.

The cash flows for years one to five are based 
on the expected revenues to be received from 
net franchise royalties of the NZ franchise 
stores, after applying a growth rate which 
has been estimated at 5.0% (2010: 5.0%). 
This figure is based on the growth in forecast 
average franchise weekly sales from the 
2011 financial year to the 2012 budget 
year. Management believes that this growth 
percentage is reasonable considering the sales 
growth that has been seen in this market during 
the 2011 financial year. A pre-tax discount 
rate of 16.50% has been applied to years 
one to five. An indefinite terminal cash flow 
calculation has been applied for cash flows 
beyond year five, using the year five cash 
flow as a base. The growth rate of 3.0% has 
been used in determining the terminal value.

european market
The goodwill amount allocated to the cash-
generating units in this market relates to 
the acquisition of the Domino’s Pizza master 
franchise of France, Belgium, The Netherlands 
and the Principality of Monaco on 3 July 2006. 
The recoverable amount of the market is 
determined based on a value in use calculation 
which uses a five-year financial plan that has 
been prepared. The cash flows for years one 
to five are based on the expected average 
percentage growth across the market, which 
has been estimated at 20.0%. A pre-tax 
discount rate of 16.50% has been applied to the 
years one to five. The growth rate of 3.0% has 
been used in determining the terminal value.

Key assumptions
The key assumptions used in the value in 
use calculation for the various significant 
cash-generating units are budgeted store 
cash flows which are assumed to continue to 
increase, driven by higher sales and increased 
market share. These assumptions reflect prior 
experience and management’s plan to focus 
on store level efficiencies and to leverage 
market share for higher overall profitability.
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21. other assets
current

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Prepayments 2,366 1,505 

Work in progress – store builds 562 912 

Other 1,456 2,029 

4,384 4,446

non-current

other  
assets
$’000

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 28 June 2009 239 

Additions  -  

Disposals (92)

Effects of foreign currency exchange differences 1 

Balance at 4 July 2010 148 

Additions  -  

Disposals (5)

Effects of foreign currency exchange differences (2)

Balance at 3 July 2011 141 

accumulated amortisation and impairment

Balance at 28 June 2009 (69)

Disposals 6 

Amortisation expense (i) (23)

Effects of foreign currency exchange differences (1)

Balance at 4 July 2010 (87)

Disposals 2 

Amortisation expense (i) (15)

Effects of foreign currency exchange differences  -  

Balance at 3 July 2011 (100)

net book value

At 4 July 2010 61 

at 3 July 2011 41

(i) Amortisation expense is included in the line item ‘depreciation and amortisation expense’ in the statement of comprehensive income.

22. trade and other payables

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Trade payables (i) 15,388 14,908 

goods and services tax (gST)/value added tax (vAT) payable 1,308 1,855 

Other creditors and accruals 13,832 8,519 

30,528 25,282

(i)  The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 days. The Consolidated entity has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the 
credit time frame.

23. Borrowings

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

secured

current

Finance lease liabilities (i) (note 27) 24 21 

Other loans 17 19 

Euro loan designated and effective as a hedging instrument, carried at amortised cost (ii) (iii)(iv) 15,035  -  

non-current

Finance lease liabilities (i) (note 27) 108 5 

Other loans 360 154 

Euro loan designated and effective as a hedging instrument, carried at amortised cost (ii) (iii)(iv)  -  13,755 

15,544 13,954 

Current 15,076 40 

Non-current 468 13,914 

15,544 13,954

23.1 summary of borrowing arrangements:
(i)  Secured by the assets leased, the current market value of each exceeds the value of the finance lease liability.

(ii) Secured over the assets and undertaking of Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited.

(iii)  variable rate loan with Westpac Banking Corporation with maturity periods not exceeding 1 year (2010: 2 years). The Consolidated entity hedges the loan via an interest rate swap 
exchanging the variable rate interest for fixed rate interest. 

(iv)  Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited is currently in an advanced stage of negotiations to establish a new borrowing facility or extend the existing facility. The current Euro loan facility 
expires on 30th November 2011 and therefore the Euro loan has been classified as current borrowings as required by AASB 101. Subsequent to year end, the Company has received 
an offer from its current lender to establish revised borrowing facilities in excess of the current Euro loan facility. It is not the intention of the Company to repay the Euro loan in the 
next twelve months.

The unused facilities available on the Consolidated entity’s bank overdraft are $2,000 thousand (2010: $2,000 thousand).
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24. other financial liabilities

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

non-current

Financial guarantee contracts 566 1,192 

566 1,192 

current

Derivatives designated and effective as hedging instruments carried at fair value:

Interest rate swap (at fair value) 137 604 

Franchisee store deposits (at amortised cost) 66  -  

203 604 

Current 203 604 

Non-current 566 1,192 

769 1,796 

25. provisions

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Employee benefits (i) 2,382 2,323 

Other 196 324 

2,578 2,647 

Current 2,164 2,171 

Non-current 414 476 

2,578 2,647

other provisions

maKe Good (ii)

$’000

straiGht line  
leasinG (iii)

$’000
total
$’000

Balance at 4 July 2010 25 299 324 

Additional provisions recognised  -   -   -  

Payments made  -   -   -  

Reductions resulting from remeasurement  -  (128) (128)

Balance at 3 July 2011 25 171 196 

(i)  The current provision for employee benefits includes $1,948 thousand of annual leave and vested long service leave entitlements accrued but not expected to be taken within 12 
months (2010: $1,953 thousand for the Consolidated entity).

(ii)  The provision for the make good is in respect of restoring sites to their original condition when the premises are vacated. Management has estimated the provision based on 
historical data in relation to the store closure numbers and costs, as well as future trends that could differ from historical amounts.

(iii) The provision for straight line leasing arises as fixed percentage increases in operating leases are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis, over the period of the lease. 

26. other liabilities
2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Domino’s Pizza International Inc. 657 1,644 

657 1,644 

Current  -   -  

Non-current 657 1,644 

657 1,644

27. obligations under finance leases
27.1 leasing arrangements
Finance leases relate to plant & equipment with lease terms between three and ten years, and motor vehicles with lease terms between three and 
four years. The Consolidated entity has options to purchase the leased assets for a nominal amount at the completion of the lease arrangements.
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27.2 Finance lease liabilities

minimum Future  
lease payments

present value oF minimum 
Future lease payments

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

No later than 1 year 31 22 24 21 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 120 5 108 5 

Later than 5 years  -   -   -   -  

Minimum lease payments (i) 151 27 132 26 

Less future finance charges (19) (1)  -   -  

present value of minimum lease payments 132 26 132 26 

Included in the financial statements as (note 23):

Current borrowings 24 21 

Non-current borrowings 108 5 

132 26
 

(i) Minimum future lease payments include the aggregate of all lease payments and any guaranteed residual value.

27.3 Fair value
The fair value of the finance lease liabilities is approximately equal to their carrying amount.

28. issued capital
2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

68,407,674 fully paid ordinary shares  (2010: 68,280,174) 64,523 64,243 

Changes to the Corporations Law abolished the authorised capital and par value concept in relation to share capital from 1 July 1998. 
Therefore, the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital and issued shares do not have a par value.

28.1 Fully paid ordinary shares

2011 2010

note

numBer oF 
shares

‘000

share  
capital

$’000

numBer oF 
shares

‘000

share  
capital

$’000

Balance at beginning of financial year 68,280 64,243 68,001 63,411 

Shares issued:

Issue of shares under executive share option plan (a) 128 280 279 832 

Issue of shares under dividend reinvestment plan (b)  -   -   -   -  

Balance at end of financial year 68,408 64,523 68,280 64,243 

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends.

Other share options on issue

cateGory oF security note
total

numBer
numBer
Quoted

exercise
price expiry date

Options: (a)

unexercised options at 3 July 2011 210,000 - $3.88 31 August 2013

unexercised options at 3 July 2011 605,000 - $3.88 31 August 2013

unexercised options at 3 July 2011 500,000 - $3.50 31 August 2014

unexercised options at 3 July 2011 1,222,000 - $3.50 31 August 2014

(a) options
The Company approved the establishment 
of the ESOP to assist in the recruitment, 
reward and retention of its directors and 
executives. The Company will not apply 
for quotation of the options on the ASx.

Subject to any adjustment in the 
event of a bonus issue, rights issue or 
reconstruction of capital, each option is 
convertible into one ordinary share.

Terms and conditions of the ESOP
The Company must not issue any shares or 
grant any option under this plan if, immediately 
after the issue or grant, the sum of the 
total number of unissued shares over which 
options, rights or other options (which remain 
outstanding) have been granted under this 
plan and any other group employee incentive 
scheme would exceed 7.5% of the total number 
of shares on issue on a Fully Diluted Basis 
at the time of the proposed issue or grant.

Fully Diluted Basis means the number of 
shares which would be on issue if all those 
securities of the Company which are capable 
of being converted into shares, were converted 
into shares. If the number of shares into 
which the  securities are capable of being 
converted cannot be calculated at the relevant 
time, those shares will be disregarded.

During the year, 127,500 options were exercised 
(2010: 278,667). A total of $280,500 was 
received as consideration for 127,500 fully paid 
ordinary shares of Domino’s Pizza Enterprises 
Limited on exercise of the options in the 
current financial year (2010: $831,467).

(b) dividend reinvestment plan
On listing, the Board adopted but did 
not commence operation of a Dividend 
Reinvestment Plan (“DRP”). The DRP provides 
shareholders the choice of reinvesting some 
or all of their dividends in shares rather 
than receiving those dividends in cash.

The Board of Directors resolved to activate 
the DRP on 17 August 2006 with a 
commencement date of 21 August 2006. 
Shareholders with registered addresses 
in Australia or New Zealand are eligible to 
participate in the DRP. Shareholders outside 
Australia and New Zealand are not able 
to participate due to legal requirements 
applicable in their place of residence. 

Shares allocated under the DRP rank equally 
with existing shares. Shares will be issued 
under the DRP at a price equal to the average 
of the daily volume weighted average market 
price of the Company’s shares (rounded to 
the nearest cent) traded on the ASx during 
a period of ten trading days commencing 
on the second business day following 
the relevant record date, discounted by 
an amount determined by the Board. 

Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited entered 
into an underwriting Agreement with goldman 
Sachs JBWere for its first four dividend 
payments commencing with the final dividend 
for the year ended 2 July 2006. The Board 
decided to continue the DRP underwriting 
and entered into a renewed agreement 
with goldman Sachs JBWere for the next 
four dividends commencing with the final 
dividend for the year ended 29 June 2008.

On 18 August 2009, the Board resolved 
to suspend the DRP until further notice. 
Therefore, the final dividend for the year 
ended 3 July 2011 will be paid in cash only.
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29. Reserves

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Foreign currency translation (9,064) (5,706)

Equity-settled share-based benefits 1,578 1,317 

Hedging 2,044 906 

general reserve  -   -  

(5,442) (3,483)

29.1 Foreign currency translation reserve

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Balance at beginning of financial year (5,706) 308 

Translation of foreign operations (3,358) (6,014)

Balance at end of financial year (9,064) (5,706)

Exchange differences relating to the translation of the net assets of the Consolidated entity’s foreign operations from their functional currencies to the 
Consolidated entity’s presentation currency (i.e. Australian dollars) are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign 
currency translation reserve.

29.2 equity-settled share-based benefits reserve

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Balance at beginning of financial year 1,317 873 

Share-based payment 222 444 

Other movements 39  -  

Balance at end of financial year 1,578 1,317

The equity settled share-based benefits reserve arises on the grant of share options to executives under the Executive Share and Option Plan (“ESOP”). 
Further information about ESOP is made in note 33 to the financial statements.

29.3 hedging reserve

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Balance at beginning of financial year 906 (999)

gain/(loss) recognised:

 Net investment hedge 811 1,727 

 Interest rate swap 327 178 

Balance at end of financial year 2,044 906

The hedging reserve represents hedging gains and losses recognised on the effective portion of cash flow hedges. 

29.4 General reserve

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Balance at beginning of financial year  -   -  

Movement during year  -   -  

Balance at end of financial year  -   -

The general reserve is used from time to time to transfer profits from retained earnings. There is no policy of regular transfer.

30. Retained earnings

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Balance at beginning of year 39,587 31,312 

Net profit attributable to members of the Company 21,435 17,814 

Payment of dividends (note 31) (15,187) (9,539)

Balance at end of year 45,835 39,587 

31. dividends

2011 2010

cents  
per share

total
$’000

cents 
per share

total
$’000 

recoGnised amounts

Fully paid ordinary shares

Interim dividend:

Fully franked at a 30% tax rate 10.4 7,114 6.0 4,095 

Final dividend:

Fully franked at a 30% tax rate 11.8 8,073 8.0 5,444 

22.2 15,187 14.0 9,539 

unrecoGnised amounts

Fully paid ordinary shares

Final dividend:

Fully franked at a 30% tax rate 11.5 7,867 11.8 8,057 

On 9 August 2011, the directors declared a fully franked final dividend of 11.5 cents per share to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares in respect of 
the financial year ended 3 July 2011, to be paid to shareholders on 15 September 2011.  The dividend will be paid to all shareholders on the Register of 
Members on 30 August 2011. The total estimated dividend to be paid is $7,867 thousand.

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Adjusted franking account balance 5,011 5,933 

Impact on franking account balance of dividends not recognised (3,372) (3,453)

notes to the Financial Statements continued
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32. Financial instruments
32.1 capital risk management

32.3 categories of financial instruments

WeiGhted  
averaGe 
eFFective 
interest 

rate
%

2011
$’000

WeiGhted  
averaGe 
eFFective 
interest 

rate
%

2010
$’000

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables  - 18,615  - 21,724 

Loans receivables 8.06 11,298 10.89 13,558 

Other financial assets  - 12  - 2,168 

Cash and cash equivalents 2.67 28,085 2.73 16,241 

Financial guarantee contracts 6.25 566 4.46 1,192 

Financial liabilities

Euro loan 5.22 15,035 5.22 13,755 

Other financial liabilities  - 29,938  - 24,032 

Finance lease liability 5.18 150 9.20 26 

Other loans 4.23 360 5.00 173 

Financial guarantee contracts 6.25 566 4.46 1,192

32.4 Financial risk management objectives
The group’s finance department coordinates 
access to domestic and international 
financial markets, monitors and manages 
the financial risks relating to the operations 
of the group in line with the group’s 
policies. These risks include market risk 
(including currency risk, fair value interest 
rate risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity 
risk and cash flow interest rate risk.

The group seeks to minimise the effects of 
the above mentioned risks, by using derivative 
financial instruments to hedge these risk 
exposures. The use of financial derivatives is 
governed by the group’s policies approved by 
the Board of Directors, which provide written 
principles on foreign exchange risk, interest 
rate risk, credit risk, the use of financial 
derivatives and non-derivative financial 
instruments, and the investment of excess 
liquidity. Compliance with policies and exposure 
limits is reviewed by the Board of Directors. 
The group does not enter into or trade financial 
instruments, including derivative financial 
instruments, for speculative purposes.

The group’s management and Board of 
Directors’ review annually the risks and policies 
implemented to mitigate risk exposures.

32.5 market risk
The group’s activities expose it primarily to the 
financial risks of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates (refer to note 32.6) and 
interest rates (refer to note 32.7). The group 
enters into a variety of derivative financial 
instruments to manage its exposure to interest 
rate and foreign currency risk, including:
•	 Interest rate swaps to mitigate 

risk of rising interest rates.

Market risk exposures are measured 
using sensitivity analysis. 

There has been no change to the group’s 
exposure to market risks or the manner 
in which it manages and measures 
the risk from previous period.

Hedging activities
The group holds financial instruments to hedge 
risks relating to underlying transactions. The 
major exposure to interest rate risk and foreign 
currency risk arises from long-term borrowings. 
Details of hedging activities are provided below.

The group designates the Euro loan as a hedge 
of a net investment in a foreign operation.

The terms and conditions in relation to 
the derivative instruments are similar to 
the terms and conditions of underlying 
hedged items. The hedging relationship 
was effective at reporting date.

For further details refer to note 3.24.

The Consolidated entity (“group”) manages 
its capital to ensure that entities in the 
group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximising the return to 
stakeholders through the optimisation of the 
debt and equity balances. The group’s overall 
strategy remains unchanged from 2010.

The capital structure of the group consists 
of debt, which includes the borrowings 
disclosed in note 23, cash and cash equivalents 
and equity attributable to equity holders 
of the parent, comprising issued capital, 
reserves and retained earnings as disclosed 
in notes 28, 29, and 30 respectively.

The group is not subject to any externally 
imposed capital requirements.

The group operates globally, primarily 
through subsidiary companies established 
in the markets in which the group trades. 
None of the group’s entities are subject to 
externally imposed capital requirements.

Operating cash flows are used to maintain 
and expand the group’s assets, as well as to 
make the routine outflows of tax, dividends 
and repayment of maturing debt. The group’s 
policy is to borrow centrally, using a variety of 
capital market issues and borrowing facilities, 
to meet anticipated funding requirements.

The group’s management and board of 
directors review the capital structure formally 
on an annual basis. As part of this review, 
management and the Board of Directors 
consider the cost of capital and the risks 
associated with each class of capital. 
Based on recommendations of management 
and the Board of Directors, the group will 
balance its overall capital structure through 
the payment of dividends, and new share 
issues as well as the issue of new debt 
or the redemption of existing debt.

32.1.1 Gearing ratio

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Debt (i) 15,544 13,954 

Cash and cash equivalents (28,085) (16,241)

Net (cash)/debt (12,541) (2,287)

Equity (ii) 104,916 100,347 

Net debt to equity ratio (12%) (2%)

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

(i) Debt is defined as long-term and short-term borrowings, as detailed in note 23.
(ii) Equity includes all capital and reserves that are managed as capital.

32.2 significant accounting policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted (including the criteria for recognition, the bases for recognition of income and expenses) 
for each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 3.
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32.6 Foreign currency risk management
As DPE Limited’s Australian operations are 
predominantly conducted in Australian dollars, 
there is limited foreign currency exchange risk 
associated with the Australian business.

DPE Limited also has operations in New 
Zealand and Europe. The operations and 
revenues of these businesses are predominantly 
transacted in New Zealand dollars and 
Euros respectively. DPE Limited intends to 
mitigate its foreign currency translation risk 

exposure by denominating a portion of its 
senior debt in Euros. This creates a natural 
hedge and mitigates the potential for currency 
movements to negatively impact DPE Limited.

DPE Limited also purchases some equipment 
in a range of currencies, but predominantly 
uSD, and has an exchange rate exposure 
due to delays between entering into a 
contract and final payment. DPE Limited will 
only enter into a hedge position (forward 
contract) in respect of equipment purchase 
once it has committed to the purchase.

The group undertakes certain transactions 
denominated in foreign currencies, hence 
exposures to exchange rate fluctuations 
arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed 
within approved policy parameters. 

The carrying amount of the group’s 
foreign currency denominated monetary 
assets and monetary liabilities at the 
reporting date is as follows:

The following table details the value of the instrument designated and the impact on the hedge reserve.

liaBilities eQuity

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Euro loan 15,035 13,755  -   -  

Designated hedge of Euro loan  -   -  2,140 1,329 

15,035 13,755 2,140 1,329

The following details the group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Australian Dollar against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% is the 
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the 
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items. Adjustments 
have only been made for transactions outstanding at period end using a 10% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number indicates an increase in 
profit or loss and other equity where the Australian Dollar strengthens against the respective currency. 

euros  
impact

neW zealand dollars 
impact

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

profit or (loss)

If there was a 10% increase in exchange rates

with all other variables held constant  -   -   -   -  

If there was a 10% decrease in exchange rates

with all other variables held constant  -   -   -   -  

other equity

If there was a 10% increase in exchange rates

with all other variables held constant 1,379 1,305 (i)  -   -  

If there was a 10% decrease in exchange rates

with all other variables held constant (1,686) (1,595) (i)  -   -

(i) This is mainly as a result of changes in fair value of borrowings designated as net investment of foreign operation hedges.

The group’s sensitivity to foreign currency remains consistent during the current period.

notes to the Financial Statements continued

liaBilities assets

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

New Zealand dollars  -   -   -   -  

Euros 15,035 13,755  -   -

32.6.1 Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The group is mainly exposed to Euros 
and New Zealand dollars (NZD).

The foreign currency risk exposure recognised 
from assets and liabilities arises primarily from 
the long term borrowings denominated in foreign 
currencies. There is no significant impact on the 
Consolidated entity’s profit from foreign currency 
movements associated with these borrowings 
as they are effectively designated as a hedge 
of the net investment in foreign operations. 

The net gain/(loss) in the cash flow hedge 
reserve reflects the results of exchange rate 
or interest rate movements on the derivatives 
held in the cash flow hedges which will be 
released to the income statement in the future 
as the underlying hedged items affect profit.

For the group, the foreign currency translation 
risk associated with the foreign investment 
results in some volatility to the foreign 
currency translation reserve. The impact 
on the foreign currency translation reserve 
relates to translation of the net assets of 
the foreign controlled entities including 
the impact of any hedging transactions.

Hedges of net investments in  
foreign operations
In the consolidated financial statements the 
exposure to foreign currency translation risk is 
a result of the investment in offshore activities 
being Europe where any exchange gains and 
losses on translation of the Euro denominated 
loan are taken to the net investment hedge 
reserve (in the foreign currency translation 
reserve) only to the extent of the gains and 
losses on the value of the European net assets, 
including any intercompany loan payable to 
DPEu. Exchange differences on the excess 
between the Euro loan and net assets, including 
any intercompany loan payable to DPEu, if 
any, are recognised in the income statement.

The effectiveness of the hedging relationship 
is tested using prospective and retrospective 
effectiveness tests. In a retrospective 
effectiveness test, the changes in the value 
of the hedging instrument and the change 
in the value of the hedged net investment 
from spot rate changes are calculated. If the 
calculation is between 80 and 125 per cent, 
then the hedge is considered effective.

Any gains or losses on remeasurement of 
derivative or non-derivative financial instruments 
designated as hedges of foreign investments 
are recognised in the net investment hedge 
reserve in equity only to the extent that 
the hedging relationship is effective. The 
accumulation of the recognised gains or losses 
recorded in equity is transferred to the income 
statement when the foreign operation is sold.

Any gains or losses of the ineffective 
portion of the hedge are recognised in the 
income statement within other revenue 
or other expenses. During the year there 
was no hedge ineffectiveness attributable 
to the net investment hedges.

During the year net gains/(losses) after tax of 
$811 thousand (2010: $1,727 thousand) on 
the hedging instruments were taken directly 
to equity in the consolidated balance sheet. 32.6.2 Forward foreign exchange contracts

It is the policy of the group to enter into 
forward foreign exchange contracts to 
cover specific foreign currency payments 
and receipts. The forward foreign exchange 
contract is only entered into once the group 
has committed to the purchase transaction.

There were no forward foreign 
exchange contracts outstanding as 
at reporting date (2010: nil).

32.7 interest rate risk management
The group is exposed to interest rate risk as 
it borrows funds at floating interest rates. 
The group holds an interest rate swap 
contract to manage interest rate exposure. 
Hedging activities are evaluated regularly 
to align with interest rate views and defined 
risk appetite ensuring optimal hedging 
strategies are applied, by either positioning the 
balance sheet or protecting interest expense 
through different interest rate cycles.

32.7.1 Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been 
determined based on the exposure to 
interest rates for both derivative and non-
derivative instruments at the reporting date 
and the stipulated change taking place at 
the beginning of the financial year and held 
constant throughout the reporting period. 
A 100 basis point increase or decrease 
is used when reporting interest rate risk 
internally to key management personnel 
and represents management’s assessment 
of the possible change in interest rates.

At reporting date, if interest rates had been 
100 basis points higher or lower and all other 
variables were held constant, the group’s:
•	Net profit would decrease by $112 thousand 

and increase by $184 thousand  
(2010: decrease by $37 thousand and 
increase by $40 thousand). This is mainly 
attributable to the group’s exposure to interest 
rates on its variable rate borrowings.

•	Other equity reserves would increase by  
$65 thousand and decrease by $49 thousand  
(2010: increase by $72 thousand and 
decrease by $183 thousand) mainly as a 
result of the changes in the fair value of the 
interest rate swap.
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32.7.2 Interest rate swap contracts
under the interest rates swap contract, the group agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate interest amounts calculated on an 
agreed notional principal amount. This contract enables the group to mitigate the risk of changing interest rates on debt held. The average interest rate is 
based on the outstanding balance at the start of the financial year.

The following table details the notional principal amounts and remaining terms of the interest rate swap contracts outstanding as at reporting date:

Cash flow hedges

averaGe contracted Fixed 
interest rate

notional principal  
amount (i) Fair value

outstanding floating  
for fixed contract

2011
%

2010
%

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

consolidated

Less than 1 year 5.22 5.22 15,035  -  (137)  -  

2 to 5 years 5.22 5.22  -  13,755  -  (604)

15,035 13,755 (137) (604)

(i) The principal is a Euro denominated amount.

The interest rate swap settles on a monthly basis. The group will settle the difference between the floating and fixed interest rate on a net basis.

32.8 credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a franchisee or business partner will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
group. The group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, 
as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. Credit exposure is controlled by limits that are continually reviewed.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings  
assigned by international credit rating agencies.

Except as detailed in the following table, the carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances 
for losses, represents the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained:

32.8.1 Financial assets and other credit exposures

maximum credit risK

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

consolidated

guarantee provided under deed of guarantee  18,258  20,881

The group provides guarantees to third party financiers in order to enable internal candidates (i.e. franchisees and managers) to fund the purchase of DPE 
stores. The group’s Policy in this regard is to predominantly support internal candidates who have displayed strong operational expertise. Further, the 
group generally provides guarantees to internal candidates in the metropolitan markets where it has operated or is operating corporate stores.

In the event that a loan defaults, the group’s Policy is to purchase and operate the failed store as a corporate store.

32.9 liquidity risk management
The group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast 
and actual cash flows, and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Included in note 32.9.2 is a listing of additional undrawn 
facilities that the group has at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk.

32.9.1 Liquidity and interest risk tables
The following tables detail the group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial assets and liabilities and non-derivative financial assets and 
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the group can be 
required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

less than  
1 year
$’000

1 - 5 years
$’000

more than  
5 years

$’000

3 July 2011

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables 18,615  -   -  

Loans receivables 2,032 10,248 263 

Other financial assets 12  -   -  

Cash and cash equivalents 28,085  -   -  

Financial guarantee contracts  -  566  -  

Financial liabilities

Trade payables (15,388)  -   -  

Other payables (14,891)  -   -  

Commercial bills  -   -   -  

Euro loan (15,334)  -   -  

Finance lease liability (30) (120)  -  

Other loans (17) (343)  -  

Other liabilities  -  (657)  -  

Financial guarantee contracts  -  (566)  -  

4 July 2010

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables 21,724  -   -  

Loans receivables 2,078 14,889 1,401 

Other financial assets 2,168  -   -  

Cash and cash equivalents 16,241  -   -  

Financial guarantee contracts  -  1,192  -  

Financial liabilities

Trade payables (14,908)  -   -  

Other payables (10,374)  -   -  

Commercial bills  -   -   -  

Euro loan  -  (14,772)  -  

Finance lease liability (22) (5)  -  

Other loans (19) (154)  -  

Other liabilities  -  (1,644)  -  

Financial guarantee contracts  -  (1,192)  -
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32.9.2 Financing facilities

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Secured bank overdraft facility, reviewed annually and payable at call:

 amount used - -

 amount unused 2,000 2,000

2,000 2,000

Secured commercial bill facility, reviewed annually:

 amount used 15,035 13,755

 amount unused 13,015 34,295

28,050 48,050

The following share-based payment arrangements were in existence during the current and comparative reporting period: 

option series numBer Grant date expiry date

exercise 
price

$

Fair value at 
Grant date

$

(5) Issued 10 May 2005  730,834 10 May 2005 31 August 2010 $2.20 $0.43

(6) Issued 8 December 2006**  210,000 8 December 2006 31 August 2013 $3.88 $0.86

(7) Issued 22 August 2007  130,000 22 August 2007 31 August 2010 $3.88 $0.10

(8) Issued 22 August 2007*  700,000 22 August 2007 31 August 2013 $3.88 $0.37

(9) Issued 10 September 2007*  200,000 10 September 2007 31 August 2013 $3.88 $0.43

(10) Issued 3 December 2008**  500,000 3 December 2008 31 August 2014 $3.50 $0.42

(11) Issued 30 April 2009*  1,500,000 30 April 2009 31 August 2014 $3.50 $0.44

* It is a condition of exercise that the option holder be an employee of the Company at 31 August 2011.
** It is a condition of exercise that the option holder be a director of the Company as at 31 August 2011.
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The Consolidated entity has access to financing 
facilities at reporting date as indicated above. 
The Consolidated entity expects to meet its 
other obligations from operating cash flows 
and proceeds of maturing financial assets. 
The Consolidated entity expects to maintain 
a current debt to equity ratio approved by the 
Board. This will be achieved through the issue of 
new debt and the increased use of secured bank 
loan facilities.

32.10 Fair value of financial instruments
The fair values of derivative instruments 
are determined as follows:
•	The present value of future cash flows 

estimated are discounted based on 
the applicable yield curves derived 
from quoted interest rates.

The directors consider that the carrying 
amount of financial assets and financial 
liabilities recorded in the financial statements 
approximate to their fair values.

Financial instruments that are measured 
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, 
are grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the 
degree to which the fair value is observable:
•	Level 1 fair value measurements are 

those derived from quoted prices 
(unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities.

•	Level 2 fair value measurements are those 
derived from inputs other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1 that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. 
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived inputs).

•	Level 3 fair value measurements are 
those derived from valuation techniques 
that include inputs for the asset or 
liability that are not based on observable 
market data (unobservable inputs).

The directors consider that the financial 
instruments previously disclosed are 
classified as Level 2, and there have been 
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2.

33. share-based payments
33.1 equity-settled share-based benefits
The Company has one share plan and one 
share and option plan available for employees 
and directors and executives of the Company: 
the Domino’s Pizza Exempt Employee Share 
Plan (“Plan”) and the Domino’s Pizza Executive 
Share and Option Plan (“ESOP”). Both plans 
were approved by a resolution of the Board of 
Directors on 11 April 2005. Fully paid ordinary 
shares issued under these plans rank equally 
with all other existing fully paid ordinary 
shares, in respect of voting and dividend 
rights and future bonus and rights issues.

33.2 executive share and option plan
The Company established the ESOP to 
assist in the recruitment, reward, retention 
and motivation of directors and executives 
of the Company (“the participants”).

In accordance with the provisions of the 
scheme, executives within the Company, to be 
determined by the Board, are granted options to 
purchase parcels of shares at various exercise 
prices. Each option confers an entitlement 
to subscribe for and be issued one share, 
credited as fully paid, at the exercise price.

Options issued under the ESOP may not be 
transferred unless the Board determines 
otherwise. The Company has no obligation 
to apply for quotation of the options on the 
ASx. However, the Company must apply 
to the ASx for official quotation of shares 
issued on the exercise of the options.

The Company must not issue any shares or 
grant any option under this plan if, immediately 
after the issue or grant, the sum of the 
total number of unissued shares over which 
options, rights or other options (which remain 
outstanding) have been granted under this 
plan and any other group employee incentive 
scheme would exceed 7.5% of the total number 
of shares on issue on a Fully Diluted Basis 
at the time of the proposed issue or grant.

Fully Diluted Basis means the number of 
shares which would be on issue if all those 
securities of the Company which are capable 
of being converted into shares, were converted 
into shares. If the number of shares into 
which the  securities are capable of being 
converted cannot be calculated at the relevant 
time, those shares will be disregarded.

The Company amended the ESOP Rules to 
allow favourable French income tax and social 
tax treatment to apply to income arising from 
the exercise of options and sale of underlying 
shares by personnel based in France. The 
amendments take effect through a specific 
French Addendum to the ESOP Rules which 
was formally adopted by the Board on 18 July 
2007. In accordance with the ESOP Rules, the 
Company obtained the consent of 75% of the 
option-holders affected by the amendment.

The French Addendum is applicable to all current 
and future options held by employees based in 
France, imposing a minimum holding period of 
at least one year from grant date before options 
may be exercised, subject to exercise conditions. 
In addition, a sale restriction to a maximum of 3 
years is imposed thereby effectively restricting 
the ability to sell the underlying shares issued 
on exercise of options until at least the fourth 
anniversary of the grant date of the options.
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33.3 Fair value of share options granted in the year
The weighted average fair value of the options granted during the 2011 year is nil (2010: nil). Options were priced using a binominal option pricing model. 
Where relevant, the expected life used in the model has been adjusted based on management’s best estimate for the effects of non-transferability, 
exercise restrictions and behavioural conditions. Expected volatility is based on the historical share price volatility since listing on 16 May 2005. 

Inputs into the model

option series

series 
6

series 
7

series 
8

series 
9

series
10

series
11

grant date share price $3.74 $3.09 $3.09 $3.09 $3.08 $3.08

Exercise price $3.88 $3.88 $3.88 $3.88 $3.50 $3.50

Expected volatility 28% 26.75% 26.75% 26.75% 26.83% 34.04%

Option life years (i) 4.94 1.03 4.03 3.98 2.82 2.34

Dividend yield 3.50% 2.90% 2.90% 2.90% 3.50% 3.54%

Risk-free interest rate 5.70% 6.16% 6.04% 6.04% 5.56% 3.07%

(i) This is based on a normal 365-day year. 

33.4 movements in shares options during the period
The following reconciles the outstanding share options granted under the ESOP and Excluded Shares at the beginning and end of the year:

2011 2010

numBer oF  
options

WeiGhted  
averaGe exercise 

price
$

numBer oF  
options

WeiGhted  
averaGe exercise 

price
$

Balance at beginning of the year 3,087,500  3.07 3,366,167  3.16 

granted during the financial year  -   -    -   -   

Forfeited during the financial year (423,000)  -    -   -   

Exercised during the financial year (127,500)  2.20 (278,667)  2.98 

Expired during the financial year  -   -    -   -   

Balance at end of the year 2,537,000  3.62 3,087,500  3.07 

Exercisable at end of the year  -   -   127,500  2.20

33.5 share options exercised during the year
The following share options granted under the ESOP were exercised during the year:

2011
option series numBer exercised exercise date

share price at  
exercise date

$

(5) 5,000 23 August 2010 5.49 

(5) 112,500 30 August 2010 5.40 

(5) 10,000 30 August 2010 5.40 

2010 
option series numBer exercised exercise date

share price at 
exercise date

$

(5) 6,667 24 August 2009          4.00 

(5) 35,000 26 August 2009          4.09 

(5) 40,000 9 November 2009          4.51 

(7) 30,000 9 November 2009          4.51 

(5) 12,000 11 November 2009          4.45 

(7) 30,000 11 November 2009          4.45 

(7) 30,000 18 February 2010          5.12 

(5) 50,000 25 February 2010          5.15 

(7) 10,000 25 February 2010          5.15 

(5) 5,000 4 March 2010          5.44 

(7) 30,000 4 March 2010          5.44 
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33.6 share options outstanding at end of the year

2011
The share options outstanding at the end of the year consist of: 
•	210,000 options with an exercise price of $3.88, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.16 years;
•	475,000 options with an exercise price of $3.88, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.16 years; 
•	130,000 options with an exercise price of $3.88, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.16 years;
•	500,000 options with an exercise price of $3.50, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.16 years; and
•	1,222,000 options with an exercise price of $3.50, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.16 years.

2010
The share options outstanding at the end of the year consist of: 
•	127,500 options with an exercise price of $2.20, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.16 years; 
•	210,000 options with an exercise price of $3.88, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.16 years;
•	595,000 options with an exercise price of $3.88, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.16 years; 
•	155,000 options with an exercise price of $3.88, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.16 years;
•	500,000 options with an exercise price of $3.50, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 4.16 years; and
•	1,500,000 options with an exercise price of $3.50, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 4.16 years.

34. Key management personnel compensation
The aggregate compensation made to key management personnel of the Consolidated entity and Company, is set out below:

2011
$

2010
$

Short-term employee benefits 4,163,049 4,236,464 

Post-employment benefits 161,215 160,169 

Other long-term employee benefits 34,776 39,924 

Termination benefits 86,174  -  

Equity settled share-based payments 215,724 304,032 

4,660,938 4,740,589

The compensation of each member of the key management personnel of the Consolidated entity is set out on the following page.

The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of individuals and  
market trends.

The compensation of each member of the key management personnel of the Consolidated entity for the current year is set out below:

2011

short-term employee BeneFits

post- 
employ-

ment 
BeneFits other 

lonG-term 
employee 
BeneFits 

$

termi-
nation 

BeneFits 
$

share-
Based 

payment

total 
$

% oF 
compensa-

tion For 
the year 

consistinG 
oF options      

%

salary & 
Fees (ii) 

$
Bonus 

$

non- 
monetary 

$

superan-
nuation 

$

options & 
riGhts 

$

non-executive directors
Ross Adler 117,500  - 3,306 10,575  -  -  - 131,381  -  

Barry Alty 77,500  - 3,306 6,975  -  -  - 87,781  -  

grant Bourke 67,500  - 3,306 6,075  -  -  - 76,881  -  

Paul Cave 67,500  - 3,306 6,075  -  -  - 76,881  -  

executive director
Don Meij 571,822 200,000 3,306 15,285 21,422  - 44,657 856,492 5.21%

executive oFFicers
Richard Coney 252,462 96,000 37,744 15,233 5,013  - 43,723 450,175 9.71%

Andy Masood (iii) 52,803  - 3,498 4,107 8,293 33,161 7,442 109,304 6.81%

Andrew Megson (i) 270,123  - 94,334  -  -  - 35,118 399,575 8.79%

Andrew Rennie (i) 359,568 153,125 15,893 15,779  -  - 45,034 589,399 7.64%

Melanie gigon (iv) 205,954 2,204 4,254  -  -  - 12,770 225,182 5.67%

Kerri Hayman (v) 36,245  - 276 3,428 48 53,013 (14,509) 78,501 (18.48%)

Craig Ryan 175,548 37,059 3,306 15,209  -  - 7,442 238,564 3.12%

Allan Collins 296,269 105,000 3,306 15,805  -  - 11,163 431,543 2.59%

John Harney 172,743 65,585 3,306 15,209  -  - 7,442 264,285 2.82%

Chris O’Dwyer 189,108 60,000 3,306 14,821  -  - 15,442 282,677 5.46%

Patrick McMichael 142,129 190,000 13,549 16,639  -  -  - 362,317  -  

3,054,774 908,973 199,302 161,215 34,776 86,174 215,724 4,660,938 4.63%

(i) The short-term bonus and long-term bonus and the options are dependent on satisfaction of performance conditions. 
(ii)  Salary & fees 2011 are for 52 weeks. 
(iii)  Andy Masood resigned 15 October 2010. 
(iv)  Melanie gigon became a member of key management personnel on 2 August 2010. 
(v)  Kerri Hayman resigned 31 July 2010.
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The compensation of each member of the key management personnel of the Consolidated entity for the prior year is set out below:

2010

short-term employee BeneFits

post- 
employ-

ment 
BeneFits other 

lonG-term 
employee 
BeneFits 

$

termi-
nation 

BeneFits 
$

share-
Based 

payment

total 
$

% oF 
compensa-

tion For 
the year 

consistinG 
oF options      

%

salary & 
Fees (ii) 

$
Bonus 

$

non- 
monetary 

$

superan-
nuation 

$

options & 
riGhts 

$

non-executive directors

Ross Adler 119,760  - 2,560 10,575  -  -  - 132,895  -  

Barry Alty 78,990  - 2,560 6,958  -  -  - 88,508  -  

grant Bourke 68,798  - 2,560 6,075  -  -  - 77,433  -  

Paul Cave 68,798  - 2,560 6,075  -  -  - 77,433  -  

executive director

Don Meij 529,521 250,000 2,560 14,461 20,459  - 116,629 933,630 12.49%

executive oFFicers

Richard Coney 243,281 87,317 24,142 14,461 7,785  - 44,563 421,549 10.57%

Andy Masood 186,218 29,484 27,275 14,461 5,662  - 7,585 270,685 2.80%

Andrew Megson (i) 297,497  - 110,184  -  -  - 35,793 443,474 8.07%

Andrew Rennie (i) 355,737 34,629 147,962  -  -  - 45,900 584,228 7.86%

Kerri Hayman 237,462 25,500 2,560 14,461 6,018  - 11,275 297,276 3.79%

Craig Ryan 175,592 51,224 2,560 14,461  -  - 7,585 251,422 3.02%

Allan Collins 275,398 24,369 2,560 14,461  -  - 11,378 328,166 3.47%

John Harney 172,049 44,828 2,560 14,461  -  - 7,585 241,483 3.14%

Chris O’Dwyer 175,515 42,000 2,560 14,461  -  - 15,739 250,275 6.29%

Steve Klaassen 7,324  - 337  -  -  - 7,661  -  

Patrick McMichael 152,450 165,000 2,560 14,461  -  -  - 334,471  -  

3,144,390 754,351 337,723 160,169 39,924  - 304,032 4,740,589 6.41%

(i) The short-term bonus and long-term bonus and the options are dependent on satisfaction of performance conditions.

(ii) Salary & fees 2010 are for 53 weeks.

35. Related party transactions
35.1 other related party transactions

35.1.1 Equity interests in related parties

(i) Equity interest in subsidiaries
Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in subsidiaries are disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.

(ii) Equity interests in other related parties
There are no equity interests in other related parties.

35.1.2 Transactions with key management personnel 

(i) Key management personnel compensation
Details of key management personnel compensation are disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements.

(ii) Loans to key management personnel 
There were no loans outstanding at any time during the financial year to key management personnel or to their related parties. 

(iii) Key management personnel equity holdings

Fully paid ordinary shares of Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited

Balance at 
BeGinninG oF  

Financial 
year
no.

Granted as  
compensation 

no.

received on 
exercise oF 

options
no.

net other 
chanGe

no.

Balance at 
the end oF 
Financial 

year
no.

Balance 
held  

nominally
no.

2011

Ross Adler (i) 302,221  -   -   -  302,221  -  

Barry Alty (i) 104,443  -   -   -  104,443  -  

grant Bourke (i) 1,547,032  -   -   -  1,547,032  -  

Paul Cave (i) 382,000  -   -   -  382,000  -  

Don Meij (i) (ii) 3,016,802  -   -  (500,000) 2,516,802  -  

Richard Coney (i)(iii) 2,719  -   -  (2,000) 719  -  

Allan Collins  -   -   -   -   -   -  

John Harney  -   -   -   -   -   -  

Kerri Hayman (i)(iii)(iv) 20,754  -   -   -  20,754  -  

Melanie gigon (vii)  -   -   -   -   -   -  

Andy Masood (v) 729  -   -   -  729  -  

Andrew Megson (i) 113,079  -   -   -  113,079  -  

Chris O’Dwyer  -   -   -   -   -   -  

Andrew Rennie (i) (vi) 607,713  -  112,500 (312,500) 407,713  -  

Craig Ryan  -   -   -   -   -   -  

Patrick McMichael 13,635  -   -  13,635  -  

2010

Ross Adler (i) 288,836  -   -  13,385 302,221  -  

Barry Alty (i) 104,443  -   -   -  104,443  -  

grant Bourke (i) 1,747,032  -   -  (200,000) 1,547,032  -  

Paul Cave (i) 382,000  -   -   -  382,000  -  

Don Meij (i) 3,386,880  -   -  (370,078) 3,016,802  -  

Richard Coney (i) 2,719  -  35,000 (35,000) 2,719  -  

Allan Collins  -   -  30,000 (30,000)  -   -  

John Harney  -   -  30,000 (30,000)  -   -  

Kerri Hayman (i) 20,754  -  17,000 (17,000) 20,754  -  

Andy Masood (v) 7,229  -   -  (6,500) 729  -  

Andrew Megson (i) 87,079  -  50,000 (24,000) 113,079  -  

Chris O’Dwyer  -   -   -   -   -   -  

Andrew Rennie (i) 1,538,305  -   -  (930,592) 607,713  -  

Craig Ryan  -   -  30,000 (30,000)  -   -  

Patrick McMichael 13,635  -   -  13,635  -

(i) Includes shares held by their related parties.

(ii) On 17 February 2011, Don Meij sold 300,000 shares.  On 25 February 2011, he sold 200,000 shares.  

(iii) During the year, a related party of Richard Coney sold 2,000 shares.

(iv) Kerri Hayman resigned on 31 July 2010.  Closing balance above represents balance at termination date.

(v) Andy Masood resigned on 15 October 2010.  Closing balance above represents balance at termination date.

(vi) On 30 August 2010, Andrew Rennie acquired 112,500 shares on exercise of options and on the same day sold 312,500 shares.

(vii) Melanie gigon became a member of key management personnel on 2 August 2010.  Opening balance represents balance on this date.
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Executive share options of Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited

Balance 
at BeGin-
ninG oF 

Financial 
year
no.

Granted 
as 

compen-
sation

no.
exercised

no.

net other 
chanGe

no.

Balance 
at the 
end oF 

Financial 
year
no.

Balance 
vested 
at the 
end oF 

Financial 
year
no.

vested 
But not 

exercise-
aBle
no.

vested 
and 

exercise-
aBle 
no.

options 
vested 
durinG 
year
no.

2011

Don Meij 710,000  -   -   -  710,000  -   -   -   -  

Richard Coney 235,000  -   -   -  235,000  -   -   -   -  

Kerri Hayman (i) 149,000  -   -  (120,000) 29,000 5,000  -  5,000  -  

Andy Masood (ii) 40,000  -   -   -  40,000  -   -   -   -  

Andrew Megson 305,000  -   -   -  305,000  -   -   -   -  

Andrew Rennie (iii) 502,500  -  (112,500)  -  390,000  -   -   -   -  

Melanie gigon (iv) 25,000  -   -   -  25,000  -   -   -   -  

Allan Collins 60,000  -   -   -  60,000  -   -   -   -  

John Harney 40,000  -   -   -  40,000  -   -   -   -  

Craig Ryan 40,000  -   -   -  40,000  -   -   -   -  

Chris O’Dwyer 83,000  -   -   -  83,000  -   -   -   -  

Patrick McMichael  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -  

2010

Don Meij 710,000  -   -   -  710,000  -   -   -   -  

Richard Coney 270,000  -  (35,000)  -  235,000  -   -   -   -  

Kerri Hayman 166,000  -  (17,000)  -  149,000 5,000  -  5,000  -  

Andy Masood 40,000  -   -   -  40,000  -   -   -   -  

Andrew Megson 355,000  -  (50,000)  -  305,000  -   -   -   -  

Andrew Rennie 502,500  -   -   -  502,500 112,500  -  112,500  -  

Allan Collins 90,000  -  (30,000)  -  60,000  -   -   -   -  

John Harney 70,000  -  (30,000)  -  40,000  -   -   -   -  

Craig Ryan 70,000  -  (30,000)  -  40,000  -   -   -   -  

Chris O’Dwyer 83,000  -   -   -  83,000  -   -   -   -  

Patrick McMichael  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -

(i)  Kerri Hayman resigned on 31 July 2010. 120,000 series 8 options lapsed on resignation while 24,000 series 11 options were retained in addition to 5,000 that were vested and 
exercisable.  Balance above represents balance at termination date.

(ii) Andy Masood resigned on 15 October 2010. 40,000 series 11 options were retained on his resignation.  Closing balance above represents balance at termination date.
(iii) On 30 August 2010, Andrew Rennie acquired 112,500 shares on exercise of options.
(iv) Melanie gigon became a member of key management personnel on 2 August 2010.  Opening balance represents balance on this date.

There were no executive share options issued in 
the 2010 or 2011 financial years. All executive 
share options issued to the directors and key 
management personnel during the 2005, 2007, 
2008 and 2009 financial years were made in 
accordance with the provisions of the ESOP. 
Each share option converts on exercise to one 
ordinary share of Domino’s Pizza Enterprises 
Limited. No amounts are paid or payable by 
the recipient on receipt of the option. The issue 
price of each option granted in December 
2006, August 2007 and September 2007 is 
$3.88. The issue price of each option granted 
in December 2008, and April 2009 is $3.50.

On 18 July 2007, the Company amended 
the ESOP Rules by adopting a French 
Addendum. Refer to note 33 Share-
based payments for further details.

Further details of the ESOP are contained 
in note 33 to the financial statements. 

(iv)  Other transactions with directors of the 
Consolidated entity

During the financial year, directors and their 
related parties purchased goods, which 
were domestic or trivial in nature, from the 
Company on the same terms and conditions 
available to employees and customers.

(v)  Transactions with key management 
personnel of Domino’s Pizza  
Enterprises Limited

During the financial year, key management 
personnel and their related parties 
purchased goods, which were domestic 
or trivial in nature, from the Company on 
the same terms and conditions available 
to employees and customers.

(vi) Transactions with other related parties
Other related parties include:
•	associates;
•	directors of related parties and their 

director-related entities; and
•	other related parties.

Where applicable, details of dividend and 
interest revenue from other related parties are 
disclosed in note 7 to the financial statements.

(vii)  Transactions within the  
wholly-owned Group

The wholly-owned group includes:
•	 the ultimate parent entity in the 

wholly-owned group;
•	wholly-owned controlled entities; and
•	other entities in the wholly-owned group.

The wholly-owned Australian entities within 
the group are taxed as a single entity 
effective from 1 July 2003. The entities in 
the tax-consolidated group have not entered 
into a tax sharing agreement or tax funding 
agreement. Income tax liabilities payable 
to the taxation authorities in respect of the 
tax-consolidated group are recognised in 
the financial statements of the parent entity. 
Refer to note 17 to the financial statements 
for members of the tax-consolidated group.

The Company provided accounting, 
marketing, legal and administration services 
to entities in the wholly-owned group 
during the financial year. The Company 
also paid costs on behalf of entities in the 
wholly-owned group and subsequently 
on-charged these amounts to them.

During the financial year, Domino’s Pizza  
New Zealand Limited provided management  
and franchisee services to the Company. 
Domino’s Pizza New Zealand Limited also 
collected debtor receipts on behalf  
of the Company.

During the financial year, services 
were provided by:
•	Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited 

to Domino’s Pizza France S.A.S. and 
Domino’s Pizza Netherlands B.v.; 

•	DPEu Holdings S.A.S. to Domino’s 
Pizza France S.A.S.;

•	Domino’s Pizza Belgium S.P.R.L. to 
Domino’s Pizza France S.A.S.; and 

•	Domino’s Pizza Netherlands B.v. to 
Domino’s Pizza France S.A.S.

in accordance with the Service Agreements and 
accordingly arm’s length fees were charged.

In the current financial year, current combined 
target returns were achieved by Domino’s 
Pizza France S.A.S. and Domino’s Pizza 
Netherlands B.v.. Accordingly, Domino’s Pizza 
Enterprises Limited charged a DPI royalty. 

Other transactions that occurred during 
the financial year between entities in 
the wholly-owned group were:
•	advancement of loans;
•	sale of plant & equipment;
•	 royalty fees;
•	administration recharges;
•	 interest charges; and
•	withholding tax payments.

(viii) Parent entities
The parent entity and the ultimate parent 
entity in the Consolidated entity is 
Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited.

notes to the Financial Statements continued
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36. Acquisition of businesses

name oF Businesses acQuired
principal  
activity

date oF  
acQuisition

proportion 
oF share 
acQuired

 (%)

cost oF 
acQuisition 

in 2011
$’000

cost oF 
acQuisition 

in 2010
$’000

acquisition of stores

During the year:  Significant acquisitions 
Australia and New Zealand

2011

3 stores Pizza stores September 2010 100%  785 

1 store Pizza store October 2010 100%  436 

2 stores Pizza stores December 2010 100%  310 

2 stores Pizza stores January 2011 100%  773 

3 stores Pizza stores January 2011 100%  1,008 

2 stores Pizza stores March 2011 100%  827 

1 store Pizza store May 2011 100%  430 

2 stores Pizza stores June 2011 100%  435 

2010

4 stores Pizza stores November 2009 100%  1,067 

3 stores Pizza stores November 2009 100%  1,144 

2 stores Pizza stores December 2009 100%  1,162 

During the year:  Significant acquisitions Europe

2011

1 store Pizza store August 2010 100%  301 

1 store Pizza store September 2010 100%  166 

1 store Pizza store November 2010 100%  259 

3 stores Pizza stores January 2011 100%  276 

2010

1 store Pizza store September 2009 100%  133 

1 store Pizza store April 2010 100%  913 

2 stores Pizza stores May 2010 100%  870 

1 store Pizza store June 2010 100%  300 

other acquisitions

During the year:

2011

8 stores in aggregate Pizza stores July 2010 to June 2011  1,485 

Eximus S.A.R.L. Pizza Company August 2010 100%  - 

Bacalan S.A.R.L. Pizza Company August 2010 100%  - 

2010

13 stores in aggregate Pizza stores July 2009 to June 2010 100%  2,614 

Pizza Company - Belgium Pizza business January 2010 100%  1,045 

total store acquisitions during full year ended  7,491  9,248

goodwill arising on acquisitions in Europe is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

notes to the Financial Statements continued

The cost of acquisitions comprise cash for all of the acquisitions. In each acquisition, the Consolidated entity has paid a premium for the acquiree as it 
believes the acquisitions will introduce additional synergies to its existing operations.

Acquisition of stores

BooK value Fair value adJustment Fair value on acQuisition

net assets acQuired
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 58  7 (14)  - 44  7 

Inventories 80  65 (6) 74  65 

Other current assets  7  -  -  -  7  - 

145  72 (20)  - 125  72 

non-current assets

Plant & equipment  3,141  3,333  -  -  3,141  3,333 

Other intangible assets  -  562  483  -  483  562 

 3,141  3,895  483  -  3,624  3,895 

current liabilities

Trade and other payables (916)  -  -  - (916)  - 

Other current liabilities (142)  -  -  - (142)  - 

(1,058)  -  -  - (1,058)  - 

non-current liabilities

Borrowings (349)  -  -  - (349)  - 

(349)  -  -  - (349)  - 

net assets 1,879  3,967 463  - 2,342  3,967 

goodwill on acquisition  5,149  5,281 

7,491  9,248

goodwill arose in the business combination as the consideration paid included a premium. In addition, the consideration paid for the stores effectively 
included amounts in relation to benefits from expected synergies, revenue growth and future market development. These benefits are not recognised 
separately from goodwill as the future economic benefits arising from them cannot be reliably measured.

37. cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash 
and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period as shown in the statement of cash flows can be reconciled to the related items in the statement of 
financial position as follows:

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 28,085 16,241

28,085 16,241
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notes to the Financial Statements continued

37.1 reconciliation of profit for the period to net cash flows from operating activities 

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Profit for the year 21,435 17,814 

(gain)/loss on sale or disposal of non-current assets (1,160) (2,112)

Equity settled share-based payments 222 444 

Depreciation and amortisation 8,698 8,004 

Other (92) 180 

29,103 24,330 

Movement in working capital:

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Trade and other receivables 1,098 (828)

Inventories (774) (286)

Other current assets (89) (1,986)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Trade and other payables 4,843 1,430 

Provisions (69) 356 

Increase/(decrease) in tax liability 146 1,479 

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax balances 1,779 (743)

net cash generated from operating activities 36,037 23,752

37.2 Businesses acquired

Acquisition of stores
During the financial year, 32 businesses were acquired in Australia, New Zealand and Europe (2010: 28 businesses). For details of other acquisitions made 
see note 36 to the financial statements.

The net cash outflow on acquisition in the financial statements was $7,447 thousand (2010: $9,176 thousand).

37.3 non-cash financing and investing activities
During the current financial year, the Consolidated entity acquired $144 thousand (2010: $11 thousand) of equipment under a finance 
lease. This acquisition will be reflected in the cash flow statement over the term of the finance lease via lease repayments. 

38. operating lease arrangements
38.1 leasing arrangements
Operating leases relate to both property leases with lease terms of between five and ten years, the majority of which have an option to renew for a further 
five-year period, and motor vehicles with lease terms of three years. All store related operating lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event 
that the Consolidated entity exercises its options to renew. The Consolidated entity does not have an option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of 
the lease period.

38.1.1 Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Not longer than 1 year 13,269 12,235 

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 28,978 24,963 

Longer than 5 years 5,523 5,319 

47,770 42,517 

In respect of non-cancellable operating leases the following liabilities have been recognised:

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

current 

Make good (note 25) 25 25 

non-current 

Straight line leasing (note 25) 171 299 

196 324

39. commitments for expenditure
39.1 capital expenditure commitments
There were no capital expenditure commitments made by the Consolidated entity (2010: nil) during the financial year.

39.2 lease commitments
Finance lease liabilities and non-cancellable operating lease commitments are disclosed in note 27 and 38 to the financial statements.

40. contingent liabilities and contingent assets
40.1 contingent liabilities

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Guarantees

guarantees are provided to third party financial institutions in relation to franchisee loans.  The amount 
disclosed as a contingent liability represents the amounts guaranteed in respect of franchisees that would 
not, without the guarantee, have been granted the loans.  The directors believe that if the guarantees are 
ever called on, the Company will be able to recover the amounts paid upon disposal of the stores. 18,258 20,881
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41. Remuneration of auditors

2011
$

2010
$

41.1 auditor of the parent entity

Audit or review of the consolidated financial statements 203,000 190,000 

Taxation services  -  10,342 

203,000 200,342 

41.2 other audits

Audit or review of the financial statements:

- France 88,447 100,965 

- The Netherlands 62,078 63,846 

Taxation services 12,678 22,269 

163,203 187,080

The auditor of Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

42. events after the reporting period
On 9 August 2011, the directors declared a final dividend for the financial year ended 3 July 2011 as set out in note 31. 

Other than the matters discussed above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, 
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the 
Consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Consolidated entity, in future financial years. 

43. parent entity information
43.1 Financial position

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

assets

Current assets 28,825 21,516 

Non-current assets 109,015 103,522 

total assets 137,840 125,038 

liabilities

Current liabilities 37,281 16,631 

Non-current liabilities 3,121 15,386 

total liabilities 40,402 32,017 

equity

Issued capital 64,523 64,243 

Retained earnings 31,433 27,844 

reserves

Equity-settled share-based benefits 1,578 1,356 

Hedging (96) (422)

total equity 97,438 93,021 

43.2 Financial performance

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Profit for the year 19,516 15,775 

Other comprehensive income 326 623 

total comprehensive income 19,842 16,398

43.3 contingent liabilities of the parent entity

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

guarantees are provided to third party financial institutions in relation to franchisee loans.  The amount 
disclosed as a contingent liability represents the amounts guaranteed in respect of franchisees that would 
not, without the guarantee, have been granted the loans.  The directors believe that if the guarantees are 
ever called on, the Company will be able to recover the amounts paid upon disposal of the stores. 14,469 17,748

44. Approval of financial statements
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 9 August 2011.
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number of holders of equity securities
ordinary share capital
•	68,407,674 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 1,536 individual shareholders.
•	All issued ordinary shares carry one vote per share, however partly paid shares do not carry the rights to dividends.

options
•	2,537,000 options are held by 17 individual option holders.
•	Options do not carry a right to vote.

distribution of holders of equity securities

Fully paid 
ordinary 
shares

partly paid 
ordinary 
shares

convertinG 
cumulative 
preFerence 

shares

redeemaBle 
preFerence 

shares

convertinG 
non- 

participat-
inG  

preFerence 
shares

convertiBle 
notes options

100,001 and over 26  -   -   -   -   -  6 

10,001 – 100,000 84  -   -   -   -   -  11 

5,001 – 10,000 100  -   -   -   -   -   -  

1,001 – 5,000 597  -   -   -   -   -   -  

1 – 1,000 729  -   -   -   -   -   -  

1,536  -   -   -   -   -  17 

Holding less than a marketable parcel 103  -   -   -   -   -   - 

substantial shareholders

ordinary shareholders

Fully paid partly paid

numBer percentaGe numBer percentaGe

Somad Holdings Pty Ltd 16,683,217 24.39%  -   -  

FMR Corp and Fil 9,506,413 13.90%  -   -  

Advanced Asset Management Limited, BT Funds Management No.2 Limited 
and BT Investment Management (RE) Limited, associated companies 
by virtue of being subsidiaries of Westpac Banking Corporation 5,017,302 7.33%  -   -  

Acorn Capital Limited 4,316,944 6.31%  -   -  

Capital group Companies Inc. 4,002,300 5.85%  -   -  

39,526,176 57.78%  -   -

Additional stock exchange information 
as at 1 august 2011

twenty largest holders of quoted equity securities

ordinary shareholders

Fully paid partly paid

numBer percentaGe numBer percentaGe

Somad Holdings Pty Ltd 18,505,495 27.05%  -   -  

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 15,031,698 21.97%  -   -  

National Nominees Limited 7,995,940 11.69%  -   -  

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 7,454,349 10.90%  -   -  

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 3,880,678 5.67%  -   -  

Mr Donald Jeffrey Meij & Mrs Esme Francesca Meij 1,837,061 2.69%  -   -  

Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 1,824,688 2.67%  -   -  

uBS Nominees Pty Ltd 1,182,657 1.73%  -   -  

Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 1,025,681 1.50%  -   -  

Mr grant Bryce Bourke 697,001 1.02%  -   -  

Mr grant Bryce Bourke & Mrs Sandra Eileen Bourke 660,031 0.96%  -   -  

Pizza People Enterprises Pty Ltd 472,939 0.69%  -   -  

Somad Holdings Pty Ltd 429,227 0.63%  -   -  

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 410,726 0.60%  -   -  

Clyde Bank Holdings (Aust) Pty Ltd 332,000 0.49%  -   -  

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 252,954 0.37%  -   -  

Ross Adler Super Fund A/C 227,172 0.33%  -   -  

Success Pizzas Pty Ltd 202,264 0.30%  -   -  

Success Pizzas Pty Ltd 200,000 0.29%  -   -  

Mr grant Bryce Bourke 190,000 0.28%  -   -  

Mr Donald Jeffrey Meij 190,000 0.28%  -   -  

63,002,561 92.10%  -   -
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asic means the Australian Securities 
& Investments Commission.

asx means Australian Securities Exchange 
Limited (ABN 98 008 624 691).

australian store network means 
the network of Corporate Stores and 
Franchised Stores located in Australia.

Board or Board of directors or directors 
means the Board of Directors of the Company.

caGr means Compound Annual growth Rate.

capital reduction means the selective 
reduction of capital described in 
Section 11.4 of the prospectus.

company means Domino’s Pizza 
Enterprises Limited (ACN 010 489 326).

corporate store means a Domino’s Pizza 
store owned and operated by the Company.

corporate store network means 
the network of Corporate Stores.

corporations act means the 
Corporations Act 2001 (Clth).

directors means the directors of the 
Company from time to time.

director and executive share and option plan 
or esop means the Domino’s Pizza Director and 
Executive Share and Option Plan summarised 
in note 33 to the financial statements.

domino’s means the Domino’s Pizza brand 
and network, owned by Domino’s Pizza, Inc.

domino’s pizza means the Company 
and each of its subsidiaries.

domino’s pizza stores means Corporate 
Stores and Franchised Stores.

dpe limited means Domino’s Pizza 
Enterprises Limited (ACN 010 489 326).

earnings per share or eps means NPAT 
divided by the total number of Shares on issue.

eBit means earnings before 
interest expense and tax. 

eBita means earnings before interest 
expense, tax and amortisation.

eBitda means earnings before interest 
expense, tax, depreciation and amortisation.

existing store sales Growth means 
sales growth of stores that have been 
trading for 54 weeks or more.

european same store sales Growth 
means comparable growth in sales 
across those European stores that were 
in operation at least 12 months prior 
to the date of the reported period.

Franchised store means a pizza store 
owned and operated by a Franchisee 
and Franchise Network means the 
network of Franchised Stores.

Franchisees means persons and entities 
who hold a franchise from the Company 
to operate a pizza store under the terms 
of a sub-franchise agreement.

listing rules means the 
Listing Rules of the ASx.

network or domino’s pizza network or 
network stores means the network of 
Corporate Stores and Franchised Stores.

network sales means the total sales 
generated by the Network.

new zealand network means the network 
of Corporate Stores and Franchised 
Stores located in New Zealand.

npat means net profit after tax.

related Bodies corporate has the meaning 
given to it by section 50 of the Corporations Act.

registry means Link Market Services Pty Limited.

same store sales Growth means comparable 
growth in sales across those stores that 
were in operation at least 12 months prior 
to the date of the reported period.

share means any fully paid ordinary 
share in the capital of the Company.

directors
ross adler 
non-executive chairman
Ross has held numerous Directorships including 
Non-Executive Director of the Commonwealth 
Bank of Australia from 1991 to 2004 and 
Director of Telstra from 1995 to 2001. His other 
appointments include Chief Executive Officer 
of Santos Limited from 1984 to 2000 and 
Chairman of AuSTRADE from 2001 to 2006. 
Ross is currently Executive Chairman of Amtrade 
International Pty Ltd and holds a Bachelor 
of Commerce from Melbourne university as 
well as an MBA from Columbia university. 

Barry alty 
non-executive director 
Barry has over 45 years’ experience in the 
retail industry. He has worked with a number 
of leading retailers including Woolworths and 
Foodland. His senior management roles include 
Managing Director for Foodland in 1994 and 
general Manager for Queensland Independent 
Wholesalers in 1987. Barry has also held 
various other industry consulting appointments 
in Queensland and Papua New guinea.

Grant Bourke 
non-executive director 
grant joined Domino’s Pizza in 1993 as a 
franchisee and in 2001 sold his eight stores 
to Domino’s Pizza. In 2001, grant became a 
Director for Domino’s Pizza and from 2001 to 
2004 he managed the Company’s Corporate 
Store Operations. In July 2006, grant was 
appointed Managing Director, Europe. grant has 
been a Non-Executive Director since September 
2007. grant holds a Bachelor of Science (Food 
Technology) from the university of NSW and 
an MBA from The university of Newcastle. 

paul cave 
non-executive director 
Paul is the Chairman and Founder of 
BridgeClimb, which he started in 1998. Paul 
and the BridgeClimb business have been 
highly recognised by the tourism and business 
community in Australia. Made a Member of 
the Order of Australia, in the Queen’s Birthday 
Honours 2010, for his services to the tourism 
industry. Awarded the National Entrepreneur 
of the year (Business Award) in 2001, and the 
Australian Export Heroes Award in 2002-03. 
Worked in marketing and general management 
roles for B&D Roll-A-Door and also founded 
the Amber group in 1974, which he sold in 
1996. Director of Chris O’Brien Lifehouse 
at RPA, and founding Director of InterRisk 
Australia Pty Ltd. Paul holds a Bachelor of 
Commerce from the university of NSW.

don meij 
chief executive officer / managing director
Don started as a delivery driver in 1987 and 
held various management positions with Silvio’s 
Dial-a-Pizza and Domino’s Pizza until 1996. 
Don then became a Domino’s Pizza franchisee, 
owning and operating 17 stores before selling 
them to Domino’s Pizza in 2001. At that time, 
Don became Chief Operating Officer and 
Chief Executive Officer / Managing Director 
in 2002. Don was Ernst & young’s Australian 
young Entrepreneur of the year in 2004.

leadership teams
australia and new zealand leadership team 
Don Meij 
group Chief Executive Officer/Managing Director

Richard Coney 
group Chief Financial Officer

Andrew Rennie 
Chief Operating Officer

Chris O’Dwyer 
National Franchise Operations Manager

Allan Collins 
Chief Marketing Officer

Wayne McMahon 
group Chief Information Officer

Craig Ryan 
general Counsel & Company Secretary

John Harney  
general Manager - Supply Chain

Peter Jones 
Corporate Operations Manager

Lynn Carruthers 
group Financial Controller

Pat McMichael 
Chief Development Officer

France/Belgium leadership team
Melanie gigon 
President France  

Rowan Hodge 
Manager Belgium 

Fabrice Faurie 
Marketing Director 

Marion guichou-Trouve 
France Chief Development Officer 

gregory Ousset 
European Purchasing Manager 

the netherlands leadership team
Andrew Megson  
President The Netherlands

Andre Ten Wolde  
Head of Marketing and Development

Richard De gruijter  
Chief Financial Officer Europe Operations

Sander De Heus  
Chief Information Officer Europe

company secretary
mr c.a. ryan BA LLB LLM ACIS

Registered office
domino’s pizza enterprises ltd
ABN 16 010 489 326

8th Floor, TAB Building
240 Sandgate Road
Albion
Brisbane QLD 4010 
Tel: +61 (0) 7 3633 3333

principal administration office 
8th Floor, TAB Building
240 Sandgate Road
Albion
Brisbane QLD 4010 
Tel: +61 (0) 7 3633 3333

Auditors
deloitte touche tohmatsu
Level 25, Riverside Centre 
123 Eagle Street 
Brisbane  QLD 4000

solicitors
thomsons lawyers
Level 16, Waterfront Place
1 Eagle Street
Brisbane QLD 4000

dibbsBarker
Level 23, Central Plaza Two 
66 Eagle Street
Brisbane QLD 4000

share registry
link market services limited
Level 15, 324 Queen Street
Brisbane QLD 4000 
Tel: 1300 554 474 (within Australia) 
Tel: +61 (0) 2 8280 7111 (outside Australia)

stock exchange 
Domino’s Pizza Enterprises Limited shares are  
listed on the Australian Securities Exchange

AsX code
dmp

website Address
dominos.com.au
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